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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., sometimes referred to herein as the “Company,” “we,” “our” or “us,” is a
Maryland corporation incorporated in August 1995 and includes the following subsidiaries: Integrated Real Estate Service
Corporation (IRES), Impac Mortgage Corp. (IMC), IMH Assets Corp. (IMH Assets), Copperfield Capital Corporation
(CCC) and Impac Funding Corporation (IFC). IMC a subsidiary of IRES, conducts our mortgage lending and real estate
services operations.
Forward-Looking Statements
This report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Forward-looking statements, some of
which are based on various assumptions and events that are beyond our control, may be identified by reference to a future
period or periods or by the use of forward-looking terminology, such as “may,” “will,” “believe,” “expect,” “likely,”
“should,” “could,” “seem to,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “intend,” “project,” “assume,” or similar terms or variations on those
terms or the negative of those terms. The forward-looking statements are based on current management expectations.
Actual results may differ materially as a result of many factors, including, but not limited to the following: successful
development, marketing, sale and financing of new and existing financial products; expansion of NonQM loan originations
and conventional and government-insured loan programs; local, national and international economic conditions; including
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the economy and demand for our products; ability to successfully diversify our
loan products; ability to successfully sell loans to third-party investors; volatility in the mortgage industry; unexpected
interest rate fluctuations and margin compression; performance of third-party sub-servicers; our ability to manage
personnel expenses in relation to mortgage production levels; our ability to successfully use warehousing capacity and
satisfy financial convents requirements; increased competition in the mortgage lending industry by larger or more efficient
companies; issues and system risks related to our technology; ability to successfully create cost and product efficiencies
through new technology; more than expected increases in default rates or loss severities and mortgage related losses; ability
to obtain additional financing through lending and repurchase facilities, debt or equity funding, strategic relationships or
otherwise; the terms of any financing, whether debt or equity, that we do obtain and our expected use of proceeds from any
financing; increase in loan repurchase requests and ability to adequately settle repurchase obligations; failure to create
brand awareness; the outcome, including any settlements, of litigation or regulatory actions pending against us or other
legal contingencies; our compliance with applicable local, state and federal laws and regulations; and other general market
and economic conditions.
For a discussion of these and other risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ from those
contained in the forward-looking statements, see Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this report. This document speaks only as of its date and we
do not undertake, and specifically disclaim any obligation, to release publicly the results of any revisions that may be made
to any forward-looking statements to reflect the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events or circumstances after the
date of such statements except as required by law.
Available Information
Our internet website address is www.impaccompanies.com. We make available our annual reports on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and proxy statements for our annual stockholders’ meetings,
as well as any amendments to those reports, free of charge through our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. You can learn
more about us by reviewing our SEC filings on our website by clicking on “Investor Relations” located on our home page
and proceeding to “Financial Information.” We also make available on our website, under “Corporate Governance,”
charters for the audit, compensation, and governance and nominating committees of our board of directors, our Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics, our Corporate Governance Guidelines and other company information, including
amendments to such documents and waivers, if any, to our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. These documents will
also be furnished, free of charge, upon written request to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., Attention: Stockholder Relations,
19500 Jamboree Road, Irvine, California 92612. The SEC also maintains a website at www.sec.gov that contains reports,
proxy statements and other information regarding SEC registrants, including our Company.
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Our Company
We were founded in 1995 and are an established nationwide independent residential mortgage lender which
originates, sells and services residential mortgage loans. We originate non-qualified mortgages (NonQM), conventional
mortgage loans which are intended to be eligible for sale to U.S. government-sponsored enterprises, (GSEs), including the
Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae), the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac)
(conventional loans), and government-insured mortgage loans eligible for government securities issued through the
Government National Mortgage Association (Ginnie Mae or government loans).
We entered 2020 building on the strong momentum gained over the past year repositioning the Company, focusing
on our core NonQM lending business as well as expanding our retail channel to capture additional market in the low
interest rate environment. While the beginning of the first quarter saw substantial growth in GAAP and Core earnings, and
monthly loan volumes, where we were on pace to fund $1.0 billion a month by the end of March 2020, as well as exceed
our fourth quarter 2019 NonQM originations, dynamics quickly shifted as the spread of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19)
accelerated into a global pandemic (pandemic) in mid-March 2020.
As financial markets became dislocated in March 2020, the Company instituted a temporary suspension of all
lending activities. During the second quarter of 2020, we undertook a number of efforts to substantially reduce leverage
and increase liquidity through asset sales and debt repayments. In the second quarter of 2020, we sold approximately
$469.0 million in mortgage loans, repaid approximately $490.0 million of associated warehouse borrowings, extended the
maturity of the $25.0 million in Convertible Promissory Notes (originally due May 8, 2020) an additional six months to
November 9, 2020, completed the sale of $4.2 billion in unpaid principal balance (UPB) of mortgage servicing rights
(MSRs) and repaid the associated $15.0 million outstanding on the MSR borrowing facility in its entirety. Additionally, we
right sized our warehouse borrowing capacity by electing to reduce the maximum borrowing capacity from $1.7 billion to
$550.0 million and electing to reduce the warehouse counterparties from six to three. We believe the temporary suspension
of lending activities during the second quarter of 2020 was prudent and allowed us to successfully deleverage the
consolidated balance sheet and reduce our risk profile, while prioritizing the preservation of liquidity and long-term value
for our capital partners and stakeholders.
As previously reported on July 7, 2020, we received notification from Freddie Mac that our eligibility to sell
whole loans to Freddie Mac was suspended, without cause. As noted in Freddie Mac’s Seller/Servicer Guide, Freddie Mac
may elect, in its sole discretion, to suspend a Seller from eligibility, without cause, thereby restricting the Seller from
obtaining new purchase commitments during the suspension period. As the Company previously disclosed during the first
half of 2018, as a result of elevated prepayment speeds in 2016, the government-sponsored enterprises (GSE’s) sufficiently
limited the manner and volume for the Company’s deliveries of GSE eligible loans. We continue to take steps to manage
our prepayment speeds to be more consistent with our industry peers and to reestablish the full confidence and delivery
mechanisms to our investor base. We seek to satisfy the requirements as outlined by Freddie Mac to achieve reinstatement,
while we continue to satisfy our obligations on a timely basis to our other counterparties, as we have done without
exception. Despite being in a suspended status with Freddie Mac, we remain as an approved originator and/or
seller/servicer with the GSE’s, Agencies and Counterparties for agency, non-agency, and government insured or guaranteed
loan programs.
Segments
Our business activities are organized and presented in three primary operating segments: Mortgage Lending, Real
Estate Services and the Long-Term Mortgage Portfolio. Our mortgage lending segment provides mortgage lending products
through three lending channels, retail, wholesale and correspondent and opportunistically retains mortgage servicing rights.
Our real estate services segment performs master servicing and provides loss mitigation services for primarily our
securitized long-term mortgage portfolio. Our long-term mortgage portfolio consists of residual interests in securitization
trusts. A description of each operating segment is presented below with further details and discussions of each segment’s
results of operations presented in Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Results of Operations.”
In addition to the segments described above, we also have a corporate segment, which supports all of the operating
segments. The corporate segment includes unallocated corporate and other administrative costs as described below.
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Mortgage Lending
We are focused on expanding our mortgage lending platform which provides conventional and governmentinsured mortgage loans as well as providing innovative products to meet the needs of borrowers not met by traditional
conventional and government products. Our mortgage lending operation generates origination and processing fees, net of
origination costs, at the time of origination, interest income during the period from origination to sale of loan, as well as
gains or unexpected losses when the loans are sold to third party investors, including and Ginnie Mae. We opportunistically
retain mortgage servicing rights from the sale of mortgage loans and earn servicing fees, net of sub-servicer costs, from our
mortgage servicing portfolio. From time to time, we sell mortgage servicing rights from our servicing portfolio.
Non-Qualified Mortgage (NonQM) are generally loans that do not meet the qualified mortgage (QM) guidelines
set out by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB). We continue to believe there is an underserved mortgage
market for borrowers with good credit who may not meet the QM guidelines, for example self-employed borrowers. The
third quarter of 2020 saw the re-emergence of the NonQM market including capital markets distribution exits for the
product. In the fourth quarter of 2020, we re-engaged lending in the NonQM market.
The re-emergence of the NonQM market has been defined by products that fit within a much tighter credit box,
which is where our NonQM originations have been historically. We believe the quality, consistency and performance of our
loans has been demonstrated through the previous issuance of four securitizations since 2018. All four securitizations were
100% backed by Impac NonQM collateral with the senior tranches receiving AAA ratings. As the demand by consumers
for the NonQM product grows we expect the investor appetite will continue to increase for the NonQM mortgages. A
NonQM borrower is generally less sensitive to interest rates and generally does not have the same income documentation
that a conforming loan borrower does, nonetheless the borrower is still required to meet the “ability to repay” guidelines.
As a nationwide mortgage lender, our mortgage lending activities primarily consist of the origination, sale and
servicing of conventional loans eligible for sale to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, NonQM and Jumbo mortgages and loans
eligible for government insurance (government loans) by the Federal Housing Administration (FHA), Veterans Affairs
(VA), and United States Department of Agriculture (USDA). We currently originate and fund mortgages through our
wholly-owned subsidiary, IMC, which consist of three channels: Retail (consumer direct), Wholesale and Correspondent.
●
●
●

Retail channel - CashCall Mortgage (CCM), operates as a centralized call center that utilizes a marketing
platform to generate customer leads through the internet and call center loan agents. As a centralized retail call
center, loan applications are received and taken by loan agents directly from consumers and through the Internet.
Wholesale channel - Originates loans sourced through mortgage brokers.
Correspondent channel - Acquires closed loans from approved correspondent sellers.

Our origination volumes decreased 40% in 2020 to $2.7 billion as compared to $4.5 billion in 2019. Of the $2.7
billion in total originations in 2020, approximately $2.5 billion, or 90%, was originated through the retail channel. In
contrast, during 2019, our retail originations contributed 77% to our total origination volume. The overall reduction in
originations was the result of our temporary suspension of lending activities due to the uncertainty caused by the COVID19 pandemic.
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Each of our three origination channels, Retail, Wholesale and Correspondent, produces similar mortgage loan
products and applies similar underwriting standards.
For the year ended December 31,
(in millions)

2020

%

2019

%

Originations by Channel:
Retail

$

Wholesale
Correspondent
$

Total originations

2,477.5

90 %

$

3,505.7

77 %

215.0

8

816.3

18

54.4

2

226.8

5

2,746.9

100 %

$

4,548.8

100 %

Retail—Our call center based retail channel utilizes a high-volume, rapid response time funding model with a
focus on providing exceptional customer service. The centralized retail call center is a compliment to IMC’s business-tobusiness origination channels and provides additional capacity to process increased origination volumes of expanded
products including our NonQM loan programs and government insured Ginnie Mae programs, while profitably generating
servicing assets for IMC.
When retail loans are originated, the origination documentation is completed inclusive of customer disclosures and
other aspects of the lending process and funding of the transaction is completed internally. Our call center representatives
contact borrowers through either inbound or outbound marketing campaigns sourced from our digital marketing campaigns,
TV and radio ads, purchase-money and refinance mortgage leads, including leads sourced from customer referrals and
retention of customers in the servicing portfolio that are seeking to refinance or purchase a property. For the year ended
December 31, 2020, we closed $2.5 billion of loans in this origination channel, which equaled 90% of total originations, as
compared to $3.5 billion or 77% of total originations during 2019.
Wholesale—In a wholesale transaction, our account executives work directly with mortgage brokers who originate
and document loans for delivery to our operational center where we underwrite and fund the mortgage loan. Each loan is
underwritten to our underwriting standards and, if approved, the borrower is sent new disclosures under our name and the
loan is funded in the name of IMC.
Prior to accepting loans from mortgage brokers, each mortgage broker is required to meet our guidelines for
minimum experience, credit score and net worth. We also obtain a third-party due diligence report for each prospective
broker that verifies licensing and provides information on any industry sanctions that might exist. In addition, each
mortgage broker is required to sign our broker agreement that contains certain representations and warranties from the
brokers. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we closed loans totaling $215.0 million in this origination channel, which
equaled 8% of total originations, as compared to $816.3 million, or 18%, of total originations during 2019.
Correspondent—Our correspondent channel represents mortgage loans acquired from our correspondent sellers.
Our correspondent channel has historically targeted a market of small banks, credit unions and small mortgage banking
firms. Prior to accepting loans from correspondent sellers, each seller is underwritten to determine if it meets our financial
and other underwriting guidelines. Our review of each prospective seller includes obtaining a third party due diligence
report that verifies licensing, insurance coverage, quality of recent Federal Housing Administration (FHA) originations and
provides information on any industry sanctions that might exist. In addition, each seller is required to sign our
correspondent seller agreement that contains certain representations and warranties from the seller allowing us to require
the seller to repurchase a loan sold to us for various reasons including (i) ineligibility for sale to GSEs, (ii) early payment
default, (iii) early pay-off or (iv) if the loan is uninsurable by a government agency.
In our correspondent channel, the correspondent seller originates and closes the loan. After the loan is originated,
the correspondent seller submits the required documentation for us to review and make a determination if it meets our
underwriting guidelines. The loan is acquired by us only after we approve it for purchase. We focus on customer service for
our clients by facilitating prompt review by our due diligence team, providing bid pricing on both newly originated and
seasoned portfolios, enabling clients to deliver one loan at a time on a flow basis and providing clients with expedited
funding timelines. We purchase NonQM loans, conventional loans eligible for sale to the GSEs and government-insured
loans eligible for Ginnie Mae securities. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we closed loans totaling $54.4 million in
4
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the correspondent origination channel, which equaled 2% of total originations, compared to $226.8 million or 5%, of total
originations during 2019.
Since 2011, we have provided loans to customers predominantly in the Western U.S. with California, Washington
and Arizona comprising 89% of originations in 2020. Currently, we provide nationwide lending with our retail call center,
mortgage brokers and correspondent sellers.
Loan Types
Our loan products primarily include conventional loans intended to be eligible for sale to Fannie Mae and Freddie
Mac and loans eligible for government insurance by FHA, VA and USDA, NonQM and Jumbo. The FHA, VA and USDA
loans are government-insured loans eligible for Ginnie Mae securities issuance. We have established strict lending
guidelines, including determining the prospective borrowers’ ability to repay the mortgage, which we believe will keep
delinquencies and foreclosures at acceptable levels. We continue to refine our guidelines to expand our reach to the
underserved market of credit worthy borrowers who can fully document and substantiate an ability to repay mortgage
loans, but unable to obtain financing through traditional programs, for example self-employed borrowers. In conjunction
with establishing strict lending guidelines, we have also established investor relationships which provide us with an exit
strategy for these NonQM loans. In the fourth quarter of 2020, we began originating conventional prime jumbo mortgages,
which generally conform to the underwriting guidelines of the GSEs but exceed the maximum loan size allowed for single
unit properties. The following table indicates the breakdown of our originations by loan type for the periods indicated:
For the year ended December 31,
2020
2019

(in millions)

Originations by Loan Type:
Conventional
NonQM
Government
Jumbo
Total originations

$

$

2,401.6
264.0
70.6
10.7
2,746.9

$

$

3,123.3
1,241.5
184.0
—
4,548.8

Loan Sales—Selling Loans to GSEs, Issuing Ginnie Mae Securities and Selling Loans on a Whole Loan Basis
We primarily sell our conventional, jumbo and NonQM loans on a servicing released whole loan basis to private
investors and issue securities through Ginnie Mae for our government insured product. We securitize government-insured
loans by issuing Ginnie Mae securities through a process whereby a pool of loans is transferred to Ginnie Mae as collateral
for a government-insured mortgage-backed security. Prior to our suspension by Freddie Mac in July 2020, we would
opportunistically sell loans on a servicing-retained basis where the loan is sold to an investor such as Freddie Mac, and we
retain the right to service that loan, called mortgage servicing rights (MSRs). Traditionally, we have not sold a significant
amount of residential mortgage loans on a whole loan basis where the investor also acquires the servicing rights.
Throughout 2019 and 2020, we continued to selectively retain mortgage servicing as well as increase whole loan sales on a
servicing released basis to investors. The largest four investors accounted for 77% of the Company’s servicing released
loan sales for the year ended December 31, 2020. No other investors accounted for more than 5% of the loan sales for the
year ended December 31, 2020.
During the fourth quarter of 2017, Fannie Mae sufficiently limited the manner and volume for our deliveries of
eligible loans such that we elected to cease deliveries to them and we expanded our whole loan investor base for these
loans. In 2019, with the creation of the uniform mortgage-backed securities (UMBS) market, which was intended to
improve liquidity and align prepayment speeds across Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac securities, Freddie Mac raised
concerns about the high prepayment speeds of our loans generated through our retail direct channel. During 2019 and 2020,
we further expanded our investor base and completed servicing released loan sales to non-GSE whole loan investors and
expect to continue to utilize these alternative exit strategies for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac eligible loans. In July 2020,
we received notification from Freddie Mac that our eligibility to sell whole loans to Freddie Mac was suspended, without
cause. While we believe that the overall volume delivered under purchase commitments to the GSE’s was immaterial for
2019 and 2020, we are committed to operating actively and in good standing with our broad range of capital markets
counterparties. We continue to take steps to manage our prepayment speeds to be more consistent with our industry peers
and to reestablish the full confidence and delivery mechanisms to our investor base. We seek to satisfy the
5
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requirements as outlined by Freddie Mac to achieve reinstatement, while we continue to satisfy our obligations on a timely
basis to our other counterparties, as we have done without exception. Despite being in a suspended status with Freddie
Mac, we remain an approved originator and/or seller/servicer with the GSE’s, Agencies and Counterparties for agency,
non-agency, and government insured or guaranteed loan programs.
The following table indicates the breakdown of our loan sales to GSEs, issuance of Ginnie Mae securities and
loans sold to investors on a whole loan servicing-released basis for the periods as indicated:
For the year ended
December 31,
2020
2019

(in millions)

Freddie Mac
Ginnie Mae
Fannie Mae
Total servicing retained sales
Other (servicing released)
Total loan sales

$

$

131.5
92.2
—
223.7
3,095.7
3,319.4

$

$

187.0
103.7
—
290.7
3,805.5
4,096.2

Mortgage Servicing
Upon our sale of loans to GSEs or the issuance of securities through Ginnie Mae, we generally retain the mortgage
servicing rights with respect to the mortgage loans. We also sell loans on a servicing-released basis to secondary market
investors where we do not retain the servicing rights. When we retain servicing rights, we are entitled to receive a servicing
fee which is collected from interest payments made by the borrower and paid to us on a monthly basis equal to a specified
percentage, typically between 0.25% and 0.44% per annum of the outstanding principal balance of the loans. We may also
be entitled to receive additional servicing compensation, such as late payment fees and earn additional income through the
use of non-interest bearing escrows. As a mortgage servicer, we are required to advance certain amounts to meet the
contractual loan servicing requirements for certain investors. We may advance principal, interest, property taxes and
insurance for borrowers that have become delinquent, plus any other costs to preserve the property. Also, we will advance
funds to maintain, repair and market foreclosed real estate properties. Such advances are typically repaid when the loan
becomes current or repaid from the proceeds generated from the sale of the property subsequent to foreclosure.
We have hired a nationally recognized residential servicer to sub-service the servicing portfolio. Although we use
a sub-servicer to provide primary servicing and certain default servicing functions, our servicing surveillance team, which
is experienced in loss mitigation and real estate recovery, monitors and surveys the performance of the loans and subservicer. We generally earn a servicing fee on each loan, but we also incur the cost of the sub-servicer as well as the internal
servicing surveillance team. Incurring the cost of both a sub-servicer and an internal surveillance team reduces the net
revenues we earn from the mortgage servicing portfolio; however, we believe it reduces our risk by minimizing
delinquencies and repurchase risk.
In 2020, our mortgage servicing portfolio decreased to $30.5 million as compared to $4.9 billion at
December 31, 2019 as a result of the aforementioned sale of $4.2 billion in UPB of Freddie Mac and GNMA MSRs in the
second and third quarters of 2020. We have continued to selectively retain mortgage servicing in 2020 and may selectively
purchase pools of mortgage servicing rights in the future. Furthermore, the value of mortgage servicing rights are affected
by increases and decreases in mortgage interest rates. Therefore, volatility in mortgage rates generally causes volatility in
the value of mortgage servicing rights.
Risk Management
We are exposed to various business risks which may significantly impact our financial statements. Our risk
management framework and governance structure is intended to provide oversight and ongoing management of the risks
inherent in our business activities and create a culture of risk awareness. Our Compliance and Risk Management teams
oversee governance processes and monitoring of these risks including the establishment of risk strategy and documentation
of risk policies and controls. Compliance and Risk Management work in partnership with the business to provide oversight
of enterprise risk management and controls. This includes establishing enterprise-level risk management policies,
appropriate governance activities and creating risk transparency through risk reporting. For further discussion on
6
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operational and market risks, see Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Operational and Market Risks.”
Underwriting
We primarily originate residential first mortgage loans for sale that conform to the respective underwriting
guidelines established by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, FHA, VA and USDA. Our mortgage loans are underwritten
individually on a loan-by-loan basis. Each mortgage loan originated from our retail and wholesale channel are underwritten
by one of our underwriters or by a third party contract underwriter using our underwriting guidelines. Each mortgage loan
originated from our correspondent channel is reviewed internally or by a third party underwriting company to determine if
the borrower meets our underwriting guidelines.
Our criteria for underwriting generally include, but are not limited to, full documentation of borrower’s income,
assets, other relevant financial information, the specific agency’s eligible loan-to-value (LTV), borrower’s debt-to-income
ratio and full appraisals when required. Variances from any of these standards are permitted only to the extent allowable
under the specific program requirements. Our underwriting procedures for all retail and wholesale loans require the use of a
GSE automated underwriting system (AUS). Our underwriting procedures for all correspondent originated loans includes a
file review verifying that the borrower’s credit and the collateral meet our applicable program guidelines and an appropriate
AUS report has been completed. We also confirm the loan is compliant with regulatory guidelines. In addition, we perform
quality control procedures on selected pools prior to our acquisition of the loan.
Quality Control
Prior to funding, retail and wholesale loans are reviewed internally by our quality control department to verify the
loan conforms to our program guidelines and meets state and federal compliance guidelines. Prior to the acquisition of a
correspondent loan, we perform quality control procedures on selected pools. Management reviews the reports prior to the
acquisition of any correspondent loan. We also perform post origination quality controls procedures on at least 10% of all
mortgage loans funded or acquired from third party originators. Additionally, we closely monitor the servicing performance
of loans retained in our mortgage servicing portfolio to identify any opportunities to improve our underwriting process or
procedures and identify any issues with mortgage brokers or correspondent sellers. Findings are summarized monthly and
the appropriate changes are implemented.
Hedging
We are exposed to interest rate risks relating to our mortgage lending operations. We use derivative instruments to
manage some of our interest rate risk; however, we do not attempt to hedge interest rate risk completely. For further
discussion on interest rate risk and hedging, see Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations—Operation and Market Risks.”
Data Security
Sensitive borrower information, such as name, address and social security number is included in nearly all
mortgage loan files. We seek to keep this information secure for every borrower. To do so, our policy requires all sensitive
borrower data to be transmitted to us through our secure website portal which allows all of our customers, correspondent
sellers, mortgage brokers and individual borrowers to send data to us securely in an encrypted manner. For a discussion of
cybersecurity and data privacy risk see Item 1A. “Risk Factors - Cybersecurity risks, data privacy breaches, cyber incidents
and technology failures may adversely affect our business by causing a disruption to our operations, a compromise or
corruption of our confidential information, and/or damage to our business relationships, all of which could negatively
impact our financial results.”
Real Estate Services
In 2008, we established our Real Estate Services segment to provide solutions to the distressed mortgage and real
estate markets. We provide loss mitigation and real estate services primarily on our own long-term mortgage portfolio,
including default surveillance, loan modification services, short sale services (where a lender agrees to take less than the
balance owed from the borrower), real estate owned (REO) surveillance and disposition services and monitoring,
reconciling and reporting services for residential and multifamily mortgage portfolios. The activities and related revenues
7
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have declined in recent years, and we expect these revenues to gradually decline over time as our long-term mortgage
portfolio declines. These operations are conducted by IMC. In the second quarter of 2020, CCC was created to, among
other activities, assist with managing mortgage loans held-for-sale, and provide origination and servicing solutions focusing
on loss mitigation strategies, including loan modifications and restructurings to assist borrowers.
Long-Term Mortgage Portfolio
The long-term mortgage portfolio primarily consists of residual interests in the securitization trusts reflected as
trust assets and liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets that hold non-conforming mortgage loans originated between
2002 and 2007. Since we are no longer adding new mortgage loans to the long-term mortgage portfolio, the long-term
mortgage portfolio continues to decrease and is a smaller component of our overall operating results.
Our long-term mortgage portfolio consists of our residual interests in securitizations represented on our
consolidated balance sheets as the difference between total trust assets and total trust liabilities. Our long-term mortgage
portfolio includes adjustable rate and, to a lesser extent, fixed rate Alt-A single-family residential mortgages and
commercial (primarily multifamily residential loans) mortgages that were acquired and originated primarily by our
discontinued, prior non-conforming mortgage lending operations and retained in our long-term portfolio before 2008. AltA mortgages are primarily first lien mortgages made to borrowers whose credit was generally within established Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac guidelines at origination date but have loan characteristics that make them non-conforming under
those guidelines.
In previous years, we securitized mortgage loans by transferring originated residential single-family mortgage
loans and multifamily commercial loans (the “transferred assets”) into non-recourse bankruptcy remote trusts which in turn
issued tranches of bonds to investors supported only by the cash flows of the transferred assets. Because the assets and
liabilities in the securitizations are nonrecourse to us, the bondholders cannot look to us for repayment of their bonds in the
event of a shortfall. These securitizations were structured to include interest rate derivatives. We retained the residual
interest in each trust, and in most cases are the master servicer. A trustee and servicer, unrelated to us, was named for each
securitization. Cash flows from the loans (the loan payments and liquidation of foreclosed real estate properties) collected
by the loan servicer are remitted to us, the master servicer. The master servicer remits payments to the trustee who remits
payments to the bondholders (investors). The servicer collects loan payments and performs loss mitigation activities for
defaulted loans. These activities include foreclosing on properties securing defaulted loans, which results in REO.
Commercial mortgages in our long-term mortgage portfolio are primarily adjustable rate mortgages with initial
fixed interest rate periods of two, three, five, seven and ten years that subsequently convert to adjustable rate mortgages
(hybrid ARMs), and are primarily secured with multi-family residential real estate. Commercial mortgages have provided
greater asset diversification on our consolidated balance sheets as borrowers of commercial mortgages typically have
higher credit scores and commercial mortgages typically have lower LTVs.
Before 2007, we securitized mortgage loans in the form of collateralized mortgage obligations, or CMOs, which
were consolidated and accounted for as secured borrowings for financial statement purposes. Securitized mortgages in the
form of real estate mortgage investment conduits, or REMICs, were either consolidated or unconsolidated depending on the
design of the securitization structure. We consolidated the variable interest entity, or VIE, as the primary beneficiary of the
sole residual interest in each securitization trust where we also performed the master servicing. Amounts consolidated were
included in trust assets and liabilities as securitized mortgage collateral, real estate owned, derivative assets, securitized
mortgage borrowings and derivative liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2020,
our residual interests in securitizations (represented by the difference between total trust assets and total trust liabilities)
increased to $16.7 million, compared to $15.5 million at December 31, 2019.
Since 2007, we have not added any mortgage loans to our long-term mortgage portfolio.
For additional information regarding the long-term mortgage portfolio refer to Item 7. “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition,” and Note 6. “Securitized Mortgage Trusts” in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Master Servicing
Until 2007, we were retaining master servicing rights on substantially all of our non-conforming single-family
residential and commercial mortgage acquisitions and originations that were sold through securitizations. Since 2008, we
have not retained any additional master servicing rights, but have continued to be the master servicer of previously retained
master servicing rights.
The function of a master servicer includes collecting loan payments from loan servicers and remitting loan
payments, less master servicing fees receivable and other fees, to a trustee or other purchaser for each series of mortgagebacked securities or mortgages master serviced. In addition, as master servicer, we monitor compliance with the servicing
guidelines and perform or contract with third parties to perform all functions not adequately performed by any loan
servicer. The master servicer is also required to advance funds, or cause the loan servicers to advance funds, to cover
principal and interest payments not received from borrowers depending on the status of their mortgages, but only to the
extent that it is determined that such advances are recoverable either from the borrower or from the liquidation of the
property.
Master servicing fees are generally 0.03% per annum on the unpaid principal balance of the mortgages serviced.
As a master servicer, we also earn income or incur expense on principal and interest payments received from borrowers
until those payments are remitted to the investors of those mortgages. Fees from the master servicing portfolio have
declined significantly due to a decrease in principal balances since the end of 2008, which in turn affects the amount we
earn on balances held in custodial accounts. At December 31, 2020, we were the master servicer for approximately 11,400
mortgages with an UPB of approximately $2.7 billion of which $614.8 million of those loans were 60 or more days
delinquent. At December 31, 2020, we were also the master servicer for unconsolidated securitizations (included in the
total master servicing portfolio above) totaling approximately $216.3 million in unpaid principal balance of which
$100.9 million of those loans were 60 or more days delinquent. Fees earned from master servicing are separate from those
earned from mortgage servicing which are generated from servicing rights generated from loans sold servicing retained
from new originations since 2011.
Corporate
This segment includes all corporate services groups including information technology, human resources, legal,
facilities, accounting, treasury and corporate administration. This corporate services group supports all operating segments.
A portion of these costs are allocated to the operating segments based on certain allocation methods. These corporate
services groups are centralized to be efficient and avoid any duplicate cost burdens. Specific costs associated with being a
publicly traded company are not allocated and remain in this segment.
The corporate segment also includes debt expense related to the Convertible Notes which were extended in 2020
and due in 2022 as well as capital leases. Debt service expense is not allocated and remains in this segment. We have taken
advantage of very low financing rates and entered into capital lease arrangements to finance the purchase of equipment,
mostly computer equipment, used in all three segments. The interest expense associated with the capital leases is not
allocated and remains in this segment.
Human Capital Management
The Company’s key human capital management objectives are to attract, retain and develop talent to deliver on
the Company’s strategy. To support these objectives, the Company’s human resources programs are designed to: keep
people safe and healthy; enhance the Company’s culture through efforts aimed at making the workplace more inclusive and
free from discrimination or harassment on the basis of color, race, sex, national origin, ethnicity, religion, age, disability,
sexual orientation, gender identification or expression or any other status protected by applicable law; acquire and retain
diverse talent; reward and support employees through competitive pay and benefit programs; develop talent to prepare
them for critical roles and leadership positions; and facilitate internal talent mobility to create a high-performing workforce.
In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on how we managed our human capital. Nearly all of
our workforce began working remotely since March 2020, and we instituted safety protocols and procedures for the
essential employees who returned to work on site.

9

Table of Contents

As of December 31, 2020, we had a total of 326 employees, nearly all of whom are full-time. Management
believes that relations with our employees are good. We are not a party to any collective bargaining agreements.
Regulation
The U.S. mortgage industry is heavily regulated. Our mortgage lending operations, as well as our real estate
services, are subject to federal, state and local laws that regulate and restrict the manner in which we operate in the
residential mortgage industry, including, but not limited to, laws and regulations which: regulate our business practices;
limit the interest rates, finance charges and other fees we may charge or pay; impose underwriting requirements; regulate
our marketing techniques and practices; mandate disclosures and notices to consumers; regulate our servicing practices;
and impose licensing requirements and financial obligations on us.. Plus, mortgage bankers and brokers in our wholesale
production channel and correspondents from which we purchase loans are also subject to regulation, which may have an
effect on our business and the mortgage loans we are able to fund or acquire. Compliance with regulations in the mortgage
industry requires us to incur costs and expenses in our operations. To the extent we, or others with which we conduct
business, do not comply with applicable laws and regulations, we may be subject to fines, reimbursements and other
penalties which could include restrictions on our operations. Changes in these regulatory and legal requirements, including
changes in their enforcement, could materially and adversely affect our business and our financial condition, liquidity and
results of operations.The laws and regulations that we are subject to include (but are not limited to) the following:
●

the Federal Truth-in-Lending Act (known as TILA) and Regulation Z promulgated thereunder, which require
certain disclosures to the borrowers regarding the terms of the loans, regulates the methods in which
compensation can be paid to brokers and loan originators; and prohibits lenders from making residential
mortgage loans unless a good faith determination is made of a borrower’s creditworthiness based on verified
and documented information;

●

the Equal Credit Opportunity Act and Regulation B promulgated thereunder, which prohibit discrimination on
the basis of age, race, color, sex, religion, marital status, national origin, receipt of public assistance or the
exercise of any right under the Consumer Credit Protection Act, in the extension of credit;

●

the Fair Housing Act, which prohibits discrimination in housing on the basis of race, color, national origin,
religion, sex, familial status, or handicap, in housing-related transactions;

●

the Fair Credit Reporting Act, which regulates the use and reporting of information related to the borrower’s
credit experience;

●

the Fair and Accurate Credit Transaction Act, which regulates credit reporting and use of credit information
in making unsolicited offers of credit;

●

state and federal privacy regulations which include the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, which imposes
requirements on all lenders with respect to their collection and use of nonpublic financial information and
requires them to maintain the security of that information and the California Consumer Privacy Act (and
comparable data privacy regulations in other states) which enhances privacy rights and consumer protections
for California residents and property owners;

●

the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (known as RESPA) and Regulation X promulgated thereunder,
outlaws kickbacks that increase the cost of settlement services;

●

the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (known as HMDA) and Regulation C promulgated thereunder, which
requires the reporting of public loan data;

●

the Telephone Consumer Protection Act and the CAN-SPAM Act, which regulate commercial solicitations
via telephone, fax, and the Internet;

●

the Depository Institutions Deregulation and Monetary Control Act of 1980, which preempts certain state
usury laws;
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●

the Alternative Mortgage Transaction Parity Act of 1982, which preempts certain state lending laws which
regulate alternative mortgage transactions;

●

the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, which prohibits unfair debt collection practices;

●

the Secure and Fair Enforcement for Mortgage Licensing Act of 2008, which establishes national minimum
standards for mortgage licensees;

●

regulations promulgated by the CFPB to help assure that consumers are provided with timely and
understandable information about residential mortgage loans that protect them against Unfair, Deceptive or
Abusive Acts or Practices; and

●

interagency final rules required pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act
(Dodd-Frank) establishing minimum national underwriting guidelines for residential mortgages that lenders
will be allowed to securitize without retaining any of the loans’ default risk.

Our mortgage lending operations is an approved Housing and Urban Development (HUD) lender, a Ginnie Mae
approved issuer and servicer and an approved but inactive seller/servicer of Fannie Mae. As previously disclosed, on July
7, 2020 we were suspended by Freddie Mac and are working to satisfy the requirements outlined to achieve reinstatement.
As such, we are required to submit annually to Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac (when an active seller/servicer), and HUD, as
applicable, audited financial statements, or the equivalent, according to the financial reporting requirements of each
regulatory entity for its sellers/servicers. Our lending activities are also subject to examination by Fannie Mae, Ginnie Mae,
Freddie Mac, HUD, CFPB and state regulatory agencies including the California Department of Financial Protection and
Innovation (f/k/a California Department of Business Oversight) at any time to assure compliance with applicable
regulations, policies and procedures. Also refer to “Regulatory Risks” under Item 1A. Risk Factors for a further discussion
of regulations that may affect us.
Competition
We operate in a highly competitive industry that could become even more competitive as a result of legislative,
regulatory, economic, and technological changes, as well as continued consolidation or expansion. Our competitors include
banks, thrifts, credit unions, real estate brokerage firms, mortgage brokers, fintech companies and mortgage banking
companies. Competition is based on a number of factors including, among others, customer service, quality and range of
products and services offered, price, reputation, interest rates, lending limits and customer convenience. To compete
effectively, we must have a very high level of operational, technological, and managerial expertise, as well as access to
capital at a competitive cost. Many of our competitors are larger than we are and have access to greater financial resources
than we do, which can place us at a competitive disadvantage. In addition, many of our largest competitors are banks or
affiliated with banking institutions, the advantages of which include, but are not limited to, the ability to hold new
mortgage loan originations in an investment portfolio and having access to financing with more favorable terms than we
do, including lower funding costs with bank deposits as a source of liquidity.
Our real estate services segment competes with firms that provide similar services, including loan modification
companies, real estate asset management and disposition companies and real estate brokerage firms. Our competitors
include large mortgage servicers, established subprime loan servicers, and newer entrants to the specialty servicing and
recovery collections business. Efforts to market our ability to provide real estate services for others is more difficult than
many of our competitors because we have not historically provided such services to unrelated third parties, and we are not a
rated primary or special servicer of residential mortgage loans as designated by a rating agency.
Risk factors, as outlined below, provide additional information related to risks associated with competition in the
mortgage industry.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to Our Business
Our long-term success is primarily dependent on our ability to increase the profitability of our mortgage originations.
We believe that a key driver for our Company will be increasing the profitability of our mortgage lending
operations. Our success is dependent on many factors such as the documentation and data capture technology we employ,
increasing our loan origination operational capacities, increasing our mortgage origination efficiencies, attracting qualified
employees, ability to maintain our approvals and sell or securitize loans with Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, Ginnie Mae and
other investors, ability to increase our mortgage servicing portfolio, the ability to obtain adequate warehouse borrowing
capacity, the ability to adequately maintain loan quality and manage the risk of losses from loan repurchases, the changing
regulatory environment for mortgage lending and the ability to fund our originations.
If we are unable to generate sufficient net earnings from our mortgage lending operations, we may be unable to
satisfy our future operating costs and liabilities, including repayment of our debt obligations, which may materially and
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
If we are unable to satisfy our debt obligations or to meet or maintain the requisite financial covenant requirements
with our lenders, our financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely effected.
We have significant debt obligations including:
●
●
●

$20.0 million Convertible Promissory Notes due May 2022;
Junior Subordinated Notes with an outstanding principal balance of $62.0 million at December 31, 2020 and due
March 2034; and
Warehouse facilities with third-party lenders which are secured by and used to fund residential mortgage loans
until such loans are sold.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on our debt obligations depends on our future performance, which is
subject to economic, financial, competitive and other factors beyond our control. Our business may not generate cash flow
from operations in the future sufficient to service our debt. If we are unable to generate cash flow from operations, we may
be required to pursue one or more alternatives, including, but not limited to, selling assets, restructuring debt or obtaining
additional equity capital on terms that may be unfavorable to us or, highly dilutive to our shareholders. We may not be able
to engage in any of these activities or engage in these activities on desirable terms, which could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, if we are unable to sell loans timely to repay our
warehouse lenders, our liquidity may be adversely affected.
In addition, our credit and warehouse facilities contain covenants, including requirements to maintain a certain
minimum net worth, liquidity, litigation judgment thresholds, debt ratios, profitability levels and other customary debt
covenants. A breach of the covenants can result in an event of default under our facilities and as such allows the lender to
pursue certain remedies, including foreclosure on our assets. Furthermore, a breach under one facility may constitute a
cross default under other agreements which would allow counterparties to pursue additional remedies against us. At
December 31, 2020, we were in compliance with all financial covenants under our warehouse facilities. In the event we are
in noncompliance with our debt obligations, we cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to obtain waivers in the
event of future noncompliance of our debt obligations.
Further spread of COVID-19 or any mutations thereof could negatively impact the availability of key personnel
necessary to conduct our business.
The effects of the pandemic could adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations due to
interrupted service and availability of personnel, including our executive officers and other employees that are part of our
management team and an inability to recruit, attract and retain skilled personnel. To the extent our management or
personnel are impacted in significant numbers by the outbreak of pandemic or epidemic disease and are not available or
allowed to conduct work, our business and operating results may be negatively impacted. Moreover, the negative impacts
of the pandemic necessitated a significant reduction in our workforce and additional reductions in our workforce may
become necessary if economic conditions deteriorate, which could negatively impact our business and results of operations.
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Additionally, the pandemic could negatively impact our ability to ensure operational continuity in the event our business
continuity plan is not effective or ineffectively implemented or deployed during a disruption.
The continued impact of the pandemic could negatively impact the availability of key third party service providers
necessary to conduct our business and the ability of counterparties to meet contractual obligations to us.
Our financial results and results of operations could be negatively impacted by the inability of third-party vendors
to provide services we rely on to conduct our business and operate effectively, including vendors that provide IT services,
mortgage origination support services, corporate support services, government services or other operational support
services. Further, an inability of our counterparties to make or satisfy the conditions or representations and warranties in
agreements they have entered into with us could also have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.
Our use of financial leverage exposes us to increased risks, including breaches and additional potential breaches of the
financial covenants under our borrowing facilities, which could result in our being required to immediately repay all
outstanding amounts borrowed under these facilities and these facilities being unavailable to use for future financing
needs, as well as triggering cross-defaults under other debt agreements.
Significant and widespread decreases in the fair values of our assets have caused and could continue to cause us to
breach financial covenants under our borrowing facilities related to profitability, net worth and leverage. Such covenants, if
breached, can result in our being required to immediately repay all outstanding amounts borrowed under these facilities and
these facilities being unavailable to use for future financing needs, as well as triggering cross-defaults under other debt
agreements. During the first and second quarters of 2020, we breached such financial covenants in certain borrowing
agreements with our financing counterparties and were able to obtain waivers. We regularly engage in discussions with our
financing counterparties in regards to such financial covenants; however, we cannot be certain whether we will be able to
remain in compliance with these financial covenants, or whether our financing counterparties will negotiate terms or
amendments in respect of these financial covenants, the timing of any such negotiations or amendments or the terms
thereof. Even if we continue to obtain temporary or permanent amendments or waivers from financing counterparties to
amend and or waive financial covenants, there is no certainty that we will be able to remain in compliance with such
amended covenants and or receive waivers in the event we breach a covenant. If any of our counterparties elected not to
renew our borrowing facility, we may not be able to find a replacement counterparty, which could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
The use of alternative exit strategies subjects us to risk associated with the potential limitation or elimination of delivery
options to counterparties which has had and could continue to have a material adverse effect on our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.
It is important for us to sell or securitize the loans we originate. Prepayment speeds on loans generated through
our retail direct channel have been a concern for some investors dating back to 2016, which has resulted and could further
result in adverse pricing or delays in our ability to sell or securitize loans and related MSRs on a timely and profitable
basis. The use of alternative exit strategies has resulted in and could further result in adverse pricing, delays in our ability
to sell timely as a result of due diligence, investor overlays, and increased staffing. In addition, reliance on these investors
subjects us to changes in risk, collateral, and counterparty eligibility requirements which may affect our ability to deliver
and securitize loans. If we are unable to meet all required eligibility criteria, which may be amended and/or implemented
without notice, it could impact the volume, products, pricing, and servicing options for originated loans which could have a
material adverse impact on overall operations, profitability and cash flows. Additionally, there can be no assurance that
investors will continue to purchase our collateral at favorable terms, or at all.
The success and growth of our business will depend upon our ability to adapt to and implement technological changes.
We operate in an industry experiencing rapid technological change and frequent product introductions. We rely on
our technology to make our platform available to clients, evaluate loan applicants and service loans. In addition, we may
increasingly rely on technological innovation as we introduce new products, expand our current products into new markets
and continue to streamline various loan-related and lending processes. The process of integrating new technologies and
products is complex, and if we are unable to successfully innovate and continue to deliver a superior client experience, the
demand for our products and services may decrease and our growth and operations may be harmed.
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The origination process is increasingly dependent on technology, and our business relies on our continued ability
to process loan applications over the internet, accept electronic signatures, and provide instant process status updates and
other client- and loan applicant-expected conveniences. Maintaining and improving this technology will require significant
capital expenditures.
The implementation of new technologies, including migrating to new technology solutions such as loan
origination systems (LOS) or point of sale systems (POS) requires significant financial and personnel resources. To the
extent we are dependent on any particular technology or technological solution, we may be harmed if such technology or
technological solution becomes non-compliant with existing industry standards, fails to meet or exceed the capabilities of
our competitors' equivalent technologies or technological solutions, becomes increasingly expensive to service, retain and
update or malfunctions or functions in a way we did not anticipate that results in loan defects potentially requiring
repurchase. Additionally, new technologies and technological solutions are continually being released. As such, it is
difficult to predict the problems we may encounter in improving our technologies' functionality.
To operate our LOS, POS and websites and provide our loan products and services, we use software packages
from a variety of third parties, which are customized and integrated with code that we have developed ourselves. We rely
on third-party software products and services related to automated underwriting functions and loan document production. If
we are unable to integrate this software in a fully functional manner, we may experience increased costs and difficulties
that could delay or prevent the successful development, introduction or marketing of new products and services.
There is no assurance that we will be able to successfully adopt new technology as critical systems and
applications become obsolete and better ones become available. Additionally, if we fail to implement and maintain
technologies to respond to technological developments and changing client and loan applicant needs in a cost-effective
manner, or fail to acquire or integrate our third-party technologies effectively, we may experience disruptions in our
operations, lose market share or incur substantial costs.
Our performance may be adversely affected by the performance of parties who service or sub-service our mortgage
loans.
We contract with third parties for the servicing of our mortgage loans in our long-term mortgage portfolio, for
which we are the master servicer, and the servicing portfolio in our mortgage lending operations. Although we use thirdparty servicers, we retain primary responsibility to ensure the serviced loans meet contractual and regulatory requirements.
Our operations, performance and liabilities are subject to risks associated with inadequate or untimely servicing. If a
servicer defaults or fails to perform to certain standards then this can be deemed to be a default or failure by us to perform
those duties or functions. If we, or our sub-servicers, commit a material breach of our obligations as a servicer or master
servicer, we may be subject to damages or termination if the breach is not cured within a specified period of time following
notice, causing us to lose servicing rights income. In addition, we may be required to indemnify the investor or
securitization trustee against losses from any failure by us, as master servicer or on behalf of the sub-servicer, to perform
the servicing obligations properly. If, as a result of a servicer or sub-servicer’s failure to perform adequately, we were
terminated as servicer by an investor, trustee or master servicer, the value of any servicing or master servicing rights held
by us could be adversely affected. Also, this could affect the cash flow generated by our servicing rights portfolio.
Poor performance by a sub-servicer may result in greater than expected delinquencies and foreclosures and losses
on our mortgage loans or, in the case of our long-term mortgage portfolio, in our resulting exposure to investors, bond
holders, bond insurers or others to whom we are responsible for the performance of our loan sub-servicers. As master
servicer in our securitizations we are responsible for the duties, responsibilities and actions of the subservicers. Their
actions, or lack thereof, may impose liability upon us from third party claims. A substantial increase in our delinquency or
foreclosure rate could adversely affect our ability to access the capital and secondary markets for our financing needs. With
respect to our long-term mortgage portfolio, greater delinquencies would adversely affect the value of our cash flows and
residual interests, if any, we hold in connection with that securitization.
The value of mortgage servicing rights are dependent upon various factors, including, but not limited to, the
adequate performance of the servicing function by our sub-servicer, the responsibilities imposed on us by the investors of
our loans for which we hold the servicing rights, interest rates, the cost of our sub-servicers, loan prepayments and
delinquencies. As these factors and others vary, the value of our mortgage servicing rights may fluctuate which may affect
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our ability to meet financial covenants, maintain credit facilities, expand our operations and generate income from our
operations.
Our NonQM product offerings may expose us to a higher risk of delinquencies, regulatory risks, foreclosures,
counterparty risk and losses adversely affecting our earnings and financial condition.
We originate and acquire various types of residential mortgage products, which include NonQM and nonconforming loan products. Unlike Qualified Mortgages, NonQM loans do not benefit from a presumption that the
borrower has the ability to repay the loan. In the event that these NonQM mortgages begin to experience a significant rate
of default, we could be subject to statutory claims for violations of the ability to repay standard. Any such claims could
materially and adversely affect our ability to underwrite these loans, our business, and results of operations or financial
condition.
While we undertake initiatives to mitigate any exposure and use our commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that
we have made a reasonable determination that the borrowers will have the ability to repay a loan, this type of product has
increased risk and exposure to litigation and claims of borrowers. If, however, we were to make a loan which does not
satisfy the regulatory standards for ascertaining the borrower’s ability to repay the loan, the consequences could include
giving the borrower a defense to repayment of the loan, which may prevent us from collecting interest and principal on that
loan.
NonQM loans are mortgages that generally did not qualify for purchase by government-sponsored entities such as
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Credit risks associated with all these mortgages may be greater than those associated with
conforming mortgages. Mortgages made to these borrowers may entail a higher risk of delinquency and higher losses than
mortgages made to borrowers who utilize conventional mortgage sources. Delinquency, foreclosures and losses generally
increase during economic slowdowns or recessions. The actual risk of delinquencies, foreclosures and losses on mortgages
made to these borrowers may be higher to the extent the economy enters a recession. The combination of different
underwriting criteria and higher rates of interest can adversely affect our business and financial condition from higher
prepayment rates and higher delinquency rates and /or credit losses. Additionally, during periods of market dislocation,
similar to what occurred during the first and second quarters of 2020, liquidity for NonQM and non-conforming loan
products suffer more acute pressure which creates a substantial widening of credit spreads on these assets, causing a severe
decline in the values assigned by investors and counterparties for NonQM and non-conforming assets. These periods of
market dislocation have adversely affected the values assigned to our NonQM and non-conforming assets. Further periods
of economic dislocation caused by the pandemic or other factors may adversely affect the liquidity for our products and
may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Cybersecurity risks, data privacy breaches, cyber incidents and technology failures may adversely affect our business by
causing a disruption to our operations, a compromise or corruption of our confidential information, and/or damage to
our business relationships, all of which could negatively impact our financial results.
A cyber incident is considered to be any adverse event that threatens the confidentiality, integrity or availability of
our information resources. These incidents may be an intentional attack or an unintentional event and could involve gaining
unauthorized access to our information systems for purposes of theft of certain personally identifiable information of
consumers, misappropriating assets, stealing confidential information, corrupting data or causing operational disruption.
The result of these incidents may include disrupted operations, misstated or unreliable financial data, liability for stolen
assets or information, increased cybersecurity protection and insurance costs, litigation and damage to our business
relationships.
As our reliance on rapidly changing technology has increased, so have the risks posed to its information systems,
both proprietary and those provided to us by third-party service providers. System disruptions and failures caused by fire,
power loss, telecommunications outages, unauthorized intrusion, unintended employee actions, computer viruses and
disabling devices, natural disasters and other similar events may interrupt or delay our ability to provide services to our
customers or result in the unintended disclosure of consumer information.
Despite our efforts to ensure the integrity of our systems, our investment in significant physical and technological
security measures, employee training, contractual precautions and business continuity plans, and our implementation of
policies and procedures designed to help mitigate cybersecurity risks and cyber intrusions, there can be no assurance that
any such cyber intrusions or data privacy breaches will not occur or, if they do occur, that they will be adequately
addressed. We also may not be able to anticipate or implement effective preventive measures against all security breaches,
especially
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because the methods of attack change frequently or may not be recognized until after such attack has been launched, and
because security attacks can originate from a wide variety of sources, including third parties such as persons involved with
organized crime or associated with external service providers. We are also held accountable for the actions and inactions of
our third-party vendors regarding cybersecurity, data privacy breaches and other consumer-related matters.
Any of the foregoing events could result in violations of applicable privacy and other laws, financial loss to us or
to our customers, loss of confidence in our security measures, customer dissatisfaction, additional regulatory scrutiny,
governmental enforcement actions, significant litigation exposure and harm to our reputation, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, liquidity and results of operations.
Inability to successfully complete securitizations, or delayed mortgage loan sales or securitization closings, could result
in a liquidity shortage which would adversely affect our operating results.
We are exploring utilizing securitizations as an additional exit strategy to generate cash proceeds to repay
borrowings and replenish our borrowing capacity. If there is a delay in mortgage loan sales or securitization closing or any
reduction in our ability to complete mortgage loan sales or securitizations, we may be required to utilize other sources of
financing, which, may not be available on favorable terms or at all. In addition, delays in closing mortgage sales or
securitizations of our mortgages exposes us to additional credit and interest rate risk up to the closing of the transaction.
Several factors could affect our ability to complete securitizations of our mortgages or mortgage loan sales, including:
●
●
●
●
●
●

conditions in the securities and secondary markets;
credit quality of the mortgages acquired or originated through our mortgage operations;
volume of our mortgage loan acquisitions and originations;
operational inefficiencies causing delay in settlement;
our ability to obtain credit enhancements; and
lack of investors purchasing higher risk components of the securities.

If we are unable to sell a sufficient number of mortgages at a premium or profitably securitize a significant
number of our mortgages in a particular financial reporting period, of if we experience a delay in mortgage loan sales or
securities closings, then we could experience a liquidity shortage leading to lower net earnings or a loss for that period. We
cannot assure you that we will be able to continue to profitably securitize or sell our loans on a whole loan basis, or at all.
We may not be able to access financing sources on favorable terms, or at all, which could adversely affect our ability to
implement and operate our business as planned.
Future financing sources may include borrowings in the form of credit facilities (including term loans and
revolving facilities), repurchase agreements, warehouse facilities, structured financing arrangements, public and private
equity and debt issuances and derivative instruments, in addition to transactions or asset specific funding arrangements.
Our access to sources of financing depends upon a number of factors some of which we have little or no control over,
including general market conditions, resources and policies or lenders. In addition, if regulatory capital requirements
imposed on our private lenders change, they may be required to limit, or increase the cost of, financing they provide to us.
This could potentially increase our financing costs and reduce our liquidity as well as limit our ability to expand our
mortgage operations. Depending on market conditions at the relevant time, we may have to rely more heavily on additional
equity issuances, which may be dilutive to our shareholders, or on less efficient forms of debt financing that require a larger
portion of our cash flow from operations, thereby reducing funds available for our operations and future business
opportunities. We cannot assure you that we will have access to such equity or debt capital on favorable terms (including,
without limitation, cost and term) at the desired times, or at all, which could negatively affect our results of operations. If
our access to such funds are restricted or are on terms that are materially changed, we may not be able to continue those
operations which may affect our income and loan origination volumes.
We may become, and in some cases are, a defendant in lawsuits, some of which may be class action matters, and we may
not prevail in these matters. We received an adverse ruling in July 2018 which may have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition or results of operations.
Individual and class action lawsuits and regulatory actions alleging improper marketing practices, abusive loan
terms and fees, disclosure violations and other matters are risks faced by all mortgage originators. We are a defendant in
purported class actions pending in different states and could be named in other matters. Some of the actions allege
generally
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that the loan originator (whether or not Impac) improperly charged fees in violation of various state lending or consumer
protection laws in connection with mortgages that we acquired while others allege that our lending or servicing practice
was a statutory violation, an unlawful business practice, an unfair business practice or a breach of a contract. They
generally seek unspecified compensatory damages, punitive damages, pre- and post-judgment interest, costs and expenses
and rescission of the mortgages, as well as a return of any improperly collected fees. We will incur defense costs and other
expenses in connection with the lawsuits, and we cannot assure you that the ultimate outcome of these or other actions will
not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. In addition to the expense and burden
incurred in defending any of these actions and any damages that we may suffer, our management’s efforts and attention
may be diverted from the ordinary business operations in order to address these claims. We may also issue shares of
common stock to settle outstanding obligations and liabilities which could also affect the market price of our common
stock. Plus, we may be deemed in default of our warehouse lines if a judgment for money that exceeds specified thresholds
is rendered against us. If the final resolution of this litigation is unfavorable to us in any of these actions, our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows might be materially adversely affected.
We are subject to a purported class action lawsuit relating to our Series B Preferred Stock in which holders are
seeking cumulative dividends, unpaid dividends, certain restrictions on our actions, including the ability to pay common
stock dividends, and the election of two directors by the preferred holders. In July 2018, we received an unfavorable Court
Order ruling that the rights, preferences and terms of the Series B Preferred Stock prior to the 2009 closing of the tender
offer and consent solicitation remain in effect, that the 2009 amendments were ineffective, and the 2004 rights remain in
effect. We have since appealed that decision. To date, the Court has yet to opine on the oral arguments and related briefs.
If not reversed, the decision affects the rights of the Series B Preferred Stock holders to receive, when and as authorized by
the Board of Directors, cumulative preferential cash dividends at a rate of 9.375% of the $25.00 liquidation preference per
annum (equivalent to a fixed annual amount of $2.34375 per share) payable on a quarterly basis. Further, the court has
declared that the Company is required to pay three calendar quarters of dividends on the Series B Preferred Stock under the
2004 rights (approximately, $1.2 million, but did not order the Company to make any payment at this time). In addition,
under the Series B Preferred Stock terms prior to the 2009 amendments, whenever dividends are in arrears for six or more
quarters, whether or not consecutive, the Series B Preferred Stock will be entitled to call a special meeting for the election
of two additional directors. The 2004 rights also provide for certain other voting rights prior to amendment of any
provisions of our charter so as to materially and adversely affect the Series B Preferred Stock, or approve a merger or
similar transaction unless the Series B Preferred Stock remain outstanding and materially unchanged. We would also be
prohibited from paying any dividend on our common stock until dividends on the Series B Preferred Stock are paid in full.
The continued appeal of the court ruling will continue the cost and expense related to defending this lawsuit and diversion
of our management’s efforts and attention from ordinary business operations in order to address the claims. This court
ruling and the possible judgment may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.
Our hedging strategies implemented by our mortgage lending operations may not be successful in mitigating our risks
associated with the market movement of interest rates.
We use various derivative financial instruments to provide a level of protection against interest rate risks in our
mortgage lending operations, but no hedging strategy can protect us completely. When interest rates change, we expect to
record a gain or loss on derivatives which would be offset by an inverse change in the value of mortgage loans held-forsale, our held mortgage servicing rights, forward sale and interest rate lock commitments. We cannot assure you, however,
that our use of derivatives will offset the risks related to changes in interest rates. There have been periods, and it is likely
that there will be periods in the future, during which we will not have offsetting gains or losses in mortgage loans, forward
sale and interest rate lock commitment values after accounting for our derivative financial instruments. The derivative
financial instruments we select may not have the effect of reducing our interest rate risk. In addition, the nature and timing
of hedging transactions may influence the effectiveness of these strategies. Poorly designed strategies, improperly executed
and recorded transactions or inaccurate assumptions could actually increase our risk and losses. In addition, hedging
strategies involve transaction and other costs. We cannot assure you that our hedging strategy and the derivatives that we
use will adequately offset the risk of interest rate volatility or that our hedging transactions will not result in losses.
A decline in the unpaid principal balance of the servicing portfolio and the related estimated fair value of the MSRs
could adversely affect our net earnings, financial condition, future servicing fees and our ability to borrow on our MSR
financing facilities.
The servicing portfolio and the value of the related MSRs are sensitive to changes in prevailing interest rates:
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●
●

a decrease in interest rates may increase prepayment speeds which may lead to (i) increased amortization; (ii)
decrease in servicing fees; and (iii) decrease in the value of our MSRs;
an increase in interest rates, together with an increase in monthly payments when an adjustable mortgage loan’s
interest rate adjusts upward from an initial fixed rate or a low introductory rate, may cause increased delinquency,
default and foreclosure. Increased mortgage defaults and foreclosures may adversely affect our business as they
increase our expenses and reduce the number of mortgages we service.

Our servicing portfolio is subject to “run off”, meaning that mortgage loans serviced by us may be prepaid prior to
maturity or repaid through standard amortization of principal. As a result, our ability to maintain the size of our servicing
portfolio depends on our ability to retain the right to service the existing residential mortgages or to originate additional
mortgages. Significant “run off” could result in decreasing the estimated value of the MSRs, which could have an adverse
impact our net earnings.
Our MSR financing facilities generally allow us to borrow up to 60% of the estimated fair value of MSRs. A
decline in value of the MSRs could limit our ability to borrow on these facilities. Limitations on borrowings on these
financing facilities imposed by the amount of eligible collateral pledged could affect the borrowing capacity of the facility,
which could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.
Our ability to utilize our net operating losses and certain other tax attributes may be limited.
At the end of our 2020 taxable year, we had estimated federal and California net operating loss (NOL)
carryforwards of approximately $609.3 million and $420.3 million, respectively. Federal NOLs begin to expire in 2027 and
California NOLs begin to expire in 2028. We may not generate sufficient taxable income in future periods to be able to
realize fully the tax benefits of our NOL carryforwards. Although, under existing tax rules, we are generally allowed to use
those NOL carryforwards to offset taxable income in subsequent taxable years, our ability to use those NOL carryforwards
to offset income may be severely limited to the extent that we experience an ownership change within the meaning of
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. These provisions could also limit our ability to deduct certain losses (built-in
losses) we recognize after an ownership change with respect to assets we own at the time of the ownership change. In
general, an ownership change, as defined by Section 382, results from transactions increasing ownership of certain
stockholders or public groups in our stock by more than 50% over a three-year period. In addition, the generation of taxable
income from cancellation of debt may further reduce the NOL. Any limitation on our NOL carryforwards that could be
used to offset taxable income would adversely affect our liquidity and cash flow, as and when we become profitable. On
October 23, 2019, our Board enacted the Tax Benefit Preservation Rights Agreement (NOL rights plan), which was
approved at the Company’s 2020 annual meeting of stockholders, is designed to mitigate the risk of losing net operating
loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes from being limited in reducing future income taxes. Although our NOL
rights plan is intended to prevent an ownership change, we cannot provide any assurance that an ownership change will not
occur.
We depend on the accuracy and completeness of information provided by customers and counterparties.
In deciding whether to extend credit or enter into other transactions with customers and counterparties, we may
rely on information furnished to us by, or on behalf of, customers and counterparties, including financial statements and
other financial information. We also may rely on representations of customers and counterparties as to the accuracy and
completeness of that information. In deciding whether to extend credit, we may rely upon our customers' representations
that their financial statements are accurate. We also may rely on customer representations and certifications, or other audit
or accountants' reports, with respect to the business and financial condition of our commercial clients. Our financial
condition, results of operations, financial reporting and reputation could be materially adversely affected if we rely on
materially misleading, false, inaccurate or fraudulent information.
Representations and warranties made by us in our loan sales, servicing rights sales and securitizations may subject us to
liability.
In connection with our loan and/or servicing rights sales to third parties and our prior securitizations, we
transferred mortgages and/or servicing rights to third parties or, to a lesser extent, into a trust in exchange for cash and, in
the case of a securitized mortgage, residual certificates issued by the trust. The trustee, purchaser, bondholder, guarantor or
other entities involved in the sales or issuance of the securities (which may include bond insurers) may have recourse to us
with respect to the breach of the representations and warranties made by us at the time such mortgages and/or servicing
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rights are transferred or when the securities are sold. We attempt to mitigate the potential recourse from such purchasers by
seeking remedies from correspondent sellers and wholesale brokers who originated the mortgages if we did not originate
the loan. However, many of the entities we acquired loans from in the past are no longer in business or may not be able to
financially cover the losses. Furthermore, if we discover, prior to the sale or transfer of a loan, that there is any fraud or
misrepresentation with respect to the mortgage and the originator fails to repurchase the mortgage, then we may not be able
to sell the mortgage or we may have to sell the mortgage at a discount. Changes in the timing, processes and procedures of
our primary investors’ review of loans which they purchase from us may affect the number of loans that are rejected, the
timing of our loan sales, or the frequency of repurchase demands issued to us. Also, similar changes by mortgage insurers
who agree to insure loans may also affect the frequency and timing of our loan sales. As a result, the effectiveness of our
loan sales, our repurchase reserves and our profitability may be adversely affected.
The geographic concentration of our mortgages increases our exposure to risks in those areas.
We do not set limitations on the percentage of mortgages composed of properties located in any one area (whether
by state, zip code or other geographic measure). Concentration in any one area increases our exposure to the economic and
natural hazard risks associated with that area. A majority of our mortgage acquisitions and originations and mortgages held
in our long-term mortgage portfolio are secured by properties in California (approximately 86% of our mortgage
originations were generated from California in 2020) and, to a lesser extent, Florida, Washington and Arizona. These states
have previously experienced, and may experience in the future, economic downturns and California and Florida have also
suffered the effects of certain natural hazards. During past economic downturns, real estate values in California and Florida
have decreased drastically, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition. In
addition, Florida is among several states with higher than average costs for investors in circumstances of mortgage default
and foreclosure, since the foreclosure process takes significantly longer than average. Accordingly, to the extent the
mortgages we originate or are held in our long-term mortgage portfolio experience defaults or foreclosures in that area, we
may be exposed to higher losses.
Furthermore, if borrowers are not insured for natural disasters, which are typically not covered by standard hazard
insurance policies, then they may not be able to repair the property or may stop paying their mortgages if the property is
damaged. This would cause increased foreclosures and decrease our ability to recover losses on properties affected by such
disasters. This would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.
Our vendor relationships subject us to a variety of risks.
We have significant vendors that, among other things, provide us with financial, technology and other services to
support our mortgage loan servicing and origination businesses. Some of these outsourced services, such as technology,
could have a material effect on our business and operations if our third party provider was unable to, or failed to, properly
provide such services. With respect to vendors engaged to perform activities required by servicing criteria, we have elected
to take responsibility for assessing compliance with the applicable servicing criteria for the applicable vendor and are
required to have procedures in place to provide reasonable assurance that the vendor’s activities comply in all material
respects with servicing criteria applicable to the vendor, including but not limited to, monitoring compliance with our
predetermined policies and procedures and monitoring the status of payment processing operations. In the event that a
vendor’s activities do not comply with the servicing criteria, it could negatively impact our servicing agreements. In
addition, if our current vendors were to stop providing services to us on acceptable terms, including as a result of one or
more vendor bankruptcies due to poor economic conditions, we may be unable to procure alternatives from other vendors
in a timely and efficient manner and on acceptable terms, or at all. Further, we may incur significant costs to resolve any
such disruptions in service and this could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Additionally, the CFPB has stated that supervised banks and non-banks could be held liable for actions of their service
providers. As a result, we could be exposed to liability, CFPB enforcement actions or other administrative penalties if the
vendors with whom we do business violate consumer protection laws.
If we are forced to liquidate, we may have few unpledged assets for distribution to unsecured creditors or equity holders.
In the event we were forced to liquidate and distribute our assets, our common stockholders would share in our
assets only after we satisfy any amounts we owe to our creditors and preferred equity holders. The majority of our assets
are either collateral for specific borrowings or pledged as collateral for secured liabilities. Additionally, there is volatility
and significant judgement with respect to the valuation of a significant portion our assets and liabilities. If our liquidation
or dissolution were attributable to our inability to profitably operate our business, then it is likely that we would have
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material liabilities at the time of liquidation or dissolution. Accordingly, we cannot provide any assurance that sufficient
assets will remain available after the payment of our creditors and preferred equity holders to enable common stockholders
to receive any liquidation distribution with respect to any common stock.
Our risk management policies and procedures may not be effective.
Our risk management framework seeks to mitigate risk and appropriately balance risk and return. We have
established policies and procedures intended to identify, monitor and manage the types of risk to which we are subject,
including credit risk, market and interest rate risk, liquidity risk, cyber risk, regulatory, legal and reputational risk. Although
we have devoted significant resources to develop our risk management policies and procedures and expect to continue to
do so in the future, these policies and procedures, as well as our risk management techniques such as our hedging
strategies, may not be fully effective. There may also be risks that exist, or that develop in the future, that we have not
appropriately anticipated, identified or mitigated. As regulations and markets in which we operate continue to evolve, our
risk management framework may not always keep sufficient pace with those changes. If our risk management framework
does not effectively identify or mitigate our risks, we could suffer unexpected losses and could be materially adversely
affected.
If we fail to maintain effective systems of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and
procedures, we may not be able to report our financial results accurately or prevent fraud, which could cause current
and potential stockholders to lose confidence in our financial reporting, adversely affect the trading price of our
securities or harm our operating results.
Effective internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures are necessary for us to
provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud and operate successfully as a public company. We cannot be
certain that our efforts to improve or maintain our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and
procedures will be successful or that we will be able to maintain adequate controls over our financial processes and
reporting in the future. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls or difficulties encountered in their
implementation or other effective improvement of our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and
procedures could harm our operating results, or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. In the past, we have
reported, and may discover in the future, material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting.
Ineffective internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures could cause investors
to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a negative effect on the trading price of our
securities or affect our ability to access the capital markets and could result in regulatory proceedings against us by, among
others, the SEC. In addition, a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting, which may lead to
deficiencies in the preparation of financial statements, could lead to litigation claims against us. The defense of any such
claims may cause the diversion of management’s attention and resources, and we may be required to pay damages if any
such claims or proceedings are not resolved in our favor. Any litigation, even if resolved in our favor, could cause us to
incur significant legal and other expenses or cause delays in our public reporting. Such events could harm our business,
affect our ability to raise capital and adversely affect the trading price of our securities.
Risks Related to Our Industry
Our earnings may decrease, or losses increase, because of changes in prevailing interest rates.
Our profitability is directly affected by changes in prevailing interest rates over which we have no control. The following
are certain material risks we face related to changes in interest rates:
Originations:
● an increase in interest rates could adversely affect our loan originations volume because refinancing an existing
loan would be less attractive for homeowners and qualifying for a purchase money loan may be more difficult for
consumers;
● an increase in interest rates could also adversely affect our production margins due to increased competition
among originators;
Servicing:
● a decrease in interest rates may increase prepayment speeds which may lead to (i) increased MSR amortization;
(ii) decrease in servicing fees; and (iii) decrease in the value of our MSRs;
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Debt:
● an increase in interest rates would increase the cost of servicing our outstanding debt or the costs associated with
financing new debt, including our ability to finance loan originations.
Any of the foregoing could materially and adversely affect our business, consolidated financial condition and results of
operations.
The pandemic has impaired and may continue to impair the ability of borrowers to repay outstanding loans or other
obligations, resulting in increases in forbearances and/or delinquencies, which could negatively impact our business.
Borrowers that have been negatively impacted by the pandemic may not remit payments of principal and interest
relating to their mortgage loans on a timely basis, or at all. This could be due to an inability to make such payments, an
unwillingness to make such payments, or a temporary or permanent waiver of the requirement to make such payments,
including under the terms of any applicable forbearance, modification, or maturity extension agreement or program. On
March 27, 2020, the CARES Act was enacted to provide financial assistance to individuals and businesses affected by the
pandemic. The CARES Act provides certain measures to support individuals in maintaining solvency through monetary
relief, including in the form of loan forgiveness/forbearance. The CARES Act, among other things, provides any
homeowner with a federally-backed mortgage who is experiencing financial hardship the option of up to six months of
forbearance on their mortgage payments, with a potential to extend that forbearance for another six months. During the
forbearance period, no additional fees, penalties or interest can accrue on the homeowner’s account. The CARES Act also
established a temporary moratorium on foreclosures. Transactions we enter into to finance loans with warehouse
counterparties and to sell whole loans to third parties, may be negatively impacted by the pandemic related payment
forbearances, waiver, or other payment deferral program, including but not limited to, reducing proceeds from these
transactions, require us to repurchase impacted loans and reduce proceeds or incur losses on loans sold that are within
forbearance or other deferred payment programs. To the extent borrower forbearance affects our ability to finance and sell
loans to third parties, it may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
A decline in real estate values may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operation.
If there is a decline in real estate values, borrowers may default on our residential loans. A reduction in real estate
values reduces a borrower’s equity in their home which generally increases the underlying loan to value ratio and leads to a
corresponding risk of default. If a borrower defaults and we have sold the loan or the servicing of the loan, we may violate
our representations and warranties from the sale and be obligated to repurchase the loan.
Our business is affected by changes in the state of the general economy and the financial markets, and a slowdown or
downturn in the general economy or the financial markets could adversely affect our results of operations.
Our customer activity is intrinsically linked to the health of the economy generally and of the financial markets
specifically. In addition to the economic factors, a downturn in the real estate or commercial markets generally could cause
our customers and potential customers to exit the market for loans. As a result, we believe that fluctuations, disruptions,
instability or downturns in the general economy and the financial markets could disproportionately affect demand for our
lending products. In addition, the spread of the Covid-19 virus has caused economic disruption worldwide, the effect of
which may be over an extended period of time and may have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results
of operations. If such conditions occur and persist, our business and financial results, including our liquidity and our ability
to fulfill our debt obligations, could be materially adversely affected.
Replacement of the LIBOR benchmark interest rate may have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition or
results of operations.
On July 27, 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA), a regulator of financial services firms in the United
Kingdom, announced that it intends to stop persuading or compelling banks to submit London Interbank Offered Rate
(LIBOR) rates after 2021. The FCA and the submitting LIBOR banks have indicated they will support the LIBOR indices
through 2021 to allow for an orderly transition to an alternative reference rate. In the United States, efforts to identify a set
of alternative U.S. dollar reference interest rates include proposals by the Alternative Reference Rates Committee of the
Federal Reserve Board. Other financial services regulators and industry groups are evaluating the possible phase-out
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of LIBOR and the development of alternate reference rate indices or reference rates. Many of our assets and liabilities are
indexed to LIBOR. Recent announcements by government-sponsored entities such as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac,
suggest that the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) will become the LIBOR replacement for the industry. We are
evaluating the potential impact of the possible SOFR replacement of the LIBOR benchmark interest rate, but are not able to
predict what the impact of such a transition will have on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. The
market transition away from LIBOR to an alternative reference rate is complex and could have a range of adverse effects
on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In particular any such transition could:
●
●
●

adversely affect the interest rates paid or received on, the revenue and expenses associate with, and the value of
our floating-rate obligations, loans, derivatives, and other financial instruments tied to LIBOR rates, or other
securities or financial arrangements given LIBOR’s role in determining market interest rates globally;
prompt inquiries or other actions from regulators in respect of our preparation and readiness for the replacement
of LIBOR with an alternative reference rate; and/or
require the transition to or development of appropriate systems and analytics to effectively transition our risk
management processes from LIBOR-based products to those based on the applicable alternative pricing
benchmark.

Litigation in the mortgage industry related to securitizations against issuers, sellers, servicers, originators, underwriters
and others may adversely affect our business operations.
As defaults, delinquencies, foreclosures, and losses in the real estate market occur, there have been lawsuits by
various investors, insurers, underwriters and others against various participants in securitizations, such as sponsors,
depositors, underwriters, servicers and loan sellers. Some lawsuits have alleged that the mortgage loans had origination
defects, that there were misrepresentations made about the mortgage loans and that the parties failed to properly disclose
the quality of the mortgage loans or repurchase defective loans wherein servicing standards were not maintained or that
there were other misrepresentations or false representations. Historically, we both securitized and sold mortgage loans to
third parties that may have been deposited or included in pools for securitizations. As a result, we may incur significant
legal and other expenses in defending against claims and litigation and we may be required to pay settlement costs,
damages, penalties or other charges which could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
Risks Related to Regulation
Loss or suspension of our approvals, or limitations placed on our delivery volume, or the potential limitation or winddown of, the role Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae play in the residential mortgage-backed security (MBS)
market have had, and could continue to have, an adverse effect on our business, operations and financial condition.
We originate loans which are intended to be eligible for sale to Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, (together, the GSEs),
government insured or guaranteed loans, such as FHA, VA and USDA loans, and loans eligible for Ginnie Mae securities
issuance (collectively, the Agencies), in addition to other investors and counterparties (collectively, the Counterparties). We
also have serviced loans sold to the GSE’s, as well as securitized with the Agencies and other Counterparties. We believe
that having the ability to sell loans directly to these GSE’s, Agencies, and Counterparties and issue securities gives us an
advantage in the overall mortgage origination market. The role of the GSE’s, Agencies, and Counterparties may become
limited over time in their ability to guarantee mortgages or purchase mortgage loans. Conversely, the GSEs, Agencies, and
Counterparties may propose to implement reforms relating to borrowers, lenders, and investors in the mortgage market,
including reducing the maximum size of a purchasable loan, phasing-in a minimum down payment requirement for
borrowers, changing underwriting standards, and increasing accountability and transparency in the securitization process.
The GSEs, Agencies, and Counterparties may also limit the amount of loans a company can sell to them based upon the
company’s net worth or the performance of loans sold to them. These limitations and reforms could negatively impact our
financial condition, net earnings and growth.
We have historically serviced loans on behalf of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, as well as loans that have been
delivered into securitization programs sponsored by Ginnie Mae and other Counterparties in connection with the issuance
of agency guaranteed mortgage-backed securities and other non-agency securitizations. These entities establish the base
service fee to compensate us for servicing loans as well as the assessment of fines and penalties that may be imposed upon
us for failing to meet servicing standards.
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The extent and timing of any regulatory reform regarding the GSEs, Agencies, Counterparties and the home
mortgage market, as well as any effect on the Company’s business operations and financial results, are uncertain. It is
important for us to sell or securitize the loans we originate and, when doing so, maintain the option to also sell the related
MSR's associated with these loans. Prepayment speeds on loans generated through our retail direct channel have been a
concern for some investors dating back to 2016, which has resulted and could further result in adverse pricing or delays in
our ability to sell or securitize loans and related MSRs on a timely and profitable basis. During the fourth quarter of 2017,
Fannie Mae sufficiently limited the manner and volume for our deliveries of eligible loans such that we elected to cease
deliveries to them and we expanded our whole loan investor base for these loans. In 2019, with the creation of the uniform
mortgage-backed securities (UMBS) market, which was intended to improve liquidity and align prepayment speeds across
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac securities, Freddie Mac raised concerns about the high prepayment speeds of our loans
generated through our retail direct channel. During 2019 and 2020, we further expanded our investor base and completed
servicing released loan sales to non-GSE whole loan investors and expect to continue to utilize these alternative exit
strategies for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac eligible loans. In July 2020, we received notification from Freddie Mac that
our eligibility to sell whole loans to Freddie Mac was suspended, without cause. While we believe that the overall volume
delivered under purchase commitments to the GSE’s was not material to our overall operations for 2019 and 2020, we are
committed to operating actively and in good standing with our broad range of capital markets counterparties. We continue
to take steps to manage our prepayment speeds to be more consistent with our industry comparables and to reestablish the
full confidence and delivery mechanisms to our investor base, but we cannot provide any assurance that our eligibility to
sell whole loans to Freddie Mac will be restored.
Substantive changes to risk-based and collateral eligibility requirements by any of the GSE’s, Agencies or
Counterparties may affect our ability to originate, deliver or securitize loans. These changes may also be implemented by a
GSE, Agency or Counterparty without advance notice. If the GSEs, Agencies or Counterparties cease to exist, wind down,
or otherwise significantly change their business operations or if we lose our approved seller/servicer or approved
counterparty status with the GSEs, Agencies or Counterparties, or if one of these parties materially limits the amount of
loans we can sell to them, or we are otherwise unable to sell loans to them there could be a material adverse effect on our
mortgage lending operations, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.
Regulatory laws affecting our operations, or interpretations of them, may affect our mortgage lending operations.
Existing laws, regulations, or regulatory policies and changes thereto or to the way they are interpreted can affect
whether and to what extent we may be able to expand our mortgage lending activities and compliance with such
requirements could expose us to fines, penalties or licensing restrictions that could affect our operations. Many states and
local governments and the Federal government have enacted or may enact laws or regulations that restrict or prohibit some
provisions in some programs or businesses that we currently participate in or plan to participate in the future. As such, we
cannot be sure that in the future we will be able to engage in activities that were similar to those we engaged or participated
in in the past thereby limiting our ability to commence new operations. As a result, we might be at a competitive
disadvantage which would affect our operations and profitability.
We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations related to the mortgage industry that generally
regulate interest rates and other charges, require certain disclosures, and require applicable licensing. In addition, other state
and local laws, public policy and general principles of equity relating to the protection of consumers, unfair and deceptive
practices and debt collection practices may apply to the origination, servicing and collection of our loans. Violations of
certain provisions of these federal and state laws and regulations may limit our ability to collect all or part of the principal
of or interest on the loans and in addition could subject us to damages and additional lawsuits, could result in the
mortgagors rescinding the loans whether held by us or subsequent holders of the loans, or could cause us to repurchase the
loan and thereby suffer a loss on the transaction. In addition, such violations could subject us to fines and penalties imposed
by state and federal regulators and cause us to be in default under our credit and repurchase lines and could result in the
loss of licenses held by us including the ability to expand or continue lending in certain areas.
The regulatory changes in loan originator compensation, qualified mortgage requirements and other regulatory
restrictions may put us at a competitive disadvantage to our competitors. Since some banks and financial institutions are not
subject to the same regulatory changes as mortgage lenders, they could have an advantage over independent mortgage
lenders. As a result of the nature of our operations, our capital, costs, source of funds and other similar factors may affect
our ability to maintain and grow lending.
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The CFPB has implemented rules and interpretations with strict residential mortgage loan compliance and
underwriting standards as called for in the Dodd-Frank Act. The Act imposes significant liability for violation of those
underwriting standards, and offers certain protection from that liability only for loans that comply with tight limitations and
that do not contain certain alternative features (like balloon payments or interest only provisions). Those requirements and
subsequent changes may affect our ability to originate residential mortgage loans or the profitability of those operations.
The CFPB continues to be active in its monitoring of the loan origination and servicing sectors, and its rules increase
our regulatory compliance burden and associated costs.
We are subject to the regulatory, supervisory and examination authority of the CFPB, which has oversight of
federal and state non-depository lending and servicing institutions, including residential mortgage originators and loan
servicers. The CFPB has rulemaking authority with respect to many of the federal consumer protection laws applicable to
mortgage lenders and servicers, including TILA and RESPA and the Fair Debt Collections Practices Act. The CFPB has
issued a number of regulations under the Dodd-Frank Act relating to loan origination and servicing activities, including
ability-to-repay and “Qualified Mortgage” standards and other origination standards and practices as well as servicing
requirements that address, among other things, periodic billing statements, certain notices and acknowledgements, prompt
crediting of borrowers’ accounts for payments received, additional notice, review and timing requirements with respect to
delinquent borrowers, loss mitigation, prompt investigation of complaints by borrowers, and lender-placed insurance
notices. The CFPB has also amended provisions of Home Ownership and Equity Protection Act regarding the
determination of high-cost mortgages, and of Regulation B, to implement additional requirements under the Equal Credit
Opportunity Act with respect to valuations, including appraisals and automated valuation models. The CFPB has also
issued guidance to loan servicers to address potential risks to borrowers that may arise in connection with transfers of
servicing. Additionally, the CFPB has increased the focus on lender liability and vendor management across the mortgage
servicing and settlement services industries, which may vary depending on the services being performed.
The CFPB’s examinations have increased, and will likely continue to increase, our administrative and compliance
costs. They could also greatly influence the availability and cost of residential mortgage credit and increase servicing costs
and risks. These increased costs of compliance, the effect of these rules on the lending industry and loan servicing, and any
failure in our ability to comply with the new rules by their effective dates, could be detrimental to our business. The CFPB
also issued guidelines on sending examiners to banks and other institutions that service and/or originate mortgages to assess
whether consumers’ interests are protected. The CFPB has conducted routine examinations of our business and will
conduct future examinations.
The CFPB also has broad enforcement powers, and can order, among other things, rescission or reformation of
contracts, the refund of moneys or the return of real property, restitution, disgorgement or compensation for unjust
enrichment, the payment of damages or other monetary relief, public notifications regarding violations, limits on activities
or functions, remediation of practices, external compliance monitoring and civil money penalties. The CFPB has been
active in investigations and enforcement actions and, when necessary, has issued civil money penalties to parties the CFPB
determines have violated the laws and regulations it enforces. We anticipate an increase in regulatory enforcement activity
by the CFPB under the new Biden administration. Our failure to comply with the federal consumer protection laws, rules
and regulations to which we are subject, whether actual or alleged, could expose us to enforcement actions or potential
litigation liabilities.
In addition, the occurrence of one or more of the foregoing events or a determination by any court or regulatory
agency that our policies and procedures do not comply with applicable law could impact our business operations. For
example, if the violation is related to our servicing operations it could lead to downgrades by one or more rating agencies, a
transfer of our servicing responsibilities, increased delinquencies on mortgage loans we service or any combination of these
events. Such a determination could also require us to modify our servicing standards. The expense of complying with new
or modified servicing standards may be substantial. Any such changes or revisions may have a material impact on our
servicing operations, which could be detrimental to our business.
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Regulatory proceedings and related matters could adversely affect us.
We have been, and may in the future become, involved in regulatory proceedings. We consider most of the
proceedings to be in the normal course of our business or typical for the industry; however, it is inherently difficult to
assess the outcome of these matters, and we may not prevail in any proceedings or litigation. There could be substantial
cost and management diversion in such litigation and proceedings, and any adverse determination could have a material
adverse effect on our business, reputation, or our financial condition and results of our operations.
Risks Related to Our Common Stock
Our share price has been and may continue to be volatile and the trading of our shares may be limited.
The market price of our securities has been volatile. We cannot guarantee that a consistently active trading market
for our securities will continue. In addition, there can be no assurances that such markets will continue or that any shares
which may be purchased may be sold without incurring a loss. Any such market price variation of our shares may not
necessarily bear any relationship to our book value, assets, past operating results, financial condition or any other
established criteria of value, and may not be indicative of the market price for the shares in the future. The market price of
our common stock is likely to continue to be highly volatile and could be significantly affected by factors including:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

unanticipated fluctuations in our operating results;
general market and mortgage industry conditions;
mortgage and real estate fees;
delinquencies and defaults on outstanding mortgages;
loss severities on loans and REO;
prepayments on mortgages;
the regulatory environment and results of our mortgage originations;
mark to market adjustments related to the fair value of loans held-for-sale, mortgage servicing rights, longterm debt and derivatives;
interest rates; and
litigation.

In addition, significant price and volume fluctuations in the stock market have particularly affected the market
prices for the securities of mortgage companies such as ours. Furthermore, general conditions in the mortgage industry may
adversely affect the market price of our securities. These broad market fluctuations have adversely affected and may
continue to adversely affect the market price of our securities. If our results of operations fail to meet the expectations of
security analysts or investors in a future quarter, the market price of our securities could also be materially adversely
affected and we may experience difficulty in raising capital.
Issuances of additional shares of our common stock may adversely affect its market price and significantly dilute
stockholders.
In order to support our business objectives, we may raise capital through the sale of equity or convertible
securities, including through the shelf registration statement that was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange
Commission on December 19, 2019. The issuance or sale, or the proposed sale, of substantial amounts of our common
stock in the public market could materially adversely affect the market price of our common stock or other outstanding
securities and dilute our book value per share.
We do not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future and we may be restricted in paying dividends on our
common stock.
We do not anticipate paying any dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future as we intend to retain
any future earnings for funding growth. In addition, our existing and any future warehouse facilities or other contracts may
contain covenants prohibiting dividend payments upon an occurrence of a default or otherwise. Furthermore, if we do not
succeed in appealing and reversing an adverse judgment on the purposed class action relating to our Series B Preferred
Stock and we are required to pay dividends on the Series B Preferred Stock, we will be prohibited from paying dividends
on our common stock until such preferred stock dividends are paid. As a result, you should not rely on an investment in
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our stock if you require dividend income. Capital appreciation, if any, of our stock may be your sole source of gain for the
foreseeable future.
Our principal stockholders beneficially own a large portion of our stock, and accordingly, may have control over
stockholder matters and sales may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
As of February 28, 2021, Todd M. Pickup and Richard H. Pickup, and their respective affiliates beneficially
owned approximately 13.3% and 26.0%, respectively, of our outstanding common stock. Their beneficial ownership
includes 395,349 shares and 534,884 shares of our common stock that Todd Pickup and Richard Pickup, respectively, has
the right to acquire at any time by converting the outstanding principal balance of Amended Convertible Notes due May 9,
2022, at the initial conversion price of $21.50 per share. These stockholders could exercise significant influence over our
Company. Such ownership may have the effect of control over substantially all matters requiring stockholder approval,
including the election of directors. Furthermore, such ownership and control may have the effect of delaying or preventing
a change in control of our Company, impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination involving
our Company or discourage a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our
Company. We do not expect that these stockholders will vote together as a group. In addition, sales of significant amounts
of shares held by these stockholders, or the prospect of these sales, could adversely affect the market price of our common
stock.
Provisions in our charter documents and Maryland law, as well as our NOL Rights Plan, impose limitations that may
delay or prevent our acquisition by a third party.
Our charter and bylaws contain provisions that may make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of us
without the approval of our board of directors. These provisions include, among other things, advance notice for raising
business issues or making nominations at meetings and blank check preferred stock that allows our board of directors,
without stockholder approval, to designate and issue additional series of preferred stock with rights and terms as our board
of directors may determine, including rights to dividends and proceeds in a liquidation that are senior to our common stock.
We are also subject to certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law, which could delay, prevent or
deter a merger, acquisition, tender offer, proxy contest or other transaction that might otherwise result in our stockholders
receiving a premium over the price for their common stock or may otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders.
This includes the “business combinations” statute that prohibits transactions between a Maryland corporation and
“interested stockholders,” which is any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of our thenoutstanding voting stock for a period of five years unless the board of directors approved the transaction prior to the party’s
becoming an interested stockholder. The five-year period runs from the most recent date on which the interested
stockholder became an interested stockholder. The law also requires a super majority stockholder vote for such transactions
after the end of the five-year period.
Maryland law also provides that “control shares” of a Maryland corporation acquired in a “control share
acquisition” have no voting rights except to the extent approved by a vote of two-thirds of the shares eligible to vote. The
control share acquisition statute would not apply to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share exchange if we were
a party to the transaction. The control share acquisition statute could have the effect of discouraging offers to acquire us
and of increasing the difficulty of consummating any such offers, even if our acquisition would be in our stockholders’ best
interests.
We have also adopted an NOL rights plan, pursuant to which each share of common stock also has a “right”
attached to it. Although the NOL rights plan was adopted to help preserve the value of certain deferred tax benefits,
including those generated by net operating losses, it also has the effect of deterring or delaying an acquisition of our
Company by a third party. The rights are not exercisable except upon the occurrence of certain takeover-related events—
most importantly, the acquisition by a third party (the “Acquiring Person”) of more than 4.99% of our outstanding voting
shares. Once triggered, the rights entitle the stockholders, other than the Acquiring Person, to certain “flip-in”, “flip-over”
and exchange rights. The effect of triggering the rights is to expose the Acquiring Person to severe dilution of its ownership
interest, as the shares of our common stock (or any surviving corporation) are offered to all of the stockholders other than
the Acquiring Person at a steep discount to their market value. We have in the past, and may in the future, grant waivers to
the limitations imposed by our NOL rights plan. This may affect the holdings of those shareholders who obtained the
waivers and may affect the protection of, and hence the ability to make use of, our NOL’s.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Our primary executive and administrative offices are located at 19500 Jamboree Road, Irvine, California 92612
where we have a premises lease expiring in September 2024. The premises consist of four floors where we occupy
approximately 119,600 square feet.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Information with respect to this item may be found in Note 13 – Commitments and Contingencies in the
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which information is
incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR COMPANY’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Our common stock is currently listed on the NYSE American under the symbol “IMH”.
On March 5, 2021, the last quoted price of our common stock on the NYSE American was $2.94 per share. As of
March 5, 2021, there were 182 holders of record, including holders who are nominees for an undetermined number of
beneficial owners, of our common stock.
Our Board of Directors authorizes in its discretion the payment of cash dividends on its common stock, subject to
an ongoing review of our profitability, liquidity and future operating cash requirements. We and some of our subsidiaries
are subject to restrictions under our warehouse borrowings and long-term debt agreements on our ability to pay dividends if
there is an event of default or otherwise. Plus, certain debt arrangements require the maintenance of ratios and contain
restrictive financial covenants that could limit our ability, and the ability of our subsidiaries, to pay dividends. Furthermore,
if we do not succeed in appealing and reversing an adverse judgment on the purported class action relating to our Series B
Preferred stock and we are required to pay dividends on the Series B Preferred stock, we will be prohibited from paying
dividends on our common stock until such preferred stock dividends are paid. The Board of Directors did not declare cash
dividends on our common stock during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. We do not expect to declare or pay
any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this Item.
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS
Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations contain certain forwardlooking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the
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Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Refer to Item 1. “Business—Forward- Looking Statements” for a complete description of
forward-looking statements. Refer to Item 1. “Business” for information on our businesses and operating segments.
Amounts are presented in thousands, except per share data or as otherwise indicated.
Market Conditions
The U.S. economy partially rebounded during the second half of 2020 after deteriorating rapidly into recession
earlier in the year driven by the COVID-19 pandemic which resulted in disruption to business and economic activity as
well as to the capital markets. COVID-19's effects in the U.S. and globally have been extreme, and the duration of the
pandemic and its ultimate repercussions continue to remain unclear as recently introduced vaccines may not be widely
available to the general public for some time and the number of individuals that choose to take the vaccine, once available,
is uncertain. Unprecedented government economic intervention has likely dampened the pandemic's effects, but at
uncertain long-term cost, and additional government support beyond what was enacted in 2020 is currently being
considered. U.S. Gross Domestic Product (GDP) contracted at an estimated annual rate of 3.5 percent in 2020, while the
total unemployment rate continues to remain high at 6.7 percent at December 2020 as compared with 3.5 percent at
December 2019. After cutting short-term interest rates by 150 basis points (to near zero) in March 2020 and announcing
various other initiatives to enhance liquidity and support the flow of credit to households and businesses, the Federal
Reserve Board held short-term interest rates steady for the remainder of the year and has indicated it expects short-term
rates to remain low for some time until it is confident that the economy is far along in a recovery.
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on economic conditions both in the United States and abroad during 2020
has created global uncertainty about the future economic environment including the length and depth of a global recession.
Concerns over interest rate levels, energy prices, domestic and global policy issues, including civil unrest in the U.S., trade
policy in the U.S. and geopolitical events as well as the implications of those events on the markets in general further add
to this global uncertainty. Interest rate levels and energy prices, in combination with global economic conditions, fiscal and
monetary policy and the level of regulatory and government scrutiny of financial institutions will continue to impact our
results in 2021 and beyond.
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Selected Financial Results for 2020 and 2019

(in thousands, except per share data)
Revenues:
Gain on sale of loans, net
Servicing (expense) fees, net
(Loss) gain on mortgage servicing rights, net
Real estate services fees, net
Other
Total revenues (losses)
Expenses:
Personnel expense
Business promotion
General, administrative and other
Total expenses
Operating earnings (loss):
Other income (expense):
Net interest income
Change in fair value of long-term debt
Change in fair value of net trust assets
Total other (expense) income
(Loss) earnings before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net (loss) earnings
Other comprehensive (loss) earnings:

For the Three Months Ended
December 31,
September 30,
December 31,
2020
2020
2019

For the Year Ended
December 31,
December 31,
2020
2019

$

$

$

Change in fair value of mortgage-backed securities
Change in fair value of instrument specific credit
risk
Total comprehensive (loss) earnings
Diluted weighted average common shares
Diluted (loss) earnings per share

21,455
(131)
(1,624)
294
3
19,997

$

19,261
(125)
(133)
332
143
19,478

$

26,072
2,973
353
753
220
30,371

14,004
3,603
(28,509)
1,312
1,498
(8,092)

$

98,830
12,943
(24,911)
3,287
479
90,628

13,255
552
6,116
19,923
74

11,186
104
4,828
16,118
3,360

18,005
3,091
6,284
27,380
2,991

52,880
3,859
24,534
81,273
(89,365)

65,191
9,319
22,410
96,920
(6,292)

708
(1,802)
(1,092)
(2,186)
(2,112)
78
(2,190)

720
(1,127)
(1,349)
(1,756)
1,604
4
1,600

2,501
(2,388)
(3,964)
(3,851)
(860)
(183)
(677)

5,137
1,899
(5,688)
1,348
(88,017)
133
(88,150)

9,330
(1,429)
(9,831)
(1,930)
(8,222)
(245)
(7,977)

$

—

$

—

$

(121)

$

—

—

$

505
(1,685)

$

362
1,962

$

474
(324)

$

(20)
(88,170)

$

909
(7,068)

$

21,255
(0.10)

$

21,256
0.08

$

21,220
(0.03)

$

21,251
(4.15)

$

21,189
(0.38)

Status of Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2020, net loss was $88.2 million, or $4.15 per diluted common share, as
compared to net loss of $8.0 million, or $0.38 per diluted common share in 2019. For the quarter ended December 31,
2020, net loss was $2.2 million, or $0.10 per diluted common share, as compared to net loss of $677 thousand, or $0.03 per
diluted common share in the fourth quarter of 2019, and net earnings of $1.6 million, or $0.08 per diluted common share, in
the third quarter of 2020.
Our financial results for the year ended December 31, 2020 were significantly impacted by the effects of the
pandemic, which ultimately led to the previously disclosed temporary suspension of our lending activities during the
second quarter of 2020. Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2020, increased to $88.2 million primarily due to a
significant loss on sale of loans, net in the first quarter of 2020, as well as mark-to-market decreases in fair value of our
MSRs, as a result of the significant decline in interest rates as a result of the pandemic. The $84.8 million decrease in gain
on sale of loans, net was primarily due to the remarking of our NonQM position in the first quarter of 2020, as a result of
substantial widening of spreads on credit assets and a reduction in available liquidity to finance credit assets, due to
potential pandemic related payment delinquencies and forbearances, causing a severe decline in the values assigned by
investors and counterparties for our NonQM position. In addition to the remarking of our NonQM position, which
decreased margins to 51 basis points (bps) as compared to 217 bps in 2019, the decrease in gain on sale of loans, net in
2020 was also partially due to origination volumes decreasing to $2.7 billion as compared to $4.5 billion in originations in
2019, as a result of our temporary suspension of lending activities during the second quarter of 2020. Other (expense)
income increased as compared to 2019 due to a decrease in loss on change in fair value of net trust assets, including REO
trust losses and a decrease in fair value on our long-term debt, partially offset by a decrease in net interest spread as a result
of the current interest rate environment.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures
For the year ended December 31, 2020, core loss before tax (as defined below) was $58.7 million, or $2.76 per
diluted common share, as compared to core earnings before tax of $15.8 million, or $0.75 per diluted common share, in
2019. For the quarter ended December 31, 2020, core earnings before tax were $3.3 million, or $0.16 per diluted common
share, as compared to core earnings before tax of $1.8 million, or $0.08 per diluted common share, for the fourth quarter of
2019, and core earnings before tax of $4.4 million, or $0.21 per diluted common share, for the third quarter of 2020.
To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are prepared and presented in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (GAAP), we use the following non-GAAP financial
measures: core earnings (loss) before tax and diluted core earnings (loss) per share before tax. Core earnings (loss) and
diluted core earnings (loss) per share are financial measurements calculated by adjusting GAAP net (loss) earnings before
tax to exclude certain non-cash items, such as fair value adjustments and mark-to-market of mortgage servicing rights
(MSRs), and legacy non-recurring expenses. The fair value adjustments are non-cash items which management believes
should be excluded when discussing our ongoing and future operations. We use core earnings (loss) before tax as we
believe that it more accurately reflects our current business operations of mortgage originations and further aids our
investors in understanding and analyzing our core operating results and comparing them among periods. These non-GAAP
financial measures are not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for net (loss) earnings before income
taxes, net (loss) earnings or diluted (loss) earnings per share (EPS) prepared in accordance with GAAP. The tables below
provide a reconciliation of net (loss) earnings before tax and diluted (loss) earnings per share to non-GAAP core earnings
(loss) before tax and per share non-GAAP core earnings (loss) before tax:

(in thousands, except per share data)

For the Three Months Ended
December 31, September 30, December 31,
2020
2020
2019

Net (loss) earnings before tax:

$

Change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights
Change in fair value of long-term debt
Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust
REO gains
Legal settlements and professional fees, for legacy
matters
Legacy corporate-owned life insurance
Severance
Core earnings (loss) before tax
$
Diluted weighted average common shares
Diluted core earnings (loss) per common share before
tax

(2,112) $

1,604

1,621
1,802

115
1,127

(3,691)
2,388

24,229
(1,899)

12,161
1,429

1,092

1,349

3,964

5,688

9,831

750
150
—
3,303

—
251
—
4,446

—
—
—
1,801

750
577
—
(58,672)

50
—
539
15,788

$

21,255
$

Diluted (loss) earnings per common share
$
Adjustments:
Income tax benefit
Change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights
Change in fair value of long-term debt
Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust
REO gains
Legal settlements and professional fees, for legacy
matters
Legacy corporate-owned life insurance
Severance
Diluted core earnings (loss) per common share before
$
tax

0.16

$

For the Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2020
2019

$

21,256

(860) $

$

21,220

$

0.21

$

(0.10) $

0.08

$

0.08

(88,017)

$

$

21,251
$

(2.76)

(8,222)

21,189
$

0.75

(0.03) $

(4.15) $

(0.38)

—
0.08
0.08

—
0.01
0.05

(0.01)
(0.18)
0.11

0.01
1.14
(0.09)

(0.01)
0.58
0.07

0.05

0.06

0.19

0.26

0.46

0.04
0.01
—

—
0.01
—

—
—
—

0.04
0.03
—

—
—
0.03

0.16

$

0.21

$

0.08

$

(2.76) $

0.75

Key Metrics
●

Total mortgage originations volumes were $810.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2020 and $2.7 billion in
2020 as compared to $1.5 billion in the fourth quarter of 2019 and $4.5 billion in 2019.
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●

NonQM mortgage origination volumes decreased to $2.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2020 and $264.0
million in 2020 as compared to $325.7 million in the fourth quarter of 2019 and $1.2 billion in 2019.

●

Gain on sale of loans, net decreased to $21.5 million, with margins of approximately 265 basis points (bps) in
the fourth quarter of 2020 as compared to $26.1 million, with margins of approximately 173 bps in the fourth
quarter of 2019. Gain on sale of loans, net decreased to $14.0 million, with margins of approximately 51 bps
for 2020 as compared to $98.8 million, with margins of approximately 217 bps for 2019.

●

Mortgage servicing portfolio decreased to $30.5 million at December 31, 2020 as compared to $4.9 billion at
December 31, 2019.

●

Servicing (expense) fees, net decreased to an expense of $131 thousand in the fourth quarter of 2020 and fees
of $3.6 million in 2020, as compared to fees of $3.0 in the fourth quarter of 2019 and $12.9 million in 2019.

●

Operating expenses (personnel, business promotion and general, administrative and other) decreased to $19.9
million in the fourth quarter of 2020 and $81.3 million in 2020, as compared to $27.4 million in the fourth
quarter of 2019 and $96.9 million in 2019.

Mortgage Lending
During the year ended 2020, total originations decreased 40% to $2.7 billion as compared to $4.5 billion in 2019.
Retail originations represented the largest channel of originations with 90%, or $2.5 billion, of total originations in 2020.
For the fourth quarter of 2020, our total originations decreased to $810.0 million, a 46% decrease, as compared to $1.5
billion for the fourth quarter of 2019. The overall reduction in originations as compared to 2019 was the result of our
temporary suspension of lending activities during the second quarter of 2020, due to uncertainty caused by the COVID-19
pandemic, which decreased our maximum origination capacity in the third and fourth quarters as a result of our reduced
headcount and inability to adequately replace lost headcount as a result of market competition for talent. The competition
for talent has continued to be a binding constraint not only for us as we re-engaged in lending and expand our lending
platform, but also industry wide.
For the year ended December 31,
(in millions)

2020

Originations by Channel:
Retail
Wholesale
Correspondent
Total originations

$

$

2,477.5
215.0
54.4
2,746.9

%

90 %
8
2
100 %

2019

$

$

3,505.7
816.3
226.8
4,548.8

%

77 %
18
5
100 %

Our loan products primarily include conventional loans for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and government loans
insured by FHA, VA and USDA.
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Originations by Loan Type:

For the Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019
% Change

(in millions)

Conventional
Government (1)
NonQM
Jumbo
Total originations
Weighted average FICO (2)
Weighted average LTV (3)
Weighted average coupon
Avg. loan size (in thousands)

$

$

2,401.6
70.6
264.0
10.7
2,746.9

$

769
57.7%
2.71%
357.1

$

$

3,123.3
184.0
1,241.5
—
4,548.8

$

743
65.9%
4.51%
362.0

(23)%
(62)
(79)
n/a
(40)%

(1) Includes government-insured loans including FHA, VA and USDA.
(2) FICO—Fair Isaac Corporation credit score.
(3) LTV—loan to value—measures ratio of loan balance to estimated property value based upon third party appraisal.

We announced previously, after our temporary pause in lending during the second quarter of 2020, that we reengaged lending activities on June 4, 2020, while continuing to maintain a defensive posture initially focusing on GSE,
Federal Housing Administration (FHA) and Veterans Affairs (VA) and originating with tighter underwriting guidelines, we
reentered the Non-Agency jumbo and NonQM market in the fourth quarter of 2020. As a result, for the year ended
December 31, 2020 the weighted average FICO for our originations increased as compared to 2019 and the weighted
average LTV decreased as compared to 2019.
We entered 2020 building on the strong momentum gained over the past year repositioning the Company and
focusing on our core NonQM lending business. During the first quarter of 2020, prior to the disruption caused by the
pandemic, we originated $261.6 million in NonQM loans and were on pace to exceed our fourth quarter 2019 NonQM
originations. As financial markets became dislocated in March 2020, spreads widened substantially on credit assets due to
potential COVID-19 pandemic related payment delinquencies and forbearances, causing a severe decline in the values
assigned by investors and counterparties for NonQM assets. As a result, we ceased originating NonQM loans in the
beginning of April 2020 as the decline in value increased the cost and liquidity to finance the product, reduced the ability to
finance additional NonQM loans with lenders as well as diminished stable capital markets distribution exits. In the fourth
quarter of 2020, we re-engaged lending in the NonQM market.
We continue to believe there is an underserved mortgage market for borrowers with good credit who may not meet
the qualified mortgage (QM) guidelines set out by the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau. The third quarter of 2020
saw the re-emergence of the NonQM market including capital markets distribution exits for the product. The re-emergence
of the NonQM market has been defined by products that fit within a much tighter credit box, which is where our NonQM
originations have been historically. We believe the quality, consistency and performance of our loans has been
demonstrated through the previous issuance of four securitizations since 2018. All four securitizations were 100% backed
by Impac NonQM collateral with the senior tranches receiving AAA ratings. In 2020, our NonQM originations had a
weighted average Fair Isaac Company credit score (FICO) of 730 and a weighted average LTV ratio of 68%. In 2019, our
NonQM originations had a weighted average FICO of 731 and a weighted average LTV of 70%.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the origination volume of NonQM loans was $264.0 million, or 10% of
total originations, as compared to $1.2 billion, or 27% of total originations, in 2019. In 2020, the retail channel accounted
for 22% of NonQM originations while the third-party origination (TPO) channels accounted for 78% of NonQM
production. In 2019, the retail channel accounted for 21% of NonQM originations, while the TPO channels accounted for
79% of NonQM production.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, refinance volume decreased $1.2 billion, or approximately 32%, as
compared to 2019. Our purchase money transactions declined 80% to $148.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2020, as compared to $735.8 million in 2019. The reduction in both refinance and purchase money transactions are from
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our aforementioned temporary suspension of lending activities during the second quarter of 2020.

(in millions)
Refinance
Purchase
Total originations

$
$

For the Year Ended December 31,
2020
%
2019
2,598.5
95 % $
3,813.0
148.4
5
735.8
2,746.9
4,548.8
100 % $

%
84 %
16
100 %

As of December 31, 2020, we have approximately 1,075 approved wholesale relationships with mortgage
brokerage companies and are approved to lend in 47 states. We have approximately 187 approved correspondent
relationships with banks, credit unions and mortgage companies and are approved to lend in 50 states; however, currently
approximately 86% of our mortgage originations were generated from California in 2020.
Mortgage Servicing
The following table includes information about our mortgage servicing portfolio:

(in millions)
Ginnie Mae
Freddie Mac
Fannie Mae
Total servicing portfolio
Number of loans
Weighted average coupon
Weighted average FICO
Weighted average LTV
Avg. Portfolio balance (in millions)
Avg. Loan size (in thousands)
(1)

At December 31,
2020
$
30.5
—
—
$
30.5

% 60+ days
At December 31,
delinquent (1)
2019
2.00 % $
105.4
0.00
4,826.2
0.00
0.2
4,931.8
2.00 % $

50
2.61%
738
85.0%
1,633.0
610.5

17,756
3.93%
748
63.0%
5,735.0
277.8

$
$

$
$

% 60+ days
delinquent (1)
2.41 %
0.47
0.00
0.51 %

Based on loan count.

At December 31 2020, the mortgage servicing portfolio decreased to $30.5 million as compared to $4.9 billion at
December 31, 2019. The decrease in the mortgage servicing portfolio was primarily due to the sale of $4.2 billion in UPB
of Freddie Mac and GNMA MSRs in the second and third quarters of 2020. Throughout 2019 and 2020, we have
selectively retained mortgage servicing as well as increase whole loan sales on a servicing released basis to investors. In
addition to the servicing sales in 2020, as a result of retaining a smaller portion of servicing on loans sold to third parties
the runoff of the portfolio has exceeded the servicing retained. The servicing portfolio generated net servicing fees of
$3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, a 72% decrease over the net servicing fees of $12.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019, as a result of the aforementioned servicing sales as well as a portfolio runoff caused by the
decrease in mortgage interest rates which began in 2019. The sale of MSRs during 2020, will result in net servicing
expense going forward as a result of a small balance servicing portfolio as well as interim servicing costs.
Delinquencies within the servicing portfolio are 2.0% for 60+ days delinquent as of December 31, 2020 as
compared to 0.51% as of December 31, 2019. The increase is the result of the small UPB of GNMA servicing we retained
as of December 31, 2020, as compared to the blended delinquency rates across our entire servicing portfolio for 2019.
Real Estate Services
We provide portfolio loss mitigation and real estate services including real estate owned (REO) surveillance and
disposition services, default surveillance and loss recovery services, short sale and real estate brokerage services, portfolio
monitoring and reporting services. The source of revenue for this segment is primarily from the long-term mortgage
portfolio, along with a small number of third party clients as well.
As the long-term mortgage portfolio continues to decline, we expect real estate services and the related revenues
to decline. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the real estate services segment posted a net loss of $173 thousand as
compared to net earnings of $1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.
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Long-Term Mortgage Portfolio
The long-term mortgage portfolio primarily includes (a) the residual interests in securitizations, (b) master
servicing rights from the securitizations and (c) long-term debt.
Although we have seen some stabilization and improvement in defaults, the portfolio is expected to continue to
suffer losses and may continue for the foreseeable future. Such losses have been included in estimating the fair value of the
related securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, our residual interest in securitizations (represented by the difference
between total trust assets and total trust liabilities) generated cash flows of $2.1 million as compared to $1.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019. The increase in cash flows from our residual interest in securitizations during 2020 was
due to the historically low interest rate environment which has allowed for an increase in excess spread to be remitted to the
residual holder and an increase in prepayments which have paid off older vintage bonds as well as cure overcollateralization deficiencies in certain trusts. At December 31, 2020, our residual interest in securitizations (represented
by the difference between total trust assets and total trust liabilities) increased to $16.7 million compared to $15.5 million at
December 31, 2019. The increase in residual fair value at December 31, 2020 was the result of excess spread and an
increase in prepayments due to the current interest rate environment partially offset by an increase in loss assumptions for
certain trusts as compared to 2019.
For additional information regarding the long-term mortgage portfolio refer to Financial Condition and Results of
Operations below.
Corporate
The corporate segment includes all corporate services groups, public company costs as well as debt expense
related to the Convertible Notes and capital leases. This corporate services group supports all operating segments. A
portion of the corporate services costs are allocated to the operating segments. The costs associated with being a public
company, unused space for growth as well as the interest expense related to the Convertible Notes and capital leases is not
allocated to our operating segments and remains in this segment.
For additional information regarding the corporate segment refer to Results of Operations by Business Segment
below.
Critical Accounting Policies
We define critical accounting policies as those that are important to the portrayal of our financial condition and
results of operations. Our critical accounting policies require management to make difficult and complex judgments that
rely on estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain due to the effect of changing market conditions
and/or consumer behavior. In determining which accounting policies meet this definition, we considered our policies with
respect to the valuation of our assets and liabilities and estimates and assumptions used in determining those valuations. We
believe the most critical accounting issues that require the most complex and difficult judgments and that are particularly
susceptible to significant change to our financial condition and results of operations include the following:
●
●
●
●
●

fair value measurements;
variable interest entities and transfers of financial assets and liabilities;
repurchase reserve;
interest income and interest expense; and
income taxes.

Fair Value Measurements
Financial Accounting Standards Board—Accounting Standards Codification FASB ASC 820-10-35 defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and outlines a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (also referred to as an exit
price). Fair value measurements are categorized into a three-level hierarchy based on the extent to which the
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measurement relies on observable market inputs in measuring fair value. Level 1, which is the highest priority in the fair
value hierarchy, is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 is based on
observable market-based inputs, other than quoted prices, in active markets for similar assets or liabilities. Level 3, which
is the lowest priority in the fair value hierarchy, is based on unobservable inputs. Assets and liabilities are classified within
this hierarchy in their entirety based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
The use of fair value to measure our financial instruments is fundamental to our financial statements and is a
critical accounting estimate because a substantial portion of our assets and liabilities are recorded at estimated fair value.
Financial instruments classified as Level 3 are generally based on unobservable inputs, and the process to determine fair
value is generally more subjective and involves a high degree of management judgment and assumptions. These
assumptions may have a significant effect on our estimates of fair value, and the use of different assumptions, as well as
changes in market conditions and interest rates, could have a material effect on our results of operations or financial
condition.
Mortgage loans held-for-sale—We elected to carry our mortgage loans held-for-sale originated or acquired from
the mortgage lending operation at fair value. Fair value is based on quoted market prices, where available, prices for other
traded mortgage loans with similar characteristics, and purchase commitments and bid information received from market
participants.
Mortgage servicing rights—We elected to carry all of our mortgage servicing rights arising from our mortgage
lending operation at fair value. The fair value of mortgage servicing rights is based upon a discounted cash flow model.
The valuation model incorporates assumptions that market participants would use in estimating the fair value of servicing.
These assumptions include estimates of prepayment speeds, discount rate, cost to service, escrow account earnings,
contractual servicing fee income, prepayment and late fees, among other considerations.
Derivative financial instruments—We utilize certain derivative instruments in the ordinary course of our business
to manage our exposure to changes in interest rates. These derivative instruments include to-be-announced MBS and
forward loan sale commitments (TBA MBS or Hedging Instruments). We also issue interest rate lock commitments
(IRLCs) to borrowers in connection with single family mortgage loan originations. We recognize all derivative instruments
at fair value. The estimated fair value of IRLCs are based on underlying loan types with similar characteristics using the
TBA MBS market, which is actively quoted and easily validated through external sources. The data inputs used in this
valuation include, but are not limited to, loan type, underlying loan amount, note rate, loan program, and expected sale date
of the loan, adjusted for current market conditions. These valuations are adjusted at the loan level to consider the servicing
release premium and loan pricing adjustments specific to each loan. For all IRLCs, the base value is then adjusted for the
anticipated current secondary market prices for underlying loans and estimated servicing value with similar coupons,
maturities and credit quality, subject to the anticipated loan funding probability (Pull through Rate). The fair value of the
Hedging Instruments is based on the actively quoted TBA MBS market using observable inputs related to characteristics of
the underlying MBS stratified by product, coupon and settlement date and are recorded in other liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets. The initial and subsequent changes in value of IRLCs and forward sale commitments are a
component of gain on sale of loans, net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
Long-term debt—Long-term debt (consisting of junior subordinated notes) is reported at fair value within the
long-term mortgage portfolio. These securities are measured based upon an analysis prepared by management, which
utilizes a discounted cash flow analysis which takes into consideration our credit risk. Unrealized gains and losses are
recognized in earnings in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss as change in fair
value of long-term debt. Our estimate of the fair value of the long-term debt requires us to exercise significant judgment as
to the timing and amount of the future obligation. Changes in assumptions resulting from changes in our credit risk profile
will affect the estimated fair value of the long-term debt and those changes are recorded as a component of net earnings. A
change in assumptions associated with the improvement in our credit risk profile could result in a significant increase in the
estimated fair value of the long-term debt which would result in a significant charge to net earnings.
Variable Interest Entities and Transfers of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Historically, we securitized mortgages in the form of collateralized mortgage obligations (CMO) and real estate
mortgage investment conduits (REMICs), (collectively, securitizations), which were either consolidated or unconsolidated
depending on the design of the securitization structure. These securitizations are evaluated for consolidation in accordance
with the variable interest model of FASB ASC 810-10-25. A variable interest entity (VIE) is consolidated in the financial
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statements if the Company has the power to direct activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the
VIE and has the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant
to the VIE. A variable interest entity (VIE) is consolidated in the financial statements if the Company has the power to
direct activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the VIE and has the obligation to absorb losses
or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. We consolidate certain VIEs
where we are both the primary beneficiary of the residual interests in the securitization trusts as well as the master servicer,
which gives us the ability to unilaterally cause the securitization trust to return specific mortgages, other than through a
clean up call. The assets and liabilities that are included in the consolidated VIEs include the mortgage loans and real estate
owned collateralizing the debt securities which are included in securitized mortgage trust assets on our consolidated
balance sheets and the debt securities payable to investors which are included in securitized mortgage trust liabilities on our
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
For consolidated securitizations that are structured as secured borrowings, we recognize interest income over the
life of the securitized mortgage collateral and interest expense incurred for the securitized mortgage borrowings.
Investors in the securities issued by the securitization trust have no recourse to our non securitized assets or to us
and have no ability to require us to provide additional assets, but rather have recourse only to the assets transferred to the
trust.
Repurchase Reserve
When we sell loans through whole loan sales we are required to make normal and customary representations and
warranties about the loans to the purchaser. Our whole loan sale agreements generally require us to repurchase loans if we
breach a representation or warranty given to the loan purchaser. In addition, we may be required to repurchase loans as a
result of borrower fraud or if a payment default occurs on a mortgage loan shortly after its sale.
Investors may request us to repurchase loans or to indemnify them against losses on certain loans which the
investors believe either do not comply with applicable representations or warranties or defaulted shortly after its purchase.
Upon completion of our investigation regarding the investor claims, we may reject the investor claim, repurchase or
provide indemnification on certain loans, as appropriate. We maintain a liability reserve for expected losses on dispositions
of loans expected to be repurchased or on which indemnification is expected to be provided. We regularly evaluate the
adequacy of this repurchase liability reserve based on trends in repurchase and indemnification requests, actual loss
experience, settlement negotiations, and other relevant factors including economic conditions.
We record a provision for losses relating to such representations and warranties as part of each loan sale
transaction. The method used to estimate the liability for representations and warranties is a function of the representations
and warranties given and considers a combination of factors, including, but not limited to, estimated future defaults and
loan repurchase rates and the potential severity of loss in the event of defaults and the probability of reimbursement by the
correspondent loan seller. We establish a liability at the time loans are sold and continually update our estimated repurchase
liability. The level of the repurchase liability for representations and warranties is difficult to estimate and requires
considerable management judgment. The level of mortgage loan repurchase losses is dependent on economic factors,
investor demand strategies, and other external conditions that may change over the lives of the underlying loans.
Interest Income and Interest Expense
Interest income on securitized mortgage collateral and interest expense on securitized mortgage borrowings are
recorded using the effective interest method for the period based on the previous quarter-end’s estimated fair value. Interest
expense on long-term debt is recorded using the effective interest method based on estimated future interest rates and cash
flows.
Income Taxes
Provision for income taxes is calculated using the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of
deferred income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized and reflect the net tax effect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
income tax purposes and certain changes in the valuation allowance. Deferred tax assets are recognized subject to
management’s judgment that realization is more likely than not. A valuation allowance is recognized for a deferred tax
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asset if, based on the weight of the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax asset
will not be realized. In making such judgments, significant weight is given to evidence that can be objectively verified. We
provide a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets if, based on available evidence, it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. In determining the adequacy of the valuation allowance,
we consider all forms of evidence, including: (1) historic earnings or losses; (2) the ability to realize deferred tax assets
through carry back to prior periods; (3) anticipated taxable income resulting from the reversal of taxable temporary
differences; (4) tax planning strategies; and (5) anticipated future earnings exclusive of the reversal of taxable temporary
differences.
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Financial Condition
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
The following table shows the condensed consolidated balance sheets for the following periods:
(in thousands, except per share data)

ASSETS
Cash
Restricted cash
Mortgage loans held-for-sale
Mortgage servicing rights
Securitized mortgage trust assets
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Warehouse borrowings
Convertible notes
Long-term debt (Par value; $62,000)
Securitized mortgage trust liabilities
Repurchase reserve
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Total equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Book value per share
Tangible book value per share

December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

$

54,150
5,602
164,422
339
2,103,269
41,524
$ 2,369,306

$

$

151,932
20,000
44,413
2,086,557
7,054
43,699
2,353,655
15,651
$ 2,369,306

$

$
$

0.74
0.74

$
Change

%
Change

24,666
12,466
782,143
41,470
2,634,746
50,788
3,546,279

$

29,484
(6,864)
(617,721)
(41,131)
(531,477)
(9,264)
$ (1,176,973)

120 %
(55)
(79)
(99)
(20)
(18)
(33)%

$

$

701,563
24,996
45,434
2,619,210
8,969
41,870
3,442,042
104,237
3,546,279

(549,631)
(4,996)
(1,021)
(532,653)
(1,915)
1,829
(1,088,387)
(88,586)
$ (1,176,973)

(78)%
(20)
(2)
(20)
(21)
4
(32)
(85)
(33)%

$
$

4.90
4.90

$
$

(85)%
(85)%

$

(4.16)
(4.16)

At December 31, 2020, cash increased to $54.2 million from $24.7 million at December 31, 2019. Cash balances
increased primarily due a decrease in warehouse haircuts (difference between loan balance funded and amount advanced by
warehouse lenders). Offsetting the increase in cash was the payment of operating expenses, pay-down of $5.0 million in
principal of the Convertible Notes as well as unencumbered loans funded with our cash.
Restricted cash decreased $6.9 million to $5.6 million as of December 31, 2020, as compared to $12.5 million as
of December 31, 2019. The decrease between periods was primarily the result of a reduction in restricted cash pledged as
collateral for our warehouse lines as a result of right sizing our maximum borrowing capacity down from $1.7 billion at
December 31, 2019 to $550.0 million as December 31, 2020.
Mortgage loans held-for-sale decreased $617.7 million to $164.4 million at December 31, 2020 as compared to
$782.1 million at December 31, 2019. The decrease primarily relates to our temporary suspension of lending activities
during the second quarter of 2020, which decreased our maximum origination capacity in the third and fourth quarters as a
result of our reduced headcount and inability to adequately replace lost headcount as a result of market competition for
talent. During the year ended December 31, 2020, we had originations of $2.7 billion offset by $3.3 billion in loan sales.
37

Table of Contents

As a normal course of our origination and sales cycle, loans held-for-sale at the end of any period are generally sold within
one or two subsequent months.
Mortgage servicing rights decreased $41.1 million to $0.3 million at December 31, 2020 as compared to
$41.5 million at December 31, 2019. The decrease was due to $4.2 billion in UPB of MSR sales during the second and
third quarters of 2020 as well as mark-to-market decreases in fair value of $22.0 million partially offset by additions of $2.1
million from servicing retained loan sales of $223.7 million in UPB. At December 31, 2020, we serviced $30.5 million in
UPB for others as compared to $4.9 billion at December 31, 2019.
Warehouse borrowings decreased $549.6 million to $151.9 million at December 31, 2020 as compared to
$701.6 million at December 31, 2019. The decrease was due to a $617.7 million decrease in mortgage loans held-for-sale at
December 31, 2020. During 2020, we have right-sized our warehouse lending capacity reducing it by $1.1 billion to
$550.0 million and reduced warehouse counterparties from six to three.
We had a MSR financing facility of $60.0 million. This facility allowed us to borrow up to 60% of the fair market
value of Freddie Mac and Ginnie Mae (subject to an acknowledgment agreement) pledged mortgage servicing rights. At
December 31, 2020, we had no outstanding borrowings against the facility and had no available capacity for borrowing as a
result of the sale of the FHLMC servicing in the second quarter of 2020. In April 2020, Ginnie Mae announced they
revised and expanded their issuer assistance program to provide financing to fund servicer advances through the PassThrough Assistance Program (PTAP). We had withdrawn $448 thousand in PTAP funds in May 2020. The outstanding
PTAP assistance funds were repaid in July 2020, upon the sale of the GNMA MSRs.
Repurchase reserve decreased $1.9 million to $7.1 million at December 31, 2020 as compared to $9.0 million at
December 31, 2019. The decrease was due to $7.1 million in settlements primarily related to repurchased loans as well as
refunds of premiums to investors for early payoffs on loans sold, partially offset by $5.2 million increase in change in
provision for repurchases as a result of an increase in expected early payoffs and future losses.
Book value per share decreased 85% to $0.74 at December 31, 2020 as compared to $4.90 at December 31, 2019.
Book value per common share decreased 169% to ($1.70) as of December 31, 2020, as compared to $2.47 as of
December 31, 2019 (inclusive of the remaining $51.8 million of liquidation preference on our preferred stock). In the
event we are not successful in appealing the Preferred B litigation, inclusive of the Preferred B stock cumulative undeclared
dividends in arrears of $17.5 million, common book value per share was ($2.53) at December 31, 2020.
The changes in our trust assets and trust liabilities as summarized below.
December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

$
Change

Securitized mortgage collateral
Real estate owned (REO)
Total trust assets (1)

$ 2,100,175
3,094
2,103,269

$ 2,628,064
6,682
2,634,746

$

(527,889)
(3,588)
(531,477)

(20)%
(54)
(20)

Securitized mortgage borrowings
Total trust liabilities (1)
Residual interests in securitizations

$ 2,086,557
2,086,557
$
16,712

$ 2,619,210
2,619,210
$
15,536

$

(532,653)
(532,653)
1,176

(20)%
(20)
8%

$

%
Change

(1) At December 31, 2020, the UPB of trust assets and trust liabilities was approximately $2.5 billion and $2.4 billion, respectively. At December 31,
2019, the UPB of trust assets and trust liabilities was approximately $3.0 billion and $2.9 billion, respectively.

Since the consolidated securitization trusts are nonrecourse to us, trust assets and liabilities have been netted in the
table above to present our interest in these trusts more simply, which are considered the residual interests in securitizations.
The residual interests are represented by the fair value of securitized mortgage collateral and real estate owned, offset by
the fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings. We receive cash flows from our residual interests in securitizations to the
extent they are available after required distributions to bondholders and maintaining specified overcollateralization levels
and other specified parameters (such as maximum delinquency and cumulative default) within the trusts. The estimated fair
value of the residual interests, represented by the difference in the fair value of total trust assets and total trust liabilities,
was $16.7 million at December 31, 2020 compared to $15.5 million at December 31, 2019. The increase in residual fair
value at December 31, 2020 was the result of an increase in fair value of certain trusts as a
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result of excess spread and an increase in prepayments due to the current interest rate environment partially offset by an
increase in loss assumptions for certain trusts.
We update our collateral assumptions quarterly based on recent delinquency, default, prepayment and loss
experience. Additionally, we update the forward interest rates and investor yield (discount rate) assumptions based on
information derived from market participants. During the year ended December 31, 2020, actual losses were slightly
elevated as compared to forecasted losses for the majority of trusts, including those with residual value. Principal
payments, prepayments and liquidations of securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings also
contributed to the reduction in trust assets and liabilities.
●

The estimated fair value of securitized mortgage collateral decreased $527.9 million during 2020 primarily due to
reductions in principal from borrower payments and transfers of loans to REO for single-family and multi-family
collateral. Additionally, other trust assets decreased $3.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2020,
primarily due to a decrease of $21.9 million in REO from liquidations. Partially offsetting the decrease was an
increase of $10.9 million in REO from foreclosures and a $7.4 million increase in the net realizable value (NRV)
of REO.

●

The estimated fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings decreased $532.7 million during 2020 primarily due
to reductions in principal balances from principal payments during the period for single-family and multi-family
collateral partially offset by an increase in loss assumptions.

Prior to 2008, we securitized mortgage loans by transferring originated and acquired residential single-family
mortgage loans and multi-family commercial loans (the “transferred assets”) into non-recourse bankruptcy remote trusts
which in turn issued tranches of bonds to investors supported only by the cash flows of the transferred assets. Because the
assets and liabilities in the securitizations are nonrecourse to us, the bondholders cannot look to us for repayment of their
bonds in the event of a shortfall. These securitizations were structured to include interest rate derivatives. We retained the
residual interest in each trust, and in most cases would perform the master servicing function. A trustee and sub-servicer,
unrelated to us, was utilized for each securitization. Cash flows from the loans (the loan payments as well as liquidation of
foreclosed real estate properties) collected by the loan sub-servicer are remitted to us, the master servicer. The master
servicer remits payments to the trustee who remits payments to the bondholders (investors). The sub-servicer collects loan
payments and performs loss mitigation activities for defaulted loans. These activities include foreclosing on properties
securing defaulted loans, which results in REO. Our real estate services segment also performs loss mitigation activities for
loans within the portfolio.
For the trusts we consolidate, the loans are included in the consolidated balance sheets as “securitized mortgage
trust assets”, the foreclosed loans are included in the consolidated balance sheets as “real estate owned” and the various
bond tranches owned by investors are included in the consolidated balance sheets as “securitized mortgage trust liabilities.”
To the extent there is excess overcollateralization (as defined in the securitization agreements) in these securitization trusts,
we receive cash flows from the excess interest collected monthly from the residual interest we own. Because (i) we elected
the fair value option on the securitized mortgage collateral, securitized mortgage borrowings, and (ii) real estate owned is
reflected at NRV, which closely approximates fair market value, the net of the trust assets and trust liabilities represents the
estimated fair value of the residual interests we own.
To estimate fair value of the assets and liabilities within the securitization trusts each reporting period,
management uses an industry standard valuation and analytical model that is updated monthly with current collateral, real
estate, derivative, bond and cost (servicer, trustee, etc.) information for each securitization trust. We employ an internal
process to validate the accuracy of the model as well as the data within this model. Forecasted assumptions sometimes
referred to as “curves,” for defaults, loss severity, interest rates (LIBOR, which is currently available for periods beyond
2021, however there is a likelihood that this information will be replaced with the Secured Overnight Financing Rate
(SOFR) in the near future) and prepayments are input into the valuation model for each securitization trust. We hire thirdparty market participants to provide forecasted curves for the aforementioned assumptions for each of the securitizations.
Management employs a process to qualitatively and quantitatively review the assumption curves for reasonableness using
other information gathered from the mortgage and real estate market (i.e., third party home price indices, published
industry reports discussing regional mortgage and commercial loan performance and delinquency) as well as actual default
and foreclosure information for each trust from the respective trustees.
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We use the valuation model to generate the expected cash flows to be collected from the trust assets and the
expected required bondholder distribution (trust liabilities). To the extent that the trusts are over collateralized, we may
receive the excess interest as the holder of the residual interest. The information above provides us with the future expected
cash flows for the securitized mortgage collateral, real estate owned, securitized mortgage borrowings, and the residual
interests.
To determine the discount rates to apply to these cash flows, we gather information from the bond pricing services
and other market participants regarding estimated investor required yields for each bond tranche. Based on that information
and the collateral type and vintage, we determine an acceptable range of expected yields an investor would require
including an appropriate risk premium for each bond tranche. We use the blended yield of the bond tranches together with
the residual interests to determine an appropriate yield for the securitized mortgage collateral in each securitization.
The following table presents changes in the trust assets and trust liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2020:
TRUST ASSETS
Level 3 Recurring Fair
Value Measurement
NRV
Securitized
Real
mortgage
estate
collateral
owned

Recorded fair value at December 31, 2019
Total gains/(losses) included in earnings:
Interest income

$

2,628,064

Total trust
assets

6,682

$ 2,634,746

747

—

747

—

—

—

Interest expense

$

TRUST LIABILITIES
Level 3 Recurring Fair
Value Measurement
Securitized
mortgage
borrowings

$

Net
trust
assets

(2,619,210) $ 15,536
—
(65,421)

747
(65,421)

Change in FV of net trust assets, excluding REO (1)
Gains from REO – not at FV but at NRV (2)

(92,562)
—

—
7,393

(92,562)
7,393

79,481
—

(13,081)
7,393

Total (losses) gains included in earnings
Transfers in and/or out of level 3

(91,815)
—

7,393
—

(84,422)
—

14,060
—

(70,362)
—

(436,074)

(10,981)

(447,055)

518,593

71,538

Purchases, issuances and settlements
Recorded fair value at December 31, 2020

$

2,100,175

$

3,094

$ 2,103,269

$

(2,086,557) $ 16,712

(1) Represents change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO gains in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2020.
(2)

Accounted for at net realizable value.

Inclusive of gains from REO, total trust assets above reflect a net loss of $85.2 million as a result of a decrease in
fair value from securitized mortgage collateral of $92.6 million offset by gains from REO of $7.4 million. Net gains on
trust liabilities were $79.5 million resulting from the decrease in fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings. As a result,
other income, change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO gains (losses) increased by $1.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2020.
The table below reflects the net trust assets as a percentage of total trust assets (residual interests in
securitizations):
December 31,
2020

Net trust assets
Total trust assets
Net trust assets as a percentage of total trust assets
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$

December 31,
2019

16,712
$
15,536
2,103,269
2,634,746
0.79 %
0.59 %
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For the year ended December 31, 2020, the estimated fair value of the net trust assets increased as a percentage of
total trust assets due to an increase in prepayments and prepayment assumptions and a decrease in forward LIBOR offset
by an increase in losses and loss assumptions.
Since the consolidated securitization trusts are nonrecourse to us, our economic risk is limited to our residual
interests in these securitization trusts. Therefore, in the following table we have netted trust assets and trust liabilities to
present these residual interests more simply. Our residual interests in securitizations are segregated between our singlefamily (SF) residential and multi-family (MF) residential portfolios and are represented by the difference between trust
assets and trust liabilities.
The following tables present the estimated fair value of our residual interests by securitization vintage year and
other related assumptions used to derive these values at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

Origination Year
2002-2003 (1)
2004
2005
2006
Total
Weighted avg. prepayment rate
Weighted avg. discount rate
(1)

Estimated Fair Value of Residual
Estimated Fair Value of Residual
Interests by Vintage Year at
Interests by Vintage Year at
December 31, 2020
December 31, 2019
SF
MF
Total
SF
MF
Total
$ 8,575
$
524
$ 9,099
$ 8,075
$
604
$
8,679
2,654
775
3,429
3,386
709
4,095
58
68
126
—
88
88
—
4,058
4,058
—
2,674
2,674
$ 11,287
$ 5,425
$ 16,712
$ 11,461
$ 4,075
$ 15,536
10.1 %
13.3 %
10.3 %
10.5 %
11.4 %
10.6 %
17.4 %
18.0 %
17.6 %
18.0 %
17.2 %
17.8 %

2002-2003 vintage year includes CMO 2007-A, since the majority of the mortgages collateralized in this securitization were originated during this
period.

We utilize a number of assumptions to value securitized mortgage collateral, securitized mortgage borrowings and
residual interests. These assumptions include estimated collateral default rates and loss severities (credit losses), collateral
prepayment rates, forward interest rates and investor yields (discount rates). We use the same collateral assumptions for
securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings as the collateral assumptions determine collateral cash
flows which are used to pay interest and principal for securitized mortgage borrowings and excess spread, if any, to the
residual interests. However, we use different investor yields (discount rates) assumptions for securitized mortgage collateral
and securitized mortgage borrowings and the discount rates used for residual interests based on underlying collateral
characteristics, vintage year, assumed risk and market participant assumptions.
The table below reflects the estimated future credit losses and investor yield requirements for trust assets by
product (SF and MF) and securitization vintage at December 31, 2020:
Estimated Future
Losses (1)
SF
MF

2002-2003
2004
2005
2006
2007

9%
12
22
14
22

Investor Yield
Requirement (2)
SF
MF

* % (3)
* (3)
3
* (3)
* (3)

5%
5
2
4
4

10 %
5
3
5
3

(1) Estimated future losses derived by dividing future projected losses by unpaid principal balances at December 31, 2020.
(2) Investor yield requirements represent our estimate of the yield third-party market participants would require to price our trust assets
and liabilities given our prepayment, credit loss and forward interest rate assumptions.
(3) Represents less than 1%.

Long-Term Mortgage Portfolio Credit Quality
We use the Mortgage Bankers Association (MBA) method to define delinquency as a contractually required
payment being 30 or more days past due. We measure delinquencies from the date of the last payment due date in which a
payment was received. Delinquencies for loans 60 days late or greater, foreclosures and delinquent bankruptcies were
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$514.0 million or 20.9% of the long-term mortgage portfolio as of December 31, 2020, as compared to $511.3 million or
17.3% as of December 31, 2019.
The following table summarizes the unpaid principal balances of loans in our mortgage portfolio, included within
securitized mortgage collateral, that were 60 or more days delinquent (utilizing the MBA method) as of the periods
indicated:
Securitized mortgage collateral
60 - 89 days delinquent
90 or more days delinquent
Foreclosures (1)
Delinquent bankruptcies (2)
Total 60 or more days delinquent
Total collateral

December 31,
2020

$

$
$

47,483
290,621
126,802
49,069
513,975
2,454,657

Total
Collateral

December 31,
2019

1.9 % $
11.8
5.2
2.0
20.9 % $
100.0 % $

88,553
191,781
155,082
75,880
511,296
2,964,654

Total
Collateral

3.0 %
6.5
5.2
2.6
17.3 %
100.0 %

(1) Represents properties in the process of foreclosure.
(2) Represents bankruptcies that are 30 days or more delinquent.

At December 31, 2020, mortgage loans 60 or more days delinquent (whether or not subject to forbearance)
increased 0.5% as compared to December 31, 2019. Delinquency and forbearance are taken into account as part of our
credit loss assumptions when determining the estimated fair value of our residual interests. At December 31, 2020,
residential loss assumptions for certain trusts increased as compared to December 31, 2019. To the extent delinquencies
and loans in forbearance increase in deals with residual fair value, the estimated fair value of our residual interests may
decrease due to a reduction or delay in the timing of estimated cash flows.
The following table summarizes the UPB of securitized mortgage collateral, mortgage loans held-for-sale and real
estate owned, that were non-performing as of the dates indicated (excludes 60-89 days delinquent):

December 31,
2020

90 or more days delinquent (including
forbearances),
foreclosures and delinquent bankruptcies
Real estate owned inside and outside trusts
Total non-performing assets

$
$

466,492
3,173
469,665

Total
Collateral
%

December 31,
2019

19.0 % $
0.1
19.1 % $

422,743
6,834
429,577

Total
Collateral
%

14.3 %
0.2
14.5 %

Non-performing assets consist of non-performing loans (mortgages that are 90 or more days delinquent, including
loans in foreclosure and delinquent bankruptcies plus REO). It is our policy to place a mortgage loan on nonaccrual status
when it becomes 90 days delinquent and to reverse from revenue any accrued interest, except for interest income on
securitized mortgage collateral when the scheduled payment is received from the servicer. The servicers are required to
advance principal and interest on loans within the securitization trusts to the extent the advances are considered
recoverable. IFC, a subsidiary of IMH and master servicer, may be required to advance funds, or in most cases cause the
loan servicers to advance funds, to cover principal and interest payments not received from borrowers depending on the
status of their mortgages. As of December 31, 2020, non-performing assets as a percentage of the total collateral was
19.1%. At December 31, 2019, non-performing assets to total collateral was 14.5%. Non-performing assets increased by
approximately $40.1 million at December 31, 2020 as compared December 31, 2019. At December 31, 2020, the estimated
fair value of non-performing assets was $135.0 million or 5.7% of total assets. At December 31, 2019, the estimated fair
value of non-performing assets was $158.4 million or 4.5% of total assets.
REO, which consists of residential real estate acquired in satisfaction of loans, is carried at the lower of cost or net
realizable value less estimated selling costs. Adjustments to the loan carrying value required at the time of foreclosure are
included in the change in the fair value of net trust assets. Changes in our estimates of net realizable value subsequent to the
time of foreclosure and through the time of ultimate disposition are recorded as gains or losses from real estate owned in
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
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For the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded a $7.4 million increase in net realizable value of the REO
compared to a decrease of $6.4 million for the comparable 2019 period. Increases and write-downs of the net realizable
value reflect increases or declines in value of the REO subsequent to foreclosure date, but prior to the date of sale.
The following table presents the balances of the REO for continuing operations:
December 31,
2020

REO
Impairment (1)
Ending balance
REO inside trusts
REO outside trusts
Total

$

December 31,
2019

10,140
(6,967)
3,173
3,094
79
3,173

$
$
$

$
$
$
$

21,195
(14,361)
6,834
6,682
152
6,834

(1) Impairment represents the cumulative write-downs of net realizable value subsequent to foreclosure.

In calculating the cash flows to assess the fair value of the securitized mortgage collateral, we estimate the future
losses embedded in our loan portfolio. In evaluating the adequacy of these losses, management takes many factors into
consideration. For instance, a detailed analysis of historical loan performance data is accumulated and reviewed. This data
is analyzed for loss performance and prepayment performance by product type, origination year and securitization issuance.
The data is also broken down by collection status. Our estimate of losses for these loans is developed by estimating both
the rate of default of the loans and the amount of loss severity in the event of default. The rate of default is assigned to the
loans based on their attributes (e.g., original loan-to-value, borrower credit score, documentation type, geographic location,
etc.) and collection status. The rate of default is based on analysis of migration of loans from each aging category. The loss
severity is determined by estimating the net proceeds from the ultimate sale of the foreclosed property. The results of that
analysis are then applied to the current mortgage portfolio and an estimate is created. We believe that pooling of mortgages
with similar characteristics is an appropriate methodology in which to evaluate the future loan losses.
Management recognizes that there are qualitative factors that must be taken into consideration when evaluating
and measuring losses in the loan portfolios. These items include, but are not limited to, economic indicators that may affect
the borrower’s ability to pay, changes in value of collateral, political factors, employment and market conditions,
competitor’s performance, market perception, historical losses, COVID-19 pandemic and industry statistics. The
assessment for losses is based on delinquency trends and prior loss experience and management’s judgment and
assumptions regarding various matters, including general economic conditions and loan portfolio composition.
Management continually evaluates these assumptions and various relevant factors affecting credit quality and inherent
losses.
Results of Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 2019
For the Year Ended December 31,
$
2020
2019
Change

Revenues
Expenses
Net interest income
Change in fair value of long-term debt
Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO
losses
Income tax (expense) benefit
Net loss

$

Loss per share available to common stockholders—basic
Loss per share available to common stockholders—diluted
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(8,092)
(81,273)
5,137
1,899

(5,688)
(133)
$ (88,150)
$
(4.15)
$
(4.15)

$

$
$
$

%
Change

90,628
(96,920)
9,330
(1,429)

$ (98,720)
(15,647)
(4,193)
3,328

(109)%
(16)
(45)
233

(9,831)
245
(7,977)
(0.38)
(0.38)

4,143
378
$ (110,711)
$
(3.77)
$
(3.77)

42
154
(1,388)%
(1,002)%
(1,002)%
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Revenues

2020

Gain on sale of loans, net
Servicing fees, net
Real estate services fees, net
Loss on mortgage servicing rights, net
Other revenues
Total revenues

$

For the Year Ended December 31,
$
2019
Change

14,004 $ 98,830 $
3,603
12,943
1,312
3,287
(28,509)
(24,911)
1,498
479
$ (8,092) $ 90,628 $

(84,826)
(9,340)
(1,975)
(3,598)
1,019
(98,720)

%
Change

(86)%
(72)
(60)
(14)
213
(109)%

Gain on sale of loans, net. For the year ended December 31, 2020, gain on sale of loans, net totaled $14.0 million
compared to $98.8 million in the comparable 2019 period. The $84.8 million decrease for the year ended
December 31, 2020 is primarily due to the aforementioned temporary pause in lending during the second quarter of 2020.
The decrease in gain on sale of loans, net was most notably due to a $52.5 million decrease in gain on sale of loans, a
$31.8 million increase in mark-to-market losses on loans held-for-sale (LHFS), a $9.9 million increase in realized and
unrealized net losses on derivative financial instruments partially offset by a $260 thousand decrease in provision for
repurchases.
As previously discussed, for the year ended December 31, 2020, the predominance of our decrease on gain on sale
of loans, net was due to the substantial remarking of our NonQM loan portfolio held-for-sale as a result of spreads
widening substantially on credit assets due to potential pandemic related payment delinquencies and forbearances, causing
a severe decline in the values assigned by counterparties for NonQM assets. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we
originated and sold $2.7 billion and $3.3 billion of loans, respectively, as compared to $4.5 billion and $4.1 billion of loans
originated and sold, respectively, during the same period in 2019. During the year ended December 31, 2020, margins
decreased to approximately 51 bps as compared to 217 bps for the same period in 2019 as a result of our pause in lending
during the second quarter of 2020 resulting in the aforementioned remarking of our LHFS portfolio as well as reduction in
origination volume during the year. During the fourth quarter of 2020, margins increased to 265 bps as compared to 173
bps in the fourth quarter of 2019, as a result of the historically low mortgage interest rate environment during 2020 which
led to wider gain on sale margins in the fourth quarter of 2020 as compared to the same period in 2019.
Servicing fees, net. For the year ended December 31, 2020, servicing fees, net was $3.6 million compared to
$12.9 million in the comparable 2019 period. The decrease in servicing fees, net was the result of the sale of substantially
all of our servicing portfolio, $4.2 billion in UPB of Freddie Mac and GNMA MSRs, in the second and third quarters of
2020. In addition, the substantial decrease in mortgage interest rates during 2019 and 2020 caused a significant increase in
runoff of our mortgage servicing portfolio which combined with the servicing sales decreased the servicing portfolio
average balance 72% to $1.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to an average balance of $5.7
billion for the comparable period in 2019. As a result of the servicing sales in the second and third quarters of 2020, we
will continue to see a reduction in servicing fees, net and recognize a servicing expense related to interim subservicing and
other servicing costs related to the small UPB of remaining servicing portfolio. For the years ended December 31, 2020
and 2019, we had $223.7 million and $290.7 million, respectively, in servicing retained loan sales.
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Loss on mortgage servicing rights, net.
For the Year Ended December 31,
$
%
2020
2019
Change
Change

(Loss) gain on sale of mortgage servicing rights
Changes in fair value:
Due to changes in valuation market rates, inputs or assumptions
Other changes in fair value:
Scheduled principal prepayments
Voluntary prepayments
Total changes in fair value
Loss on mortgage servicing rights, net

$ (6,547)

$

860

$

(7,407)

(861)%

(4,661)

(36)
79
63
15

(17,682)

(13,021)

(500)
(3,780)
$ (21,962)

(2,395)
(10,355)
$ (25,771)

$

1,895
6,575
3,809

$ (28,509)

$ (24,911)

$

(3,598)

(14)%

For the year ended December 31, 2020, loss on MSRs, net was $28.5 million compared to $24.9 million in the
comparable 2019 period. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded a $22.0 million loss from change in fair
value of MSRs primarily due to changes in fair value associated with changes in market interest rates, inputs and
assumptions as well as voluntary and scheduled prepayments. As a result of the aforementioned significant decrease in
interest rates during 2019 and through the year ended December 31, 2020, $21.5 million of the $22.0 million change in fair
value of MSRs was due to prepayments, with $17.7 million primarily due to an increase in prepayment speed assumptions
and $3.8 million due to voluntary prepayments. Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded a
$6.5 million loss on sale of MSRs primarily the result of fees and costs associated with the aforementioned servicing sales
during the second and third quarters of 2020.
Real estate services fees, net. For the year ended December 31, 2020, real estate services fees, net were $1.3
million compared to $3.3 million in the comparable 2019 period. The $2.0 million decrease was primarily the result of a
decrease in transactions related to the decline in the number of loans and the UPB of the long-term mortgage portfolio as
compared to 2019.
Other revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2020, other revenues were $1.5 million as compared to $479
thousand in the comparable 2019 period. The increase was the result of a $1.2 million increase in the cash surrender value
associated with the corporate-owned life insurance trusts as a result of the payment of premiums, partially offset by a $137
thousand reduction in other revenues in 2020 as a result of a reduction in gain on mortgage-backed securities sold during
2019.
Expenses

2020

Personnel expense
General, administrative and other
Business promotion
Total expenses

$

$

52,880
24,534
3,859
81,273

For the Year Ended December 31,
$
2019
Change

$

$

65,191
22,410
9,319
96,920

$

$

(12,311)
2,124
(5,460)
(15,647)

%
Change

(19)%
9
(59)
(16)%

Total expenses decreased by $15.6 million, or 16%, to $81.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020
compared to $96.9 million for the comparable period 2019. Personnel expense decreased $12.3 million to $52.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to the same period in 2019. The decrease is primarily related to the
temporary pause in lending during the second quarter of 2020, which decreased originations and related employee
commission expense during the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to the comparable period in 2019, partially
offset by the aforementioned furlough during the second quarter of 2020. Although personnel expense decreased during the
year ended December 31, 2020, it increased to 192 bps of fundings as compared to 143 bps for the comparable 2019
period. The increase is the result of competition for talent, which has continued to be a binding constraint not only for us,
but also industry wide. As a result of the temporary pause in lending, and resulting furlough during the second quarter of
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2020, average headcount decreased 25% for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to the same period in 2019.
General, administrative and other expenses increased to $24.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020
compared to $22.4 million for the same period in 2019. The increase was partially related to a $1.4 million increase in
premiums associated with the corporate-owned life insurance trusts we consolidated in the first quarter of 2020 as
compared to 2019. The increase in general, administrative and other expenses was also due to a $1.5 million increase in
legal and professional fees in part due to settlements of various wage and hour matters, ongoing litigation, as more fully
described in Note 13 – Commitments and Contingencies in the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of Part II of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as exploring alternative exit strategies for our NonQM loan portfolio held-forsale during the year ended December 31, 2020. Additionally, occupancy expense increased $115 thousand primarily due to
right of use (ROU) asset impairment as well as additional leased space as compared to 2019. In August 2019, we entered
into an agreement to lease additional office space in our corporate office to accommodate the staffing increase during the
third quarter of 2019. During the first quarter of 2020, as a result of the pandemic and subsequent reduction in lending
activities, we consolidated one floor of our corporate office and recognized ROU asset impairment of $393 thousand for the
additional space leased in August 2019. Offsetting these increases in expenses outlined above was a reduction in all other
general, administrative and other expenses as a result of the reduction in origination volume due to our temporary pause in
lending as compared to the same period in 2019.
Business promotion decreased $5.4 million to $3.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to
$9.3 million for the comparable period in 2019. Business promotion decreased as a result of the aforementioned temporary
pause in lending during the second quarter of 2020. As we have reengaged lending, business promotion has remained low
as compared to prior periods as a result of the current interest rate environment which requires significantly less business
promotion to source leads. We intend to continue to source leads through digital campaigns, which allow for a more cost
effective approach, increasing the ability to be more price and product competitive to more specific target geographies.
Other Income
For the Year Ended December 31,
2020

Interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

$

Change in fair value of long-term debt
Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO losses
Total other income (expense)

$

2019

118,908
(113,771)
5,137
1,899
(5,688)
1,348

$

$

165,198
(155,868)
9,330
(1,429)
(9,831)
(1,930)

Net Interest Income
We earn net interest income primarily from mortgage assets which include securitized mortgage collateral and
loans held-for-sale, or collectively, “mortgage assets,” and, to a lesser extent, interest income earned on cash and cash
equivalents. Interest expense is primarily interest paid on borrowings secured by mortgage assets, which include securitized
mortgage borrowings and warehouse borrowings and, to a lesser extent, interest expense paid on long-term debt,
Convertible Notes, MSR Financing and corporate owned life insurance trusts. Interest income and interest expense during
the period primarily represents the effective yield, based on the fair value of the trust assets and liabilities.
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The following tables summarize average balance, interest and weighted average yield on interest-earning assets
and interest-bearing liabilities, for the periods indicated.
For the Year Ended December 31,
2020

ASSETS
Securitized mortgage collateral
Mortgage loans held-for-sale
Other
Total interest-earning assets
LIABILITIES
Securitized mortgage borrowings
Warehouse borrowings
MSR financing facilities
Long-term debt
Convertible notes
Other
Total interest-bearing liabilities
Net interest spread (1)
Net interest margin (2)

2019

Average
Balance

Interest

$ 2,281,574
275,874
51,243
$ 2,608,691

$ 106,959
11,837
112
$ 118,908

4.69 % $ 2,908,792
4.29
593,686
0.22
33,782
4.56 % $ 3,536,260

$ 135,487
29,079
632
$ 165,198

$ 2,269,727
252,565
3,014
42,825
24,241
8,942
$ 2,601,314

$

4.32
3.74
3.95
8.87
8.18
4.46
4.37
0.19
0.20

$ 126,088
23,543
16
4,329
1,886
6
$ 155,868
$
9,330

98,030
9,444
119
3,797
1,982
399
$ 113,771
$ 5,137

Yield

Average
Balance

% $ 2,902,438
547,421
200
44,468
24,990
19
% $ 3,519,536
%
%

Interest

Yield

4.66 %
4.90
1.87
4.67 %
4.34
4.30
8.00
9.74
7.55
31.58
4.43
0.24
0.26

%

%
%
%

(1) Net interest spread is calculated by subtracting the weighted average yield on interest-bearing liabilities from the weighted average
yield on interest-earning assets.
(2) Net interest margin is calculated by dividing net interest spread by total average interest-earning assets.

Net interest spread decreased $4.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 primarily attributable to a
decrease in the net interest spread between loans held-for-sale and their related warehouse borrowings, a decrease in the net
interest spread on the securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings, an increase in interest expense
on the corporate owned life insurance trusts (within other liabilities), an increase in interest expense on MSR financing and
convertible notes. Offsetting the decrease in net interest spread income was a decrease in interest expense on the long-term
debt. As a result, net interest margin decreased to 0.20% for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to 0.26% for
the year ended December 31, 2019.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the yield on interest-earning assets decreased to 4.56% from 4.67% in
the comparable 2019 period. The yield on interest-bearing liabilities decreased to 4.37% for the year ended
December 31, 2020 from 4.43% for the comparable 2019 period. In connection with the fair value accounting for
securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings and long-term debt, interest income and interest expense are recognized
using effective yields based on estimated fair values for these instruments. The decrease in yield for securitized mortgage
collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings is primarily related to increased prices on mortgage-backed bonds which
resulted in a decrease in yield as compared to the previous period.
Change in the fair value of long-term debt
Long-term debt (consisting of junior subordinated notes) is measured based upon an internal analysis which
considers our own credit risk and discounted cash flow analyses. Improvements in our financial results and financial
condition in the future could result in additional increases in the estimated fair value of the long-term debt, while
deterioration in financial results and financial condition could result in a decrease in the estimated fair value of the longterm debt.
During 2020, the fair value of long-term debt decreased by $1.0 million to $44.4 million from $45.4 million at
December 31, 2019. The decrease in estimated fair value was the result of a $1.9 million change in the market specific
credit risk as a result of a decrease in the forward LIBOR partially offset by a $28 thousand change in the instrument
specific credit risk and a $850 thousand increase due to accretion.
During 2019, the fair value of the long-term debt increased by $578 thousand. The increase in the estimated fair
value of long-term debt during 2019 was the result of a $1.4 million change in the market specific credit risk as a result of a
decrease in the credit spread between LIBOR and the risk free rate as well as an increase due to accretion. Partially
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offsetting the increase was a $909 thousand change in the instrument specific credit risk attributable to a change in our
credit risk profile.
Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO gains (losses)

Change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO
Gains (losses) from REO
Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO gains
(losses)

$

$

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2020
2019
(13,081) $
(3,397)
7,393
(6,434)
(5,688)

$

(9,831)

The change in fair value related to our net trust assets (residual interests in securitizations) was a loss of $5.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding trust REO was due to
$13.1 million in losses from changes in fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings and securitized mortgage collateral
as a result of increases in loss assumptions on certain trusts during the period partially offset by a decrease in LIBOR
during 2020 as compared to 2019. These losses were partially offset by an increase in the NRV of REO of $7.4 million
during the period attributed to lower expected loss severities on properties within certain states held in the long-term
mortgage portfolio during the year ended December 31, 2020.
The change in fair value related to our net trust assets (residual interests in securitizations) was a loss of $9.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding trust REO was due to
$3.4 million in losses from changes in fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings and securitized mortgage collateral
primarily associated with an increase in prepayment and loss assumptions partially offset by a decrease in LIBOR during
2019. Additionally, the NRV of REO decreased $6.4 million during the period attributed to higher expected loss severities
on properties held in the long-term mortgage portfolio during the year ended December 31, 2019.
Income Taxes
We recorded income tax expense (benefit) of $133 thousand and $(245) thousand for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The income tax expense of $133 thousand for the year ended
December 31, 2020 is primarily the result of state income taxes from states where we do not have net operating loss (NOL)
carryforwards or state minimum taxes. The income tax benefit of $245 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2019 is
primarily the result of a benefit resulting from the intraperiod allocation rules that are applied when there is a pre-tax loss
from continuing operations and pre-tax income from other comprehensive income partially offset by state taxes from states
where the Company does not have NOL carryforwards or state minimum taxes, including AMT.
As of December 31, 2020, we had federal NOL carryforwards of $609.3 million. As of December 31, 2020, the
estimated Federal NOL carryforward expiration schedule is as follows (in millions):
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Tax Year Established
12/31/2007
12/31/2008
12/31/2009
12/31/2010
12/31/2011
12/31/2012
12/31/2013
12/31/2014
12/31/2015
12/31/2016
12/31/2017
12/31/2018
12/31/2019
12/31/2020 (1)
Total Federal NOLs

$

$

Amount
166.9
3.6
101.6
89.7
44.1
—
28.5
—
30.5
55.0
37.7
—
3.3
48.4
609.3

Expiration Date
12/31/2027
12/31/2028
12/31/2029
12/31/2030
12/31/2031
12/31/2032
12/31/2033
12/31/2034
12/31/2035
12/31/2036
12/31/2037
n/a
n/a
n/a

(1) NOL amounts are estimates until the final tax returns are filed in October 2021. Additionally, any NOLs that are generated
subsequent to the enactment of the Tax Act on January 1, 2018, have an indefinite life.

As of December 31, 2020, we had California NOL carryforwards of $420.3 million, which begin to expire in
2028. We may not be able to realize the maximum benefit due to the nature and tax entities that holds the NOL.
Our deferred tax assets are primarily the result of net operating losses and basis differences on mortgage securities
and goodwill. We have recorded a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets at December 31, 2020 as it is
more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The valuation allowance is based on the management's
assessment that it is more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets, primarily net operating loss carryforwards, may
not be realized in the foreseeable future due to objective negative evidence that we may not generate sufficient taxable
income to realize the deferred tax assets.
A valuation allowance is recognized for a deferred tax asset if, based on the weight of the available evidence, it is
more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. In making such judgments, significant
weight is given to evidence that can be objectively verified. In determining the adequacy of the valuation allowance, we
consider all forms of evidence, including: (1) historic earnings or losses; (2) the ability to realize deferred tax assets
through carry back to prior periods; (3) anticipated taxable income resulting from the reversal of taxable temporary
differences; (4) tax planning strategies; and (5) anticipated future earnings exclusive of the reversal of taxable temporary
differences.
We are subject to federal income taxes as a regular (Subchapter C) corporation and file a consolidated U.S. federal
income tax return.
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Results of Operations by Business Segment
We have three primary operating segments: Mortgage Lending, Real Estate Services and Long-Term Mortgage
Portfolio. Unallocated corporate and other administrative costs, including the cost associated with being a public company
as well as the interest expense related to the convertible notes and capital leases, are presented in Corporate. Segment
operating results are as follows:
Mortgage Lending
Condensed Statements of Operations Data

2020

Gain on sale of loans, net
Servicing fees, net
Loss on mortgage servicing rights, net
Total revenues

$

Other income
Personnel expense
Business promotion
General, administrative and other
(Loss) earnings before income taxes

$

For the Year Ended December 31,
$
2019
Change

14,004
3,603
(28,509)
(10,902)

$

98,830
12,943
(24,911)
86,862

$

%
Change

(84,826)
(9,340)
(3,598)
(97,764)

(86)%
(72)
(14)
(113)

2,501

6,224

(3,723)

(60)

(46,445)
(3,845)
(10,579)
(69,270)

(58,655)
(9,282)
(11,599)
13,550

12,210
5,437
1,020
(82,820)

21
59
9
(611)%

$

$

For the year ended December 31, 2020, gain on sale of loans, net totaled $14.0 million compared to $98.8 million
in the comparable 2019 period. The $84.8 million decrease for the year ended December 31, 2020 is primarily due to the
aforementioned temporary pause in lending during the second quarter of 2020. The decrease in gain on sale of loans, net
was most notably due to a $52.5 million decrease in gain on sale of loans, a $31.8 million increase in mark-to-market losses
on LHFS, a $9.9 million increase in realized and unrealized net losses on derivative financial instruments partially offset by
a $260 thousand decrease in provision for repurchases.
As previously discussed, for the year ended December 31, 2020, the predominance of our decrease on gain on sale
of loans, net was due to the substantial remarking of our NonQM loan portfolio held-for-sale as a result of spreads
widening substantially on credit assets due to potential pandemic related payment delinquencies and forbearances, causing
a severe decline in the values assigned by counterparties for NonQM assets. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we
originated and sold $2.7 billion and $3.3 billion of loans originated and sold, respectively, as compared to $4.5 billion and
$4.1 billion of loans originated and sold, respectively, during the same period in 2019. During the year ended December 31,
2020, margins decreased to approximately 51 bps as compared to 217 bps for the same period in 2019 as a result of our
pause in lending during the second quarter of 2020 resulting in the aforementioned remarking of our LHFS portfolio as
well as reduction in origination volume during the year. During the fourth quarter of 2020, margins increased to 265 bps as
compared to 173 bps in the fourth quarter of 2019, as a result of the historically low mortgage interest rate environment
during 2020 which led to wider gain on sale margins in the fourth quarter of 2020 as compared to the same period in 2019.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, servicing fees, net was $3.6 million compared to $12.9 million in the
comparable 2019 period. The decrease in servicing fees, net was the result of the sale of substantially all of our servicing
portfolio, $4.2 billion in UPB of Freddie Mac and GNMA MSRs, in the second and third quarters of 2020. In addition, the
substantial decrease in mortgage interest rates during 2019 and 2020 caused a significant increase in runoff of our mortgage
servicing portfolio which combined with the servicing sales decreased the servicing portfolio average balance 72% to $1.6
billion for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to an average balance of $5.7 billion for the comparable period
in 2019. As a result of the servicing sales in the second and third quarters of 2020, we will continue to see a reduction in
servicing fees, net and recognize a servicing expense related to interim subservicing and other servicing costs related to the
small UPB of remaining servicing portfolio. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we had $223.7 million and
$290.7 million, respectively, in servicing retained loan sales.
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For the year ended December 31, 2020, loss on MSRs, net was $28.5 million compared to $24.9 million in the
comparable 2019 period. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded a $22.0 million loss from change in fair
value of MSRs primarily due to changes in fair value associated with changes in market interest rates, inputs and
assumptions as well as voluntary and scheduled prepayments. As a result of the aforementioned significant decrease in
interest rates during 2019 and through the year ended December 31, 2020, $21.5 million of the $22.0 million change in fair
value of MSRs was due to prepayments, with $17.7 million primarily due to an increase in prepayment speed assumptions
and $3.8 million due to voluntary prepayments. Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded a
$6.5 million loss on sale of MSRs primarily the result of fees and costs associated with the aforementioned servicing sales
during the second and third quarters of 2020.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, other income decreased to $2.5 million as compared to $6.2 million in the
comparable 2019 period. The $3.7 million decrease in other income was primarily due to a $3.1 million decrease in net
interest spread between loans held-for-sale and their related warehouse borrowings during the year ended
December 31, 2020 as compared to the comparable period in 2019. The decrease in other income was also attributable to a
$215 thousand decrease in interest income on mortgage-backed securities purchased and sold during 2019, a $303 thousand
decrease on invested cash balances, a $137 thousand reduction in gain on mortgage-backed securities sold during 2019 and
a $103 thousand increase in interest expense related to an increase in the utilization of the MSR financing facilities during
2020.
Personnel expense decreased $12.2 million to $46.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to
the same period in 2019. The decrease is primarily related to the temporary pause in lending during the second quarter of
2020, which decreased originations and related employee commission expense during the year ended December 31, 2020,
as compared to the comparable period in 2019, partially offset by the aforementioned furlough during the second quarter of
2020. Although personnel expense decreased during the year ended December 31, 2020, it increased to 169 bps of
fundings as compared to 129 bps for the comparable 2019 period. The increase is the result of competition for talent,
which has continued to be a binding constraint not only for us, but also industry wide. As a result of the temporary pause in
lending, and resulting furlough during the second quarter of 2020, average headcount in the mortgage lending segment
decreased 30% for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to the same period in 2019.
Business promotion decreased $5.4 million to $3.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to
$9.3 million for the comparable period in 2019. Business promotion decreased as a result of the aforementioned temporary
pause in lending during the second quarter of 2020. As we have reengaged lending, business promotion has remained low
as compared to prior periods as a result of the current interest rate environment which requires significantly less business
promotion to source leads. We intend to continue to source leads through digital campaigns, which allow for a more cost
effective approach, increasing the ability to be more price and product competitive to more specific target geographies.
General, administrative and other expenses decreased to $10.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020,
compared to $11.6 million for the same period in 2019. The decrease was partially related to a $572 thousand reduction in
developed software amortization as part of the initial CCM transaction which was fully amortized in 2019. Occupancy
expense decreased approximately $383 thousand due to the aforementioned reduction in personnel in the mortgage lending
segment as a result of the temporary pause in lending, which reduced allocated rent to the mortgage lending division.
Partially offsetting the reduction in occupancy expense was in increase in occupancy expense related to a ROU asset
impairment as well as additional leased space as compared to the year ended 2019. In August 2019, we entered into an
agreement to lease additional office space in our corporate office to accommodate the staffing increase during the third
quarter of 2019. During the first quarter of 2020, as a result of the pandemic and subsequent reduction in lending activities,
we consolidated one floor of our corporate office and recognized ROU asset impairment of $393 thousand for the
additional space leased in August 2019. Additionally, data processing decreased $210 thousand and all other general,
administrative and other expenses decreased $698 thousand as a result of the reduction in origination volume due to our
temporary pause in lending as compared to the same period in 2019. Partially offsetting the decrease in general,
administrative and other expenses was an $844 thousand increase in legal and professional fees in part due to settlements of
various wage and hour matters, ongoing litigation, as more fully described in Note 13 – Commitments and Contingencies
in the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as exploring
alternative exit strategies for our NonQM loan portfolio held-for-sale during the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Long-Term Mortgage Portfolio
For the Year Ended December 31,
$
%
2020
2019
Change
Change

Other revenue

$

143

Personnel expense
General, administrative and other
Total expenses

$

(131)
(502)
(633)

Net interest income
Change in fair value of long-term debt
Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO gains
(losses)
Total other income (expense)
Earnings (loss) before income taxes

$

260

$

(124)
(407)
(531)

(117)

(45)%

(7)
(95)
(102)

(6)
(23)
(19)

5,133
1,899

5,071
(1,429)

62
3,328

1
233

(5,688)
1,344
854

(9,831)
(6,189)
(6,460)

4,143
7,533
7,314

42
122
113 %

$

$

For the year ended December 31, 2020, net interest income totaled $5.1 million as compared to $5.1 million for
the comparable 2019 period. Net interest income increased $62 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2020 primarily
attributable to a $532 thousand decrease in interest expense on the long-term debt associated with a decrease in threemonth LIBOR as compared to the same period in 2019 partially offset by a $470 thousand decrease in net interest spread
on the long-term mortgage portfolio as previously discussed.
During 2020, the fair value of long-term debt decreased by $1.0 million to $44.4 million from $45.4 million at
December 31, 2019. The decrease in estimated fair value was the result of a $1.9 million change in the market specific
credit risk as a result of a decrease in the forward LIBOR partially offset by a $28 thousand change in the instrument
specific credit risk and a $850 thousand increase due to accretion.
The change in fair value related to our net trust assets (residual interests in securitizations) was a loss of $5.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding trust REO was due to
$13.1 million in losses from changes in fair value of securitized mortgage borrowings and securitized mortgage collateral
as a result of increases in loss assumptions on certain trusts during the period partially offset by a decrease in LIBOR
during 2020 as compared to 2019. These losses were partially offset by an increase in the NRV of REO of $7.4 million
during the period attributed to lower expected loss severities on properties within certain states held in the long-term
mortgage portfolio during the year ended December 31, 2020.
Real Estate Services

2020

Real estate services fees, net
Personnel expense
General, administrative and other
(Loss) earnings before income taxes

$

$

For the Year Ended December 31,
$
2019
Change

1,312
(1,151)
(334)
(173)

$

$

3,287
(1,124)
(267)
1,896

$

$

(1,975)
(27)
(67)
(2,069)

%
Change

(60)%
(2)
(25)
(109)%

For the year ended December 31, 2020, real estate services fees, net were $1.3 million compared to $3.3 million in
the comparable 2019 period. The $2.0 million decrease in real estate services fees, net was primarily the result of a $1.2
million decrease in real estate service fees, a $713 thousand decrease in loss mitigation fees and a $109 thousand decrease
in real estate and recovery fees. The decrease in real estate service fees, loss mitigation and real estate and recovery fees
for the year ended December 31, 2020 was a result of the continued decrease in transactions related to the decline in the
number of loans and the UPB of the long-term mortgage portfolio as compared to 2019.
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Corporate

2020

Interest expense
Other expenses
Net loss before income taxes

$

(2,362)
(17,066)
(19,428)

$

For the Year Ended December 31,
$
2019
Change

$
$

(1,808)
(15,400)
(17,208)

$
$

(554)
(1,666)
(2,220)

%
Change

(31)%
(11)
(13)%

For the year ended December 31, 2020, interest expense increased to $2.4 million as compared to $1.8 million in
the comparable 2019 period. The $554 thousand increase in interest expense was primarily a $393 thousand increase in
interest expense associated with the premium financing associated with the corporate-owned life insurance trusts liability as
well as a $241 thousand increase in interest expense associated with accretion related to warrants issued as part of the
convertible note extension entered into in May 2020 as well as a reduction in interest income on invested cash balances.
Partially offsetting the increase in interest expense was a reduction in the interest rate on the Notes from 7.5% to 7.0% per
annum effective May 2020 as well as a reduction in interest expense following the pay-down of $5.0 million in principal of
the Notes on November 9, 2020.
For the year ended December 31, 2020, other expenses increased to $17.1 million as compared to $15.4 million
for the comparable 2019 period. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the primary increase in other expenses was a
$1.4 million increase in premiums associated with the corporate-owned life insurance trusts liability, a $803 thousand
increase in benefit claims and a $520 thousand increase in legal and professional fees as a result of ongoing litigation, as
more fully described in Note 13 – Commitments and Contingencies in the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of
Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as exploring alternative exit strategies for our NonQM loan portfolio
held-for-sale during the year ended December 31, 2020. Additionally, occupancy expense increased $501 thousand in the
corporate segment due to the aforementioned reduction in personnel in the mortgage lending segment as a result of the
temporary pause in lending, which reduced allocated rent to the mortgage lending division and increased the rent in
corporate. General, administrative and other expenses increased $767 thousand as a result of our temporary pause and
reengagement in lending activities during the year ended December 31, 2020. Offsetting the increase in other expenses was
a $1.2 million increase in the cash surrender value associated with the corporate-owned life insurance trusts as a result of
the payment of premiums as well as a $1.1 million decrease in personnel expense as a result of a reduction in bonuses,
incentives and other compensation expense in the corporate segment.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
During the year ended December 31, 2020, we funded our operations primarily from mortgage lending revenues
and, to a lesser extent, real estate services fees and cash flows from our residual interests in securitizations. Mortgage
lending revenues include gain on sale of loans, net, servicing fees, net, proceeds from the sale of mortgage servicing rights
and other mortgage related income. We funded mortgage loan originations using warehouse facilities, which are repaid
once the loan is sold. We may also seek to raise capital by issuing debt or equity.
In mid-February we began instituting measures to increase liquidity as the risk of the rapidly spreading pandemic
continued to outpace expectations. We satisfied all margin calls due under our To Be Announced (TBA) hedging
agreements, and warehouse lending and repurchase facilities. In March 2020, we made the determination that our interest
rate hedges were no longer effective in hedging asset market values as a result of the market dislocation, which caused an
inability to monetize the value of our locked and funded loan portfolio. As a result, on March 18, 2020, we closed out the
entirety of our TBA hedge position. In late March 2020, we instituted a temporary suspension of all lending activities
believing it prudent to de-risk, protect liquidity and prepare for the potential of a prolonged global recession. During March
2020, we began to sell assets, repay debt, and generate additional cash liquidity. As of March 31, 2020, our unrestricted
cash was $80.2 million. Between April 1, 2020 and May 31, 2020, we sold approximately $469.0 million in mortgage
loans, repaid approximately $490.0 million of associated warehouse borrowings, completed the sale of $4.1 billion in UPB
of Freddie Mac MSRs and repaid the associated $15.0 million outstanding on the MSR borrowing facility in its entirety. In
July 2020, we sold the majority of the GNMA mortgage servicing for approximately $225 thousand receiving $163
thousand in proceeds upon sale. Additionally, we have right sized our warehouse borrowing capacity by electing to reduce
the maximum borrowing capacity from $1.7 billion to $550.0 million and electing to reduce the warehouse counterparties
from six to three.
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Sources of Liquidity
Cash flows from our mortgage lending operations. We receive loan fees from loan originations. Fee income
consists of application and underwriting fees and fees on cancelled loans. These loan fees are offset by the related direct
loan origination costs including broker fees related to our wholesale and correspondent channels. In addition, we generally
recognize net interest income on loans held-for-sale from the date of origination through the date of disposition. We sell or
securitize substantially all of the loans we originate in the secondary mortgage market, with servicing rights released or
retained. Loans are sold on a whole loan basis by entering into sales transactions with third-party investors in which we
receive a premium for the loan and related servicing rights, if applicable. The mortgage lending operations sold $3.3 billion
of mortgages through whole loan sales and securitizations during 2020. Additionally, the mortgage lending operations enter
into IRLCs and utilize Hedging Instruments and forward delivery commitments to hedge interest rate risk. We may be
subject to pair-off gains and losses associated with these instruments. Since we rely significantly upon loan sales to
generate cash proceeds to repay warehouse borrowings and to create credit availability, any disruption in our ability to
complete loan sales may require us to utilize other sources of financing, which, if available at all, may be on less favorable
terms. In addition, delays in the disposition of our mortgage loans increase our risk by exposing us to credit and interest
rate risk for this extended period of time.
In May 2020, we completed the sale of $4.1 billion in UPB of Freddie Mac MSRs for approximately $20.1
million, receiving $15.0 million in proceeds upon sale, with the remaining due upon transfer of the servicing and transfer of
all trailing documents. The Company used the $15.0 million in proceeds from the MSR sale to pay off the MSR financing.
In July 2020, we sold the majority of the GNMA mortgage servicing for approximately $225 thousand receiving $163
thousand in proceeds upon sale, with the remaining due upon transfer of the servicing and transfer of all trailing documents.
We receive servicing income net of subservicing cost and other related servicing expenses from our mortgage
servicing portfolio. Servicing fees, net decreased to $3.6 million as a result of the servicing portfolio decreasing to an
average balance of $1.6 billion for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to an average balance of $5.7 billion for
the year ended December 31, 2019. The decrease in servicing fees, net was the result of the sale of substantially all of our
servicing portfolio, $4.2 billion in UPB of Freddie Mac and GNMA MSRs, in the second and third quarters of 2020. In
addition, the substantial decrease in mortgage interest rates during 2019 and 2020 caused a significant increase in runoff of
our mortgage servicing portfolio which combined with the servicing sales contributed to the 72% reduction in servicing
portfolio average balance during the year ended December 31, 2020. Despite retaining a small amount of GNMA servicing
at December 31, 2020, we will continue to see a significant reduction in our servicing fees, net as a result of the servicing
sales in the second and third quarters of 2020, and expect net servicing expense due to interim subservicing and other
servicing costs. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we had $223.7 million and $290.7 million, respectively,
in servicing retained loan sales.
Fees from our real estate service business activities. We earn fees from various real estate business activities,
including loss mitigation, real estate disposition, monitoring and surveillance services and real estate brokerage. We
provide services to investors, servicers and individual borrowers primarily by focusing on loss mitigation and performance
of our long-term mortgage portfolio.
Cash flows from our long-term mortgage portfolio (residual interests in securitizations). We receive residual cash
flows on mortgages held as securitized mortgage collateral after distributions are made to investors on securitized mortgage
borrowings to the extent required credit enhancements are maintained and performance covenants are complied with for
credit ratings on the securitized mortgage borrowings. For the year ended December 31, 2020, our residual interests
generated cash flows of $2.1 million. These cash flows represent the difference between principal and interest payments on
the underlying mortgages and are affected by the following:
●

servicing and master servicing fees paid;

●

premiums paid to mortgage insurers;

●

cash payments/receipts on derivatives;

●

interest paid on securitized mortgage borrowings;

54

Table of Contents

●

principal payments and prepayments paid on securitized mortgage borrowings;

●

overcollateralization requirements;

●

actual losses, net of any gains incurred upon disposition of other real estate owned or acquired in settlement
of defaulted mortgages;

●

unpaid interest shortfall; and

●

basis risk shortfall.

Additionally, we act as the master servicer for mortgages included in our long-term mortgage portfolio, which
consists of CMO and REMIC securitizations. The master servicing fees we earn are generally 0.03% per annum (3 basis
points) on the declining principal balances of these mortgages plus interest income on cash held in custodial accounts until
remitted to investors, less any interest shortfall.
Uses of Liquidity
Acquisition and origination of mortgage loans. During 2020, the mortgage lending operations originated or
acquired $2.7 billion of mortgage loans. Capital invested in mortgages is outstanding until we sell the loans. Initial capital
invested in mortgage loans includes premiums paid when mortgages are acquired and originated and our capital
investment, or “haircut,” required upon financing, which is generally determined by the type of collateral provided and the
warehouse facility terms. The mortgage loan originations were financed with warehouse borrowings at a haircut generally
between 2% to 10% of the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage loans which increases based upon the number of
days on the line. The haircuts are normally recovered from sales proceeds.
Investment in mortgage servicing rights. As part of our business plan, we have selectively invested in mortgage
servicing rights through the sale of mortgage loans on a servicing retained basis and to a lesser extent the purchase of MSR
pools. Beginning in 2019 and throughout 2020, we began to retain less servicing by doing more whole loan sales and for
the year ended December 31, 2020, we capitalized $2.1 million in mortgage servicing rights from selling $223.7 million in
loans with servicing retained.
Cash flows from financing facilities and other lending relationships. We primarily fund our mortgage originations
through warehouse facilities with third-party lenders which are primarily with national and regional banks. At December
31, 2020, the warehouse facilities borrowing capacity amounted to $550.0 million, of which $151.9 million was
outstanding. The warehouse facilities are secured by and used to fund single-family residential mortgage loans until such
loans are sold. Under the terms of these warehouse lines, the Company is required to maintain various financial and other
covenants. These financial covenants include, but are not limited to, maintaining (i) minimum tangible net worth, (ii)
minimum liquidity, (iii) a maximum leverage ratio and (iv) pre-tax net income requirements. As of December 31, 2020, we
were in compliance with all warehouse lending related covenants. In order to mitigate the liquidity risk associated with
warehouse borrowings, we attempt to sell or securitize our mortgage loans expeditiously.
Our ability to meet liquidity requirements and the financing needs of our customers is subject to the renewal of our
warehouse facilities or obtaining other sources of financing, if required, including additional debt or equity from time to
time. Any decision our lenders or investors make to provide available financing to us in the future will depend upon a
number of factors, including:
●

our compliance with the terms of existing warehouse lines and credit arrangements, including any financial
covenants;

●

the ability to obtain waivers upon any noncompliance;

●

our financial performance;

●

industry and market trends in our various businesses;
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●

the general availability of, and rates applicable to, financing and investments;

●

our lenders or investors resources and policies concerning loans and investments; and

●

the relative attractiveness of alternative investment or lending opportunities.

Repurchase Reserve. When we sell loans through whole loan sales we are required to make normal and customary
representations and warranties about the loans to the purchaser. Our whole loan sale agreements generally require us to
repurchase loans if we breach a representation or warranty given to the loan purchaser. In addition, we may be required to
repurchase loans as a result of borrower fraud or if a payment default occurs on a mortgage loan shortly after its sale.
From time to time, investors have requested us to repurchase loans or to indemnify them against losses on certain
loans which the investors believe either do not comply with applicable representations or warranties or defaulted shortly
after its purchase. We record an estimated reserve for these losses at the time the loan is sold, and adjust the reserve to
reflect the estimated loss.
Financing Activities
MSR Financing. In May 2018, IMC (Borrower) amended the Line of Credit Promissory Note (Freddie Mac and
GNMA Financing) originally entered into in August 2017, increasing the maximum borrowing capacity of the revolving
line of credit to $60.0 million, increasing the borrowing capacity up to 60% of the fair market value of the pledged
mortgage servicing rights and reducing the interest rate per annum to one-month LIBOR plus 3.0%. As part of the May
2018 amendment, the obligations under the Line of Credit were secured by FHLMC and GNMA pledged mortgage
servicing rights (subject to an acknowledgement agreement) and was guaranteed by IRES. In January 2020, the maturity of
the line was extended to March 31, 2020. In April 2020, the maturity of the line was extended to May 31, 2020. In May
2020, the line was repaid with the proceeds from the MSR sale and the line expired.
MSR Advance Financing. In April 2020, Ginnie Mae announced they revised and expanded their issuer assistance
program to provide financing to fund servicer advances through the PTAP. The PTAP funds advanced by Ginnie Mae bear
interest at a fixed rate that will apply to a given months pass-through assistance and will be posted on Ginnie Mae’s website
each month. The maturity date was the earlier of the seven months from the month the request and repayment agreement
was approved, or July 30, 2021. In July 2020, the outstanding PTAP funds were repaid. At December 31, 2020, the
Company had no PTAP funds outstanding.
Long-term Debt (consisting of Junior Subordinated Notes). The Junior Subordinated Notes are redeemable at par
at any time with a stated maturity of March 2034 and require quarterly distributions at 3-month LIBOR plus 3.75% per
annum. At December 31, 2020, the interest rate was 3.99%. We are current on all interest payments. At
December 31, 2020, long-term debt had an outstanding principal balance of $62.0 million with an estimated fair value of
$44.4 million and is reflected on our consolidated balance sheets as long-term debt.
Convertible Notes. In May 2015, we issued $25.0 million Convertible Promissory Notes (Notes) to purchasers,
some of which are related parties. The Notes were originally due to mature on or before May 9, 2020 and accrue interest at
a rate of 7.5% per annum, paid quarterly.
Noteholders may convert all or a portion of the outstanding principal amount of the Notes into shares of the
Company’s common stock (Conversion Shares) at a rate of $21.50 per share, subject to adjustment for stock splits and
dividends (Conversion Price). The Company has the right to convert the entire outstanding principal of the Notes into
Conversion Shares at the Conversion Price if the market price per share of the common stock, as measured by the average
volume-weighted closing stock price per share of the common stock on the NYSE AMERICAN (or any other U.S. national
securities exchange then serving as the principal such exchange on which the shares of common stock are listed), reaches
the level of $30.10 for any twenty (20) trading days in any period of thirty (30) consecutive trading days after the Closing
Date (as defined in the Convertible Notes). Upon conversion of the Notes by the Company, the entire amount of accrued
and unpaid interest (and all other amounts owing) under the Notes are immediately due and payable. To the extent the
Company pays any cash dividends on its shares of common stock prior to conversion of the Notes, upon conversion of the
Notes, the noteholders will also receive such dividends on an as-converted basis of the Notes less the amount of interest
paid by the Company prior to such dividend.
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On April 15, 2020, the Company amended and restated the outstanding Notes in the principal amount of $25.0
million originally issued in May 2015 pursuant to the terms of the Note Agreement between the Company and the
noteholders of the Notes. The Notes were amended to extend the maturity date by six months (until November 9, 2020) and
to reduce the interest rate on such Notes to 7.0% per annum. In connection with the issuance of the Amended Notes, the
Company issued to the noteholders of the Notes, warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 212,649 shares of the
Company’s common stock at a cash exercise price of $2.97 per share. The relative fair value of the warrants were $244
thousand and recorded as debt discounts, which are accreted over the term of the warrants (October 2020), using an
effective interest rate of 8.9%. The warrants are exercisable commencing on October 16, 2020 and expire on April 15,
2025.
On October 28, 2020, the Company entered into agreements with certain holders of its Notes due November 9,
2020 in the aggregate principal amount of $25.0 million to further extend the maturity date of the Notes from November 9,
2020, by an additional 18-months to May 9, 2022 and to decrease the aggregate principal amount of the Notes to $20.0
million, following the pay-down of $5.0 million in principal of the Notes on November 9, 2020. The interest rate on the
Notes remains at 7.0% per annum.
Operating activities. Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities was $633.9 million for 2020 as compared
to $(377.5) million for 2019, primarily due to the timing of originations and sales of loans held-for-sale between 2020 and
2019. During 2020 and 2019, the primary sources of cash in operating activities were cash received from fees generated by
our mortgage and real estate service business activities, cash received from mortgage lending and excess cash flows from
our residual interests in securitizations offset by operating expenses.
Investing activities. Net cash provided by investing activities was $460.3 million for 2020 as compared to
$589.7 million for 2019. For 2020 and 2019, the primary source of cash from investing activities was provided by principal
repayments on our securitized mortgage collateral, the sale of mortgage servicing rights, the sale of mortgage backed
securities and proceeds from the liquidation of REO.
Financing activities. Net cash used in financing activities was $1.1 billion for 2020 as compared to $205.3 million
for 2019. For 2020, significant uses of cash in financing activities were primarily for principal repayments on securitized
mortgage borrowings as well as repayments of warehouse borrowings. For 2019, significant uses of cash in financing
activities were primarily for principal repayments on securitized mortgage borrowings, partially offset by net borrowings
against warehouse agreements.
Inflation. The consolidated financial statements and corresponding notes to the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, which require the measurement of financial position and operating results in
terms of historical dollars without considering the changes in the relative purchasing power of money over time due to
inflation. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, inflation had no significant impact on our revenues or net
income. Unlike industrial companies, nearly all of our assets and liabilities are monetary in nature. As a result, interest rates
have a greater effect on our performance than do the effects of general levels of inflation. Inflation affects our operations
primarily through its effect on interest rates, since interest rates normally increase during periods of high inflation and
decrease during periods of low inflation.
Our results of operations and liquidity are materially affected by conditions in the markets for mortgages and
mortgage-related assets, as well as the broader financial markets and the general economy. Concerns over economic
recession, geopolitical issues, unemployment, the availability and cost of financing, the mortgage market and real estate
market conditions contribute to increased volatility and diminished expectations for the economy and markets. Volatility
and uncertainty in the marketplace may make it more difficult for us to obtain financing or raise capital on favorable terms
or at all. Our operations and profitability may be adversely affected if we are unable to obtain cost-effective financing and
profitable and stable capital market distribution exits.
We originate loans which are intended to be eligible for sale to Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, (together, the GSEs),
government insured or guaranteed loans, such as FHA, VA and USDA loans, and loans eligible for Ginnie Mae securities
issuance (collectively, the Agencies), in addition to other investors and counterparties (collectively, the Counterparties). It
is important for us to sell or securitize the loans we originate and, when doing so, maintain the option to also sell the related
MSRs associated with these loans. Prepayment speeds on loans generated through our retail direct channel have been a
concern for some investors dating back to 2016 which has resulted and could further result in adverse pricing or delays in
our ability to sell or securitize loans and related MSRs on a timely and profitable basis. During the fourth quarter of 2017,
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Fannie Mae sufficiently limited the manner and volume for our deliveries of eligible loans such that we elected to cease
deliveries to them and we expanded our whole loan investor base for these loans. In 2019, with the creation of the uniform
mortgage-backed securities (UMBS) market, which was intended to improve liquidity and align prepayment speeds across
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac securities, Freddie Mac raised concerns about the high prepayment speeds of our loans
generated through our retail direct channel. During 2019 and 2020, we further expanded our investor base and completed
servicing released loan sales to non-GSE whole loan investors and expect to continue to utilize these alternative exit
strategies for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac eligible loans. In July 2020, we received notification from Freddie Mac that
our eligibility to sell whole loans to Freddie Mac was suspended, without cause. While we believe that the overall volume
delivered under purchase commitments to the GSE’s was immaterial for 2019 and for the year ended December 31, 2020,
we are committed to operating actively and in good standing with our broad range of capital markets counterparties. We
continue to take steps to manage our prepayment speeds to be more consistent with our industry peers and to reestablish the
full confidence and delivery mechanisms to our investor base. We seek to satisfy the requirements as outlined by Freddie
Mac to achieve reinstatement, while we continue to satisfy our obligations on a timely basis to our other counterparties, as
we have done without exception. Despite being in a suspended status with Freddie Mac, we remain an approved originator
and/or seller/servicer with the GSE’s, Agencies and Counterparties for agency, non-agency, and government insured or
guaranteed loan programs.
We believe that current cash balances, cash flows from our mortgage lending operations, real estate services fees
generated from our long-term mortgage portfolio, availability on our warehouse lines of credit and residual interest cash
flows from our long-term mortgage portfolio are adequate for our current operating needs based on the current operating
environment. We believe the mortgage and real estate services market is volatile, highly competitive and subject to
increased regulation. Competition in mortgage lending comes primarily from mortgage bankers, commercial banks, credit
unions and other finance companies which operate in our market area as well as throughout the United States. We compete
for loans principally on the basis of the interest rates and loan fees we charge, the types of loans we originate and the
quality of services we provide to borrowers, brokers and sellers. Additionally, performance of the long-term mortgage
portfolio is subject to the current real estate market and economic conditions. Cash flows from our residual interests in
securitizations are sensitive to delinquencies, defaults and credit losses associated with the securitized loans. Losses in
excess of current estimates will reduce the residual interest cash receipts from our long-term mortgage portfolio.
While we continue to pay our obligations as they become due, the ability to continue to meet our current and longterm obligations is dependent upon many factors, particularly our ability to successfully operate our mortgage lending and
real estate services segment and realize cash flows from the long-term mortgage portfolio. Our future financial performance
and profitability are dependent in large part upon the ability to expand our mortgage lending platform successfully.
Operational and Market Risks
We are exposed to a variety of operation and market risks which include interest rate risk, credit risk, operational
risk, real estate risk, prepayment risk, and liquidity risk.
Interest Rate Risk
Interest Rate Risk—Mortgage Lending. We are exposed to interest rate risks relating to our ongoing mortgage
lending operations. We use derivative instruments to manage some of our interest rate risk. However, we do not attempt to
hedge interest rate risk completely. Our interest rate risk arises from the financial instruments and positions we hold. This
includes mortgage loans held-for-sale, MSRs and derivative financial instruments. These risks are regularly monitored by
executive management that identify and manage the sensitivity of earnings or capital to changing interest rates to achieve
our overall financial objectives.
Our principal market exposure is to interest rate risk, specifically changes in long-term Treasury rates and
mortgage interest rates due to their impact on mortgage-related assets and commitments. We are also exposed to changes in
short-term interest rates, such as LIBOR, on certain variable rate borrowings including our term financing and mortgage
warehouse borrowings. The withdrawal and replacement of LIBOR with an alternative benchmark rate may introduce a
number of risks for our business and the financial services industry. At this time, it is not possible to predict the effect any
discontinuance, modification or other reforms to LIBOR or any other reference rate, or the establishment of alternative
reference rates will have on the Company. Refer to “Risk Factors” for additional discussion regarding risks associated with
the replacement of LIBOR.
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Our business is subject to variability in results of operations in both the mortgage origination and mortgage
servicing activities due to fluctuations in interest rates. In a declining interest rate environment, we would expect our
mortgage production activities’ results of operations to be positively impacted by higher loan origination volumes and gain
on sale margins. Furthermore, with declining rates, we would expect the market value of our MSRs to decline due to higher
actual and projected loan prepayments related to our loan servicing portfolio. Conversely, in a rising interest rate
environment, we would expect a negative impact on the results of operations of our mortgage production activities but a
positive impact on the market values of our MSRs. The interaction between the results of operations of our mortgage
activities is a core component of our overall interest rate risk strategy.
We utilize a discounted cash flow analysis to determine the fair value of MSRs and the impact of parallel interest
rate shifts on MSRs. The primary assumptions in this model are prepayment speeds, discount rates, costs of servicing and
default rates. However, this analysis ignores the impact of interest rate changes on certain material variables, such as the
benefit or detriment on the value of future loan originations, non-parallel shifts in the spread relationships between MBS,
swaps and U.S. Treasury rates and changes in primary and secondary mortgage market spreads. We use a forward yield
curve, which we believe better presents fair value of MSRs because the forward yield curve is the market’s expectation of
future interest rates based on its expectation of inflation and other economic conditions.
Interest rate lock commitments (IRLCs) represent an agreement to extend credit to a mortgage loan applicant, or
an agreement to purchase a loan from a third-party originator, whereby the interest rate on the loan is set prior to funding.
Our mortgage loans held-for-sale, which are held in inventory awaiting sale into the secondary market, and our interest rate
lock commitments, are subject to changes in mortgage interest rates from the date of the commitment through the sale of
the loan into the secondary market. As such, we are exposed to interest rate risk and related price risk during the period
from the date of the lock commitment through the earlier of (i) the lock commitment cancellation or expiration date; or
(ii) the date of sale into the secondary mortgage market. Loan commitments generally range between 15 and 60 days; and
our holding period of the mortgage loan from funding to sale is typically within 15 - 45 days for agency loans and 45 – 75
days for NonQM loans.
We manage the interest rate risk associated with our outstanding IRLCs and mortgage loans held-for-sale by
entering into derivative loan instruments such as forward loan sales commitments or To-Be-Announced mortgage backed
securities (TBA Forward Commitments). We expect these derivatives will experience changes in fair value opposite to
changes in fair value of the derivative IRLCs and mortgage loans held-for-sale, thereby reducing earnings volatility. We
take into account various factors and strategies in determining the portion of the mortgage pipeline (derivative loan
commitments) and mortgage loans held-for-sale we want to economically hedge. Our expectation of how many of our
IRLCs will ultimately close is a key factor in determining the notional amount of derivatives used in hedging the position.
Mortgage loans held-for-sale are financed by our warehouse lines of credit which generally carry variable rates.
Mortgage loans held-for-sale are carried on our consolidated balance sheets on average for only 15 to 45 days after closing
and prior to being sold. As a result, we believe that any negative impact related to our variable rate warehouse borrowings
resulting from a shift in market interest rates would not be material to our consolidated financial statements.
Interest Rate Risk—Securitized Trusts and Long-term Debt. Our earnings from the long-term mortgage portfolio
depend largely on our interest rate spread, represented by the relationship between the yield on our interest-earning assets
(primarily securitized mortgage collateral) and the cost of our interest-bearing liabilities (primarily securitized mortgage
borrowings and long-term debt). Our interest rate spread is impacted by several factors, including general economic factors,
forward interest rates and the credit quality of mortgage loans in the long-term mortgage portfolio.
The residual interests in our long-term mortgage portfolio are sensitive to changes in interest rates on securitized
mortgage collateral and the related securitized mortgage borrowings. Changes in interest rates can affect the cash flows and
fair values of our trust assets and liabilities, as well as our earnings and stockholders’ equity.
We are also subject to interest rate risk on our long-term debt (consisting of junior subordinated notes). These
interest bearing liabilities include adjustable rate periods based on three-month LIBOR plus a margin (junior subordinated
notes). We do not currently hedge our exposure to the effect of changing interest rates related to these interest-bearing
liabilities. Significant fluctuations in interest rates could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations or liquidity.
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Credit Risk
We provide representations and warranties to purchasers and insurers of the loans sold that typically are in place
for the life of the loan. In the event of a breach of these representations and warranties, we may be required to repurchase a
mortgage loan or indemnify the purchaser, and any subsequent loss on the mortgage loan may be borne by us unless we
have recourse to our correspondent seller.
We maintain a reserve for losses on loans repurchased or indemnified as a result of breaches of representations and
warranties on our sold loans. Our estimate is based on our most recent data regarding loan repurchases and indemnity
payments, actual losses on repurchased loans, and recovery history, among other factors. Our assumptions are affected by
factors both internal and external in nature. Internal factors include, among other things, level of loan sales, the expectation
of credit loss on repurchases and indemnifications, our success rate at appealing repurchase demands and our ability to
recover any losses from third parties. External factors that may affect our estimate includes, among other things, the overall
economic condition in the housing market, the economic condition of borrowers, the political environment at investor
agencies and the overall U.S. and world economy. Many of the factors are beyond our control and may lead to judgments
that are susceptible to change.
Counterparty Credit Risk. We are exposed to counterparty credit risk in the event of non-performance by
counterparties to various agreements. We monitor our counterparties and currently do not anticipate losses due to
counterparty non-performance. As of December 31, 2020, we believe there were no significant concentrations of credit
risk related to our exposure with any individual counterparty.
Credit Risk-Securitized Trusts. We manage credit risk by actively managing delinquencies and defaults through
our servicers. Starting with the second half of 2007 we have not retained any additional mortgages in our long-term
mortgage portfolio. Our securitized mortgage collateral primarily consists of non-conforming mortgages which when
originated were generally within typical Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac guidelines but had loan characteristics, which may
have included higher loan balances, higher loan-to-value ratios or lower documentation requirements (including statedincome loans), that made them non-conforming under those guidelines.
Using historical losses, current portfolio statistics and market conditions and available market data, we have
estimated future loan losses on the long- term mortgage portfolio, which are included in the fair value adjustment to our
securitized mortgage collateral. The credit performance for the loans has been clearly far worse than our initial expectations
when the loans were originated. We have seen some restoration of real estate values, however the ultimate level of realized
losses will largely be influenced by local real estate conditions in areas where underlying properties are located, including
the recovery of the housing market and overall strength of the economy. If market conditions deteriorate in excess of our
expectations, we may need to recognize additional fair value reductions to our securitized mortgage collateral, which may
also affect the value of the related securitized mortgage borrowings and residual interests.
We monitor our servicers to attempt to ensure that they perform loss mitigation, foreclosure and collection
functions according to their servicing practices and each securitization trust’s pooling and servicing agreement. We have
met with the management of our servicers to assess our borrowers’ current ability to pay their mortgages and to make
arrangements with selected delinquent borrowers which will result in the best interest of the trust and borrower, in an effort
to minimize the number of mortgages which become seriously delinquent. When resolving delinquent mortgages, servicers
are required to take timely action. The servicer is required to determine payment collection under various circumstances,
which will result in the maximum financial benefit. This is accomplished by either working with the borrower to bring the
mortgage current by modifying the loan with terms that will maximize the recovery or by foreclosing and liquidating the
property. At a foreclosure sale, the trusts consolidated on our consolidated balance sheets generally acquire title to the
property.
Operational Risk
Operational risk is inherent in our business practices and related support functions. Operational risk is the risk of
loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes or systems, human factors or external events. Operational risk
may occur in any of our business activities and can manifest itself in various ways including, but not limited to, errors
resulting from business process failures, material disruption in business activities, system breaches and misuse of sensitive
information and failures of outsourced business processes. These events could result in non-compliance with laws or
regulations, regulatory fines and penalties, litigation or other financial losses, including potential losses resulting from lost
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client relationships.
Our business is subject to extensive regulation by federal, state and local government authorities, which require us
to operate in accordance with various laws, regulations, and judicial and administrative decisions. While we are not a bank,
our business subjects us to both direct and indirect banking supervision (including examinations by our clients' regulators),
and each client may require a unique compliance model. In recent years, there have been a number of developments in laws
and regulations that have required, and will likely continue to require, widespread changes to our business. The frequent
introduction of new rules, changes to the interpretation or application of existing rules, increased focus of regulators, and
near-zero defect performance expectations have increased our operational risk related to compliance with laws and
regulations.
Our operational risk includes managing risks relating to information systems and information security. As a
service provider, we actively utilize technology and information systems to operate our business and support business
development. We also must safeguard the confidential personal information of our customers, as well as the confidential
personal information of the employees and customers of our clients. We consider industry best practices to manage our
technology risk, and we continually develop and enhance the controls, processes and systems to protect our information
systems and data from unauthorized access.
To monitor and control this risk, we have established policies, procedures and a controls framework that are
designed to provide sound and consistent risk management processes and transparent operational risk reporting.
Real Estate Risk
Residential property values are subject to volatility and may be negatively affected by numerous factors,
including, but not limited to, national, regional and local economic conditions such as unemployment and interest rate
environment; local real estate conditions including housing inventory and foreclosures; and demographic factors. Decreases
in property values reduce the value of the collateral securing and the potential proceeds available to a borrower to repay our
loans, which could cause us to suffer losses.
Prepayment Risk
Prepayment speed is a measurement of how quickly UPB is reduced. Items reducing UPB include normal monthly
loan principal payments, loan refinancing’s, voluntary property sales and involuntary property sales such as foreclosures or
short sales. Prepayment speed impacts future servicing fees, fair value of mortgage servicing rights and float income. When
prepayment speed increases, our servicing fees decrease faster than projected due to the shortened life of a portfolio. Faster
prepayment speeds will cause our mortgage servicing rights fair value to decrease.
We historically used prepayment penalties as a method of partially mitigating prepayment risk for those borrowers
that have the ability to refinance. The economic downturn, lack of available credit and declines in property values in certain
parts of the country have limited some borrowers’ ability to refinance. These factors have reduced prepayment risk within
our long-term mortgage portfolio. With the seasoning of the long-term mortgage portfolio, prepayment penalties terms
have expired, thereby eliminating prepayment penalty income.
Liquidity Risk
We are exposed to liquidity risks relating to our ongoing mortgage lending operations. We primarily fund our
mortgage lending originations through warehouse facilities with third-party lenders and MSR financing facilities. Refer to
“Liquidity and Capital Resources” for additional information regarding liquidity.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
When we sell or broker loans through whole-loan sales, we are required to make normal and customary
representations and warranties to the loan originators or purchasers, including guarantees against early payment defaults
typically 90 days, and fraudulent misrepresentations by the borrowers. Our agreements generally require us to repurchase
loans if we breach a representation or warranty given to the loan purchaser. In addition, we may be required to repurchase
loans as a result of borrower fraud or if a payment default occurs on a mortgage loan shortly after its sale. Because the
loans are no longer on our consolidated balance sheets, the representations and warranties are considered a guarantee.
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During 2020, we sold $3.3 billion of loans subject to representations and warranties. At December 31, 2020, we had $7.1
million in repurchase reserve as compared to a reserve of $9.0 million as December 31, 2019.
See disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements under “Commitments and Contingencies” for
other arrangements that qualify as off balance sheets arrangements.
Contractual Obligations
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this Item.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this Item.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The information required by this Item 8 is incorporated by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s
Consolidated Financial Statements and Independent Auditors’ Report beginning at page F-1 of this Form 10-K.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e)) designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the
reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management,
including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
The Company’s management, with the participation of its chief executive officer (CEO) and its chief financial
officer (CFO), evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2020. Based on
that evaluation, the Company’s CEO and CFO concluded that, as of that date, the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Section 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s CEO and CFO to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company’s financial statements for reporting purposes in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and include those policies and
procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
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unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
As of December 31, 2020, management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on the framework established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 Framework) (COSO). Based on the
criteria established by COSO, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2020.
Our management, including our CEO and CFO, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our
internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be
met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of
controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation
of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have
been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that
breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of
some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by improper management override of the controls. Over time,
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with
associated policies or procedures. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, there is a risk that
material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and will not be detected on a timely basis.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the quarter ended December 31, 2020, there were no changes in our internal control
over financial reporting that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None
PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by this Item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s
definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc.’s fiscal year.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this Item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s
definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc.’s fiscal year.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by this Item 12 including Equity Compensation Plan Information is hereby incorporated
by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within
120 days after the end of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s fiscal year.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s
definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc.’s fiscal year.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this Item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference to Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.’s
definitive proxy statement, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc.’s fiscal year.
PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)(1) Financial Statements - Consolidated financial statements are included under Item 8 of Part II of this Form 10-K.
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules - All financial statement schedules have been omitted either because they are not
applicable or because the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements.
(a)(3) Exhibits - The exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibit Index are incorporated by reference into this Item 15 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1(P)

Articles of Amendment and Restatement (Charter) of the Company (incorporated by reference to the corresponding
exhibit number to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, as amended (File No. 33-96670), filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 8, 1995).

3.1(a)

Certificate of Correction to the Company’s Charter (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(a) of the Company’s 10-K
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 16, 1999).

3.1(b)

Articles of Amendment to the Company’s Charter to correct certain sections of Article VII (Restriction Transfer and
Redemption of Shares) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1(b) of the Company’s 10-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 16, 1999).

3.1(c)

Articles of Amendment to the Company’s Charter for change of name of the Company (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1(a) of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A Amendment No. 1, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 12, 1998).

3.1(d)

Articles of Amendment to the Company’s Charter, increasing authorized shares of Common Stock of the Company
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 of the Company’s Form 8-A/A, Amendment No. 2, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on July 30, 2002).

3.1(e)

Articles of Amendment to the Company’s Charter, amending and restating Article VII [Restriction or Transfer, Acquisition
and Redemption of Shares] (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 7 of the Company’s Form 8-A/A, Amendment No. 1,
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30, 2004).

3.1(f)

Articles Supplementary to Company’s Charter designating 9.375 percent Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred
Stock, liquidation preference $25.00 per share, par value $0.01 per share, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.8 of the
Company’s Form 8-A/A, Amendment No. 1, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 30, 2004).

3.1(g)

Articles Supplementary to Company’s Charter designating 9.125 percent Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred
Stock, liquidation preference $25.00 per share, par value $0.01 per share, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.10 of the
Company’s Form 8-A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 19, 2004).
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Exhibit
Number
3.1(h)

Description
Articles of Amendment to the Company’s Charter, effecting 1-for-10 reverse stock split (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 30, 2008).

3.1(i)

Articles of Amendment to the Company’s Charter, to decrease Common Stock par value (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
December 30, 2008).

3.1(j)

Articles of Amendment to the Company’s Charter, to amend and restate Series B Preferred Stock (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on June 30, 2009).

3.1(k)

Articles of Amendment to the Company’s Charter, to amend and restate Series C Preferred Stock (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on June 30, 2009).

3.1(l)

Articles Supplementary to the Company’s Charter to reclassify and designate Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred
Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on September 4, 2013).

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws, as amended to date (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 3, 2020).

4.1

Form of Stock Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to the corresponding exhibit number to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, as amended (File No. 33-96670), filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on September 7, 1995).

4.2

Junior Subordinated Indenture between Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, National Association, as Trustee, related to Junior Subordinated Note due 2034 in the principal amount of
$30,244,000 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 10, 2019).

4.3

Junior Subordinated Indenture between Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, National Association, as Trustee, related to Junior Subordinated Note due 2034 in the principal amount of
$31,756,000 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.4 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 10, 2019).

4.4

Tax Benefits Preservation Rights Agreement dated as of October 23, 2019 by and between Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.
and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, as Rights Agent (incorporated by referenced to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 23, 2019).

4.5

Description of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended.

4.6

Form of Warrant, dated April 15, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-k filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 16, 2020)

10.1(a)

Form of 2018 Indemnification Agreement with Officers and Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2018).

10.2

Lease dated March 1, 2005 regarding 19500 Jamboree Road, Irvine, California (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8
of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31, 2005).

10.2(a)

Amendment to Office Lease (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 28, 2016).

10.3*

Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan, (as amended) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 26, 2019).

10.3(a)*

Form of Notice of Grant of Incentive/Non Qualified Stock Option Award Agreement for 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.6 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on September 10, 2010).

10.3(b)*

Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Agreement for 2010 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.7 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
September 10, 2010).
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Exhibit
Number
10.3(c)*

Description
Form of Stock Option Agreement for 2001 Stock Option, Deferred Stock and Restricted Stock Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on November 9, 2004).

10.4*

Non-Employee Director Deferred Stock Unit Award Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010).

10.4(a)*

Form of Notice of Grant Under Non-Employee Director Deferred Stock Unit Award Program (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.6(a) of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
March 31, 2011).

10.5 *

Confidential Separation and Release Agreement dated January 14, 2019 between Ronald Morrison and Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8(c) of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on October 29, 2020).

10.6

Form of Amended and Restated Convertible Promissory Note Due May 9, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 12, 2015).

10.7

Loan and Security Agreement dated as of February 10, 2017 between Impac Mortgage Corp. and Western Alliance Bank
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on February 16, 2017).

10.7(a)

Promissory Note dated as of February 10, 2017 issued by Impac Mortgage Corp. to Western Alliance Bank (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 16, 2017).

10.8

Line of Credit Promissory Note with Merchants Bank of Indiana, dated August 17, 2017 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
August 22, 2017).

10.9(a)

Security Agreement executed by Impac Mortgage Corp. in favor of Merchants Bank of Indiana, dated August 17, 2017
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on August 22, 2017).

10.9(b)

Amendment dated February 7, 2018 to Line of Credit Promissory Note with Merchants Bank of Indiana. (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.15(b) the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 16, 2018).
Amendment dated May 16, 2018 to Line of Credit Promissory Note with Merchants Bank of Indiana (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 19, 2018.

10.9(c)

10.9(d)

Confirmation and Amendment dated April 18, 2019 to Line of Credit Promissory Note with Merchants Bank of Indiana
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2019).

10.10*

Key Executive Employment Agreement effective as of January 1, 2018 between Impac Mortgage Corp, Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc. and George Mangiaracina (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 10, 2018).

10.11*

Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (“2020 Equity Incentive Plan”) (incorporated by reference to
Appendix A to the Company’s definitive proxy statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 28,
2020).

10.11(a)*

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-k filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 25, 2020).

10.11(b)*

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-k filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 25, 2020).

10.11(c)*

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-k filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 25, 2020).

21.1

Subsidiaries of the Company.

23.1

Consent of Baker Tilly US, LLP.
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Exhibit
Number
31.1

Description
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Item 601(b)(31) of Regulation S-K, as adopted pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1**

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101

The following financial information from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020,
formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (1) the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets, (2) the
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss, (3) the Condensed Consolidated Statements
of Stockholders’ Equity, (4) the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (5) Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of text.

*

Denotes a management or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an Exhibit pursuant to Item 601 of
Regulation S-K

** This Exhibit shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or otherwise subject to
the liabilities of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation
language in any filings.
NOTE: Filings on Form 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K are under SEC File No. 001-14100.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
None
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Irvine, State
of California, on the 12th day of March 2021.
IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC.
by /s/ GEORGE A MANGIARACINA
George A Mangiaracina
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

/s/ GEORGE A. MANGIARACINA
George A. Mangiaracina

/s/ PAUL LICON
Paul Licon

Title

Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and
Director (Principal Executive Officer)
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)

Date

March 12, 2021

March 12, 2021

/s/ KATHERINE BLAIR
Katherine Blair

Director

March 12, 2021

/s/ FRANK P. FILIPPS
Frank P. Filipps

Director

March 12, 2021

/s/ STEWART B. KOENIGSBERG
STEWART B KOENIGSBERG

Director

March 12, 2021
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
Company) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss,
changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial
statements (collectively, the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting
firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our
audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts
or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing separate opinions on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
Fair Value Measurements of Level 3 Assets and Liabilities
Critical Audit Matter Description:
As described in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, approximately 89% of the Company’s consolidated assets
and approximately 91% of the Company’s consolidated liabilities are measured at fair value utilizing models and
unobservable inputs. Unlike the fair value of Level 1 financial assets and liabilities which are readily observable, these
financial assets and liabilities are not actively traded, and fair value is determined based on valuation methodologies,
valuation models, and unobservable inputs to those models.
We identified the valuation of Level 3 financial assets and liabilities as a critical audit matter because of the significance of
Level 3 financial assets and liabilities to the total consolidated assets and liabilities of the Company, and the unobservable
inputs, complexity of models and methodologies used by management to estimate fair value for these Level
F-2
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3 financial assets and liabilities. The valuations involve a high degree of auditor judgment and increased efforts, including
the involvement of a valuation specialist who possesses significant quantitative analysis and modeling experience, to assist
with the audit and evaluation of the appropriateness of the models utilized and the evaluation of the appropriateness of
unobservable inputs used by management. The unobservable inputs used by management to estimate the fair value of Level
3 financial assets and liabilities include, among others, prepayment speeds, default rates, discount rates and yields, loss
severities and pull-through rates.
How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit:
The primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter included, among others:
●

Testing the design effectiveness of the Company’s valuation controls, including:
Ø Independent price verification controls to determine yields, where applicable.
Ø Data validation controls (data inputs to models).
Ø Management review of reasonableness of underlying assumptions.

●

Evaluating the reasonableness of management’s valuation methodology and estimates:
Ø Testing the mathematical accuracy of the valuation models utilized by the Company and agreeing the
resulting values in the models to the Company’s books and records.
Ø Evaluating the valuation methodologies utilized by the Company by comparing the methodologies to those
utilized by other companies holding similar financial instruments.
Ø Where applicable, developing valuation estimates using valuation models created by our valuation specialist
and inputting the underlying loan‐level data and assumptions inputs from the Company into our models and
comparing the results against the results of the Company.
Ø Evaluating the reasonableness of significant unobservable inputs by comparing management’s inputs
with inputs from external sources and available economic forecasts and data.
Ø Comparing actual cash flows to management’s projections.

We evaluated management’s ability to estimate fair value by 1) comparing management’s historical projected
prepayment and loss curves to actual results, where applicable and 2) comparing management’s valuation estimates to
subsequent transactions with a reconciliation of subsequent market events, when available.
/s/ Baker Tilly US, LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2008.
Irvine, California
March 12, 2021
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)
3

December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Mortgage loans held-for-sale
Mortgage servicing rights
Securitized mortgage trust assets
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

54,150
5,602
164,422
339
2,103,269
41,524
2,369,306

$

151,932
20,000
44,413
2,086,557
50,753
2,353,655

$

$

24,666
12,466
782,143
41,470
2,634,746
50,788
3,546,279

LIABILITIES
Warehouse borrowings
Convertible notes, net
Long-term debt
Securitized mortgage trust liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

$

701,563
24,996
45,434
2,619,210
50,839
3,442,042

Commitments and contingencies (See Note 13)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Series A-1 junior participating preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 2,500,000 shares authorized; none issued or
outstanding
Series B 9.375% redeemable preferred stock, $0.01 par value; liquidation value $34,190; 2,000,000 shares
authorized, 665,592 noncumulative shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019 (See Note 8)
Series C 9.125% redeemable preferred stock, $0.01 par value; liquidation value $35,127; 5,500,000 shares
authorized; 1,405,086 noncumulative shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019 (See Note 8)
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized; 21,238,191 and 21,255,426 shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive earnings, net of tax
Total accumulated deficit:
Cumulative dividends declared
Accumulated deficit
Total accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

—

—

7

7

14

14

212
1,237,102
24,766

212
1,236,237
24,786

(822,520)
(423,930)
(1,246,450)
15,651
2,369,306

(822,520)
(334,499)
(1,157,019)
104,237
3,546,279

$

Table of Contents

IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands, except per share data)
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2020
2019

Revenues
Gain on sale of loans, net
Servicing fees, net
Real estate services fees, net
Loss on mortgage servicing rights, net
Other
Total revenues, net
Expenses
Personnel
General, administrative and other
Business promotion
Total expenses
Operating loss

$

14,004
3,603
1,312
(28,509)
1,498
(8,092)

$

98,830
12,943
3,287
(24,911)
479
90,628

52,880
24,534
3,859
81,273
(89,365)

65,191
22,410
9,319
96,920
(6,292)

$

165,198
(155,868)
(1,429)
(9,831)
(1,930)
(8,222)
(245)
(7,977)

Other income (expense)
Interest income
Interest expense
Change in fair value of long-term debt
Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO losses
Total other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net loss

$

118,908
(113,771)
1,899
(5,688)
1,348
(88,017)
133
(88,150)

Other comprehensive loss
Change in fair value of instrument specific credit risk of long-term debt
Total comprehensive loss

$

(20)
(88,170)

$

909
(7,068)

$
$

(4.15)
(4.15)

$
$

(0.38)
(0.38)

Net loss per common share:
Basic
Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except share data)
Preferred
Shares
Outstanding

Balance,
December 31, 2018
Proceeds and tax
benefit from
exercise of stock
options
Issuance of
restricted stock
Stock based
compensation
Other
comprehensive
earnings
Net loss
Balance,
December 31, 2019
Proceeds from
exercise of stock
options
Stock based
compensation
Retirement of
restricted stock
Issuance of
restricted stock
units
Issuance of
warrants in
connection with
debt financing
Other
comprehensive loss
Consolidation of
corporate-owned
life insurance trusts
Net loss
Balance,
December 31, 2020

Preferred
Stock

Common
Shares
Outstanding

Common
Stock

$

21

21,117,006

$

—

—

—

2,070,678

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Cumulative
Dividends
Declared

Accumulated Other
Accumulated Comprehensive
Deficit Earnings, net of tax

211

$1,235,108

103,351

1

344

—

—

—

345

—

35,069

—

125

—

—

—

125

—

—

—

—

660

—

—

—

660

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

21

21,255,426

212

$1,236,237

—

—

9,500

—

46

—

—

—

46

—

—

—

—

702

—

—

—

702

—

—

(35,069)

—

(125)

—

—

—

(125)

—

—

8,334

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

242

—

—

—

242

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(20)

(20)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

21

21,238,191

212

$1,237,102

2,070,678

2,070,678

$

$

$

$

$(822,520) $ (326,522)$

—
(7,977)

$(822,520) $ (334,499)$

(1,281)
(88,150)

$(822,520) $ (423,930)$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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23,877

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

$

909
—
24,786

909
(7,977)
$

—
—
24,766

110,175

104,237

(1,281)
(88,150)
$

15,651
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2020
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Loss (gain) on sale of mortgage servicing rights
Change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights
Gain on sale of mortgage-backed securities
Gain on sale of mortgage loans
Change in fair value of mortgage loans held-for-sale
Change in fair value of derivatives lending, net
Change in provision for repurchases
Origination of mortgage loans held-for-sale
Sale and principal reduction on mortgage loans held-for-sale
(Gain) loss from trust REO
Change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding trust REO
Change in fair value of long-term debt
Accretion of interest income and expense
Amortization of intangible and other assets
Amortization of debt issuance costs and discount on note payable
Stock-based compensation
Accretion of interest expense on corporate debt
Net change in other assets
Net change in other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

$

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net change in securitized mortgage collateral
Proceeds from the sale of mortgage servicing rights
Investment in corporate-owned life insurance
Purchase of premises and equipment
Purchase of mortgage-backed securities
Proceeds from the sale of mortgage-backed securities
Proceeds from the sale of trust REO
Net cash provided by investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of MSR financing
Borrowings under MSR financing
Repayment of warehouse borrowings
Borrowings under warehouse agreements
Repayment of securitized mortgage borrowings
Repayment of convertible notes
Net change in liabilities related to corporate owned life insurance
Principal payments on capital lease
(Retirement) issuance of restricted stock
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Net cash used in financing activities
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

$

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Interest paid
Taxes refunded (paid), net
NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
Transfer of securitized mortgage collateral to trust REO
Mortgage servicing rights retained from issuance of mortgage backed securities and loan sales
Recognition of corporate-owned life insurance cash surrender value (included in Other assets)
Recognition of corporate-owned life insurance trusts (included in Other liabilities)
Issuance of warrants
Recognition of operating lease right of use assets (net of $3.8 million of deferred rent in 2019)
Recognition of operating lease liabilities

$

(7,977)
(860)
25,771
(136)
(84,035)
(15,810)
(4,472)
5,487
(4,548,750)
4,217,562
6,434
3,397
1,429
27,272
572
17
660
—
8,400
(12,503)
(377,542)

425,152
14,716
(1,183)
(402)
—
—
21,977
460,260

565,600
—
—
(862)
(10,346)
11,502
23,804
589,698

(15,448)
15,448
(3,200,268)
2,650,637
(518,594)
(5,000)
1,812
—
(125)
46
(1,071,492)
22,620
37,132
59,752

(8,000)
8,000
(3,746,311)
4,163,737
(623,028)
—
—
(81)
125
345
(205,213)
6,943
30,189
37,132

$

$

50,647
370

$

116,807
(345)

$

10,922
2,094
9,476
10,757
242
125
125

$

27,186
2,491
—
—
—
20,538
24,291

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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2019

(88,150)
6,547
21,962
—
(35,193)
15,955
7
5,227
(2,746,893)
3,381,758
(7,393)
13,081
(1,899)
65,524
—
4
702
242
18,289
(15,918)
633,852
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IMPAC MORTGAGE HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands, except per share data or as otherwise indicated)
Note 1.—Summary of Business and Financial Statement Presentation including Significant Accounting Policies
Business Summary
Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (the Company or IMH) is a financial services company incorporated in Maryland
with the following direct and indirect wholly-owned operating subsidiaries: Integrated Real Estate Service Corporation
(IRES), Impac Mortgage Corp. (IMC), IMH Assets Corp. (IMH Assets), Impac Funding Corporation (IFC) and
Copperfield Capital Corporation (CCC). CCC was created in the second quarter of 2020 to, among other activities, assist
with managing mortgage loans held-for-sale, and provide origination and servicing solutions focusing on loss mitigation
strategies, including loan modifications and restructurings to assist borrowers. The Company’s operations include the
mortgage lending operations and real estate services conducted by IRES, IMC and CCC and the long-term mortgage
portfolio (residual interests in securitizations reflected as securitized mortgage trust assets and liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheets) conducted by IMH. IMC’s mortgage lending operations include the activities of its division, CashCall
Mortgage.
Financial Statement Presentation
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of IMH and its subsidiaries (as defined above) have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). All
significant inter-company balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In addition, certain immaterial
amounts in the prior periods’ consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year
presentation.
Management has made a number of material estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period to prepare these consolidated financial statements
in conformity with GAAP. Additionally, other items affected by such estimates and assumptions include the valuation of
trust assets and trust liabilities, contingencies, the estimated obligation of repurchase liabilities related to sold loans, the
valuation of long-term debt, mortgage servicing rights (MSRs), mortgage loans held-for-sale (LHFS) and derivative
instruments, including interest rate lock commitments (IRLCs). Actual results could differ from those estimates and
assumptions.
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include accounts of IMH and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
The usual condition for a controlling financial interest is ownership of a majority of the voting interests of an entity.
However, a controlling financial interest may also exist in entities, such as variable interest entities (VIEs), through
arrangements that do not involve voting interests.
The VIE framework requires a variable interest holder (counterparty to a VIE) to consolidate the VIE if that party
has the power to direct activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance, will absorb a
majority of the expected losses of the VIE, will receive a majority of the residual returns of the VIE, or both, and directs the
significant activities of the entity. This party is considered the primary beneficiary of the entity. The determination of
whether the Company meets the criteria to be considered the primary beneficiary of a VIE requires an evaluation of all
transactions (such as investments, liquidity commitments, derivatives and fee arrangements) with the entity. The
assessment of whether or not the Company is the primary beneficiary of the VIE is performed on an ongoing basis.
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Significant Accounting Policies
Fair Value Option
The Company has elected the fair value option for mortgage servicing rights, mortgage loans held-for-sale, longterm debt and its consolidated non-recourse securitizations (securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage
borrowings). Elections were made to mitigate income statement volatility caused by differences in the measurement basis
of elected instruments.
Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at
the date of acquisition. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value.
Cash balances that have restrictions as to the Company’s ability to withdraw funds are considered restricted cash.
At December 31, 2020 and 2019, restricted cash totaled $5.6 million and $12.5 million, respectively. The restricted cash is
the result of the terms of the Company’s warehouse borrowing agreements as well as collateral against letter of credit
financing associated with corporate-owned life insurance (See Note 13.—Commitments and Contingencies). In accordance
with the terms of the Master Repurchase Agreements related to the warehouse borrowings, the Company is required to
maintain cash balances with the lender as additional collateral for the borrowings (See Note 5.—Debt).
Mortgage Loans Held-for-Sale
Mortgage LHFS are accounted for using the fair value option, with changes in fair value recorded in gain on sale
of loans, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. In accordance with
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 825, Financial Instruments, loan
origination fees and expenses are recognized in earnings as incurred and not deferred.
Revenue derived from the Company’s mortgage lending activities includes loan fees collected at the time of
origination and gain or loss from the sale of LHFS. Loan fees consist of fee income earned on all loan originations,
including loans closed and held-for-sale. Loan fees are recognized as earned and consist of amounts collected for
application and underwriting fees, fees on cancelled loans and discount points. The related direct loan origination costs are
recognized when incurred and consists of broker fees and commissions. Gain or loss from the sale and mark-to-market
adjustments of LHFS includes both realized and unrealized gains and losses and are included in gain on sale of loans, net in
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The valuation of LHFS approximates a
whole-loan price, which includes the value of the related mortgage servicing rights.
The Company primarily sells its LHFS to government sponsored entities (GSEs) and investors. The Company
evaluates its loan sales for sales treatment. To the extent the transfer of loans qualifies as a sale, the Company derecognizes
the loans and records a realized gain or loss on the sale date. In the event the Company determines that the transfer of loans
does not qualify as a sale, the transfer would be treated as a secured borrowing. Interest on loans is recorded as income
when earned and deemed collectible. LHFS are placed on nonaccrual status when any portion of the principal or interest is
90 days past due or earlier if factors indicate that the ultimate collectability of the principal or interest is not probable.
Interest received from loans on nonaccrual status is recorded as income when collected. Loans return to accrual status when
the principal and interest become current and it is probable that the amounts are fully collectible.
Mortgage Servicing Rights
The Company accounts for mortgage loan sales in accordance with FASB ASC 860, Transfers and Servicing.
Upon sale of mortgage loans on a service-retained basis, the LHFS are removed from the consolidated balance sheets and
mortgage servicing rights (MSRs) are recorded as an asset for servicing rights retained. The Company elects to measure
MSRs at fair value as prescribed by FASB ASC 860-50-35, and as such, servicing assets or liabilities are valued using
discounted cash flow modeling techniques using assumptions regarding future net servicing cash flow, including
prepayment rates, discount rates, servicing cost and other factors. Changes in estimated fair value are reported in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss within loss on mortgage servicing rights, net.
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When the Company sells mortgage servicing rights, the Company records a gain or loss on such sale based on the
selling price of the mortgage servicing rights less the carrying value and transaction costs. Gains and losses are reported in
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss within loss on mortgage servicing rights,
net.
Consolidated Non-recourse Securitizations
Securitized Mortgage Collateral
The Company’s long-term mortgage portfolio primarily includes adjustable rate and, to a lesser extent, fixed rate
non-conforming mortgages and commercial mortgages that were acquired and originated by the Company’s mortgage and
commercial operations prior to 2008.
Non-conforming mortgages may not have certain documentation or verifications that are required by government
sponsored entities and, therefore, in making our credit decisions, the Company was more reliant upon the borrower’s credit
score and the adequacy of the underlying collateral.
Historically, the Company securitized mortgages in the form of collateralized mortgage obligations (CMO) or real
estate mortgage investment conduits (REMICs). These securitizations are evaluated for consolidation based on the
provisions of FASB ASC 810-10-25. Amounts consolidated are included in trust assets and liabilities as securitized
mortgage collateral, real estate owned (REO) and securitized mortgage borrowings in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.
The Company accounts for securitized mortgage collateral at fair value, with changes in fair value during the
period reflected in earnings. Fair value measurements are based on the Company’s estimated cash flow models, which
incorporate assumptions, inputs of other market participants and quoted prices for the underlying bonds. The Company’s
assumptions include its expectations of inputs that other market participants would use. These assumptions include
judgments about the underlying collateral, prepayment speeds, credit losses, investor yield requirements, forward interest
rates and certain other factors.
Interest income on securitized mortgage collateral is recorded using the effective yield for the period based on the
previous quarter-end’s estimated fair value. Securitized mortgage collateral is generally not placed on nonaccrual status as
the servicer advances the interest payments to the trust regardless of the delinquency status of the underlying mortgage
loan, until it becomes apparent to the servicer that the advance is not collectible.
Real Estate Owned
Real estate owned on the consolidated balance sheets are primarily assets within the securitized trusts but are
recorded as a separate asset for accounting and reporting purposes and are within the long-term mortgage portfolio. REO,
which consists of residential real estate acquired in satisfaction of loans, is carried at net realizable value, which includes
the estimated fair value of the residential real estate less estimated selling and holding costs. Adjustments to the loan
carrying value required at the time of foreclosure affect the carrying amount of REO. Subsequent write-downs in the net
realizable value of REO are included in change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO (losses) gains in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
Securitized Mortgage Borrowings
The Company records securitized mortgage borrowings in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets for the
consolidated CMO and REMIC securitized trusts within the long-term mortgage portfolio. The debt from each issuance of
a securitized mortgage borrowing is payable from the principal and interest payments on the underlying mortgages
collateralizing such debt, as well as the proceeds from liquidations of REO. If the principal and interest payments are
insufficient to repay the debt, the shortfall is allocated first to the residual interest holders (generally owned by the
Company) then, if necessary, to the certificate holders (e.g. third party investors in the securitized mortgage borrowings) in
accordance with the specific terms of the various respective indentures. Securitized mortgage borrowings typically are
structured as one-month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) “floaters” and fixed rate securities with interest payable
to certificate holders monthly. The maturity of each class of securitized mortgage borrowing is directly affected by the
amount of net interest spread, overcollateralization and the rate of principal prepayments and defaults on the related
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securitized mortgage collateral. The actual maturity of any class of a securitized mortgage borrowing can occur later than
the stated maturities of the underlying mortgages.
When the Company issued securitized mortgage borrowings, the Company generally sought an investment grade
rating for the Company’s securitized mortgages by nationally recognized rating agencies. To secure such ratings, it was
often necessary to incorporate certain structural features that provide for credit enhancement. This generally included the
pledge of collateral in excess of the principal amount of the securities to be issued, a bond guaranty insurance policy for
some or all of the issued securities, or additional forms of mortgage insurance. These securitization transactions are nonrecourse to the Company and the total loss exposure is limited to the Company’s initial net economic investment in each
trust, which is referred to as a residual interest.
The Company accounts for securitized mortgage borrowings at fair value, with changes in fair value during the
period reflected in earnings. Fair value measurements are based on the Company’s estimated cash flow models, which
incorporate assumptions, inputs of other market participants and quoted prices for the underlying bonds. The Company’s
assumptions include its expectations of inputs that other market participants would use. These assumptions include
judgments about the underlying collateral, prepayment speeds, credit losses, investor yield requirements, forward interest
rates and certain other factors. Interest expense on securitized mortgage borrowings are recorded quarterly using the
effective yield for the period based on the previous quarter-end’s estimated fair value.
Leases
On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)”,
using the modified retrospective transition approach and elected the practical expedients transition option to recognize the
adjustment in the period of adoption rather than in the earliest period presented. On January 1, 2019, the Company
recognized right of use (ROU) assets of $19.7 million (net of the reversal of $3.8 million deferred rent liability) and lease
liabilities of $23.4 million which are included in other assets and other liabilities, respectively, in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. (See Note 13.— Commitments and Contingencies).
The Company has three operating leases for office space expiring at various dates through 2024 and one financing
lease which concludes in 2023. The Company determines if a contract is a lease at the inception of the arrangement and
reviews all options to extend, terminate, or purchase its ROU assets at the inception of the lease and accounts for these
options when they are reasonably certain of being exercised. Regarding the discount rate, Topic 842 requires the use of the
rate implicit in the lease whenever this rate is readily determinable. When the Company cannot readily determine the rate
implicit in the lease, the Company determines its incremental borrowing rate by using the rate of interest that it would have
to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term. As a practical expedient permitted under Topic 842, the
Company elected to account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component for all leases of which it is
the lessee. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded in the consolidated balance sheets and lease
expense for these leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. For operating leases existing prior to
January 1, 2019, the rate used for the remaining lease term was determined as of the date of adoption.
Derivative Instruments
In accordance with FASB ASC 815-10 Derivatives and Hedging—Overview, the Company records all derivative
instruments at fair value. The Company has accounted for all its derivatives as non-designated hedge instruments or freestanding derivatives.
The mortgage lending operation enters into IRLCs with consumers to originate mortgage loans at a specified
interest rate. These IRLCs are accounted for as derivative instruments. The fair values of IRLCs utilize current secondary
market prices for underlying loans and estimated servicing value with similar coupons, maturities and credit quality, subject
to the anticipated loan funding probability (pull-through rate). The fair value of IRLCs is subject to change primarily due to
changes in interest rates and the estimated pull-through rate. The Company reports IRLCs within other assets and other
liabilities at fair value with changes in fair value being recorded in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive loss within gain on sale of loans, net.
The Company hedges the changes in fair value associated with changes in interest rates related to IRLCs and
uncommitted LHFS by using forward delivery commitments on mortgage-backed securities, including Federal National
Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae or FNMA) and Government National Mortgage Association (Ginnie Mae or GNMA)
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mortgage-backed securities known as to-be-announced mortgage-backed securities (TBA MBS or Hedging Instruments) as
well as forward delivery commitments on whole loans. The Hedging Instruments and forward delivery loan commitments
are used to fix the forward sales price that will be realized upon the sale of mortgage loans into the secondary market and
are accounted for as derivative instruments. The fair value of Hedging Instruments and forward delivery loan commitments
are subject to change primarily due to changes in interest rates. The Company reports Hedging Instruments and forward
delivery loan commitments within other assets and other liabilities at fair value with changes in fair value being recorded in
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss within gain on sale of loans, net.
The fair value of IRLCs and Hedging Instruments are represented as derivative assets, lending, net and derivative
liabilities, lending, net in Note 9.—Fair Value of Financial Instruments.
Long-term Debt
Long-term debt (junior subordinated notes) is reported at fair value. These securities are measured based upon an
analysis prepared by management, which considers the Company’s own credit risk and discounted cash flow analysis. With
the adoption of ASU 2016-01 in 2018, which applies when the Company elects the fair value election on its own debt, the
Company effectively bifurcates the market and instrument specific credit risk components of changes in long-term debt.
The market portion continues to be a component of net loss as the change in fair value of long-term debt, but the
instrument specific credit risk portion is a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, as required by the adoption of ASU 2016-01.
Repurchase Reserve
The Company sells mortgage loans in the secondary market, including U.S. GSEs, and issues mortgage-backed
securities through Ginnie Mae and Fannie Mae. When the Company sells or issues securities, it makes customary
representations and warranties to the purchasers about various characteristics of each loan such as the origination and
underwriting guidelines, including but not limited to the validity of the lien securing the loan, property eligibility, borrower
credit, income and asset requirements, and compliance with applicable federal, state and local laws. In the event of a breach
of its representations and warranties, the Company may be required to either repurchase the mortgage loans with the
identified defects or indemnify the investor or insurer for any loss. In addition, the Company may be required to
repurchase loans as a result of borrower fraud or if a payment default occurs on a mortgage loan shortly after its sale. The
Company’s loss may be reduced by proceeds from the sale or liquidation of the repurchased loan. Also, the Company’s loss
may be reduced by any recourse it has to correspondent lenders that, in turn, had sold such mortgage loans to the Company
and breached similar or other representations and warranties. In such event, the Company has the right to seek a recovery
of related repurchase losses from that correspondent lender.
The Company records a provision for losses relating to such representations and warranties as part of its loan sale
transactions. The method used to estimate the liability for representations and warranties is a function of the representations
and warranties given and considers a combination of factors, including, but not limited to, estimated future defaults and
loan repurchase rates and the potential severity of loss in the event of defaults including any loss on sale or liquidation of
the repurchased loan and the probability of reimbursement by the correspondent loan seller. The Company establishes a
liability at the time loans are sold and continually updates its estimated repurchase liability. The level of the repurchase
liability for representations and warranties is difficult to estimate and requires considerable management judgment. The
level of mortgage loan repurchase losses is dependent on economic factors, investor demands for loan repurchases and
other external conditions that may change over the lives of the underlying loans.
Revenue Recognition for Fees from Services
The Company follows FASB ASC 606, Revenue Recognition, which provides guidance on the application of
GAAP to selected revenue recognition issues related to our real estate services fees. Under FASB ASC 606, the Company
must identify the contract with a customer, identify the performance obligations in the contract, determine the transaction
price, allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract, and recognize revenue when (or as) the
Company satisfies a performance obligation.
The Company’s primary sources of revenue are derived from financial instruments that are not within the scope of
FASB ASC 606. The Company has evaluated the nature of its contracts with customers and determined that further
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disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers into more granular categories beyond what is presented in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, was not necessary. The Company generally fully satisfies its
performance obligations on its contracts with customers as services are rendered and the transaction prices are typically
fixed; charged either on a periodic basis or based on activity. Because performance obligations are satisfied as services are
rendered and the transaction prices are fixed, the Company has made no significant judgments in applying the revenue
guidance prescribed in ASC 606 that affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from contracts with
customers. The revenues from these services are recognized in income in the period when services are rendered and
collectability is reasonably certain.
Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are included in business promotion expense in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, business
promotion expense was $3.9 million and $9.3 million, respectively.
Equity-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with FASB ASC 718 Compensation—Stock
Compensation. The Company uses the grant-date fair value of equity awards to determine the compensation cost associated
with each award. Grant-date fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes pricing model and assumptions noted in Note
14.—Share Based Payments and Employee Benefit Plans, adjusted for unique characteristics of the specific awards.
Compensation cost for service-based equity awards is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period,
which is generally the vesting period.
FASB ASC 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and prospectively revised, if necessary, in
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from initial estimates. Stock-based compensation expense is recorded net of
estimated forfeitures for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, such that the expense was recorded only for those
stock-based awards that were expected to vest during such periods. The cost of equity-based compensation is recorded to
personnel expense. Refer to Note 14.—Share Based Payments and Employee Benefit Plans.
Income Taxes
In accordance with FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes, the Company records income tax expense as well as deferred
tax assets and liabilities. Current income tax expense or benefit approximates taxes to be paid or refunded for the current
period, respectively, and includes income tax expense related to uncertain tax positions. The Company determines deferred
income taxes using the balance sheet method. Under this method, the net deferred tax asset or liability is based on the tax
effects of the differences between the book and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and recognizes enacted changes in tax
rates and laws in the period in which they occur. Deferred income tax expense results from changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities between periods. Deferred tax assets are recognized subject to management’s judgment that realization is
“more likely than not.” Uncertain tax positions that meet the more likely than not recognition threshold are measured to
determine the amount of benefit to recognize. An uncertain tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that
management believes has a greater than 50% likelihood of realization upon settlement.
The Company is subject to federal income taxes as a regular (Subchapter C) corporation and files a consolidated
U.S. federal income tax return on qualifying subsidiaries. The Company files federal and various states income tax returns
in the U.S.
The Company adopted ASU 2019-12 on a prospective basis on January 1, 2020 (See Note 11.—Income Taxes).
The most significant impact to the Company included the removal of the exception to the incremental approach for
intraperiod tax allocation when there is a loss from continuing operations and income or a gain from other items (for
example, discontinued operations or other comprehensive income). The changes also add a requirement for an entity to
reflect the effect of an enacted change in tax laws or rates in the annual effective tax rate computation in the interim period
that includes the enactment date. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company's
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consolidated financial statements.
Loss Per Common Share
Basic loss per common share is computed on the basis of the weighted average number of shares outstanding for
the year divided by net loss for the year. Diluted loss per common share is computed on the basis of the weighted average
number of shares and dilutive common equivalent shares outstanding for the year divided by net loss for the year, unless
anti-dilutive. Refer to Note 10.—Reconciliation of Loss Per Share.
Accounting Pronouncements Adopted
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820).” The ASU eliminates
disclosures such as the amount of and reasons for transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The
ASU modifies disclosure requirements for Level 3 measurements. This ASU is effective for public business entities for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted
for any eliminated or modified disclosures. The Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2020, and the adoption of
this ASU had no significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, “Intangibles-Goodwill and Other- Internal-Use Software
(Subtopic 350-40).” This ASU addresses customer’s accounting for implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing
arrangement that is a service contract and also adds certain disclosure requirements related to implementation costs
incurred for internal-use software and cloud computing arrangements. The amendment aligns the requirements for
capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for
capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that
include an internal-use software license). This ASU is effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2019, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The amendments in this
ASU can be applied either retrospectively or prospectively to all implementation costs incurred after the date of adoption.
The Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2020, and the adoption of this ASU had no impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
In December 2019, FASB issued ASU 2019-12, “Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes.” The amendments
in ASU 2019-12 simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in ASC
Topic 740, Income Taxes. The amendments also improve consistent application of and simplify GAAP for other areas of
Topic 740 by clarifying and amending existing guidance. This ASU is effective for public business entities for fiscal years
and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2020, with early adoption permitted. The Company early adopted ASU
2019-12 on a prospective basis on January 1, 2020 and the adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Effective
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement
of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments,” (ASU 2016-13), which changes the impairment model for most financial assets
and certain other instruments. For trade and other receivables, held-to-maturity debt securities, loans and other instruments,
entities will be required to use a new forward-looking “expected loss” model that will replace today’s “incurred loss”
model and generally will result in the earlier recognition of allowances for losses. For available-for-sale debt securities with
unrealized losses, entities will measure credit losses in a manner similar to current practice, except that the losses will be
recognized as an allowance. Subsequent to issuing ASU 2016-13, the FASB issued ASU 2018-19, “Codification
Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses”, for the purpose of clarifying certain aspects of ASU
2016-13. ASU 2018-19 has the same effective date and transition requirements as ASU 2016-13. In April 2019, the FASB
issued ASU 2019-04, “Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses, Topic 815,
Derivatives and Hedging,” and “Topic 825, Financial Instruments (ASU 2019-04),” which is effective with the adoption of
ASU 2016-13. In May 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-05, “Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326)”, which
is also effective with the adoption of ASU 2016-13. In October 2019, the FASB voted to delay the implementation date for
smaller reporting companies until January 1, 2023. We will adopt this ASU on its effective date of January 1, 2023. We do
not expect the adoption of this ASU to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848)”, which provides optional
guidance for a limited period of time to ease the potential burden in accounting for (or recognizing the benefits of)
reference rate reform on financial reporting. The amendments in ASU 2020-04 are elective and apply to all entities, subject
to meeting certain criteria, that have contract, hedging relationships, and other transactions that reference LIBOR or another
reference rate expected to be discontinued because of reference rate reform. The amendments in ASU 2020-04 are effective
for all entities as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the
adoption of this ASU would have on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 47020) and Derivatives and Hedging—Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible
Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity. ASU 2020-06 will simplify the accounting for convertible
instruments by reducing the number of accounting models for convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred stock.
Limiting the accounting models will result in fewer embedded conversion features being separately recognized from the
host contract as compared with current GAAP. Convertible instruments that continue to be subject to separation models are
(1) those with embedded conversion features that are not clearly and closely related to the host contract, that meet the
definition of a derivative, and that do not qualify for a scope exception from derivative accounting and (2) convertible debt
instruments issued with substantial premiums for which the premiums are recorded as paid-in capital. ASU 2020-06 also
amends the guidance for the derivatives scope exception for contracts in an entity’s own equity to reduce form-oversubstance-based accounting conclusions. ASU 2020-06 will be effective January 1, 2024, for the Company. Early adoption
is permitted, but no earlier than January 1, 2021, including interim periods within that year. The Company does not expect
the adoption of this ASU to have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Note 2.—Mortgage Loans held-for-sale
A summary of the unpaid principal balance (UPB) of mortgage LHFS by type is presented below:
December 31,
2020

Government (1)
Conventional (2)
Jumbo & Non-qualified mortgages (NonQM)
Fair value adjustment (3)
Total mortgage loans held-for-sale

$

$

7,924
141,139
11,064
4,295
164,422

December 31,
2019

$

$

51,019
436,040
274,834
20,250
782,143

(1) Includes all government-insured loans including Federal Housing Administration (FHA), Veterans Affairs (VA) and United States
Department of Agriculture (USDA).
(2) Includes loans eligible for sale to Fannie Mae and Federal home Loan Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac or FHLMC).
(3) Changes in fair value are included in gain on sale of loans, net on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had $1.2 million in UPB of mortgage LHFS that were in nonaccrual
status as the loans were 90 days or more delinquent. The carrying value of these nonaccrual loans as of December 31, 2020
was $1.1 million. As of December 31, 2019, there were $4.5 million in UPB of mortgage LHFS that were in nonaccrual
status as the loans were 90 days or more delinquent. The carrying value of these nonaccrual loans as of December 31, 2019
was $4.2 million.
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Gain on sale of loans, net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss is comprised of the
following for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2020

Gain on sale of mortgage loans
Premium from servicing retained loan sales
Unrealized (loss) gain from derivative financial instruments
Losses from derivative financial instruments
Mark to market (loss) gain on LHFS
Direct origination expenses, net
Change in provision for repurchases
Gain on sale of loans, net

$

$

2019

59,330
2,094
(7)
(11,040)
(15,955)
(15,191)
(5,227)
14,004

$

$

111,787
2,491
4,472
(5,627)
15,810
(24,616)
(5,487)
98,830

On July 7, 2020, the Company received notification from Freddie Mac that the Company’s eligibility to sell whole
loans to Freddie Mac was suspended, without cause. As noted in Freddie Mac’s Seller/Servicer Guide, Freddie Mac may
elect, in its sole discretion, to suspend a Seller from eligibility, without cause, thereby restricting the Seller from obtaining
new purchase commitments during the suspension period.

Note 3.—Mortgage Servicing Rights
The Company selectively retains MSRs from its sales and securitization of certain mortgage loans or as a result of
purchase transactions. MSRs are reported at fair value based on the expected income derived from the net projected cash
flows associated with the servicing contracts. The Company receives servicing fees, less subservicing costs, on the UPB of
the underlying mortgage loans. The servicing fees are collected from the monthly payments made by the mortgagors, or if
delinquent, when the underlying real estate is foreclosed upon and liquidated. The Company may receive other
remuneration from rights to various mortgagor-contracted fees, such as late charges, collateral reconveyance charges and
nonsufficient fund fees, and the Company is generally entitled to retain the interest earned on funds held pending
remittance (or float) related to its collection of mortgagor principal, interest, tax and insurance payments.
In May 2020, the Company sold all of its conventional MSRs for approximately $20.1 million, receiving $15.0
million in proceeds upon sale, with the remaining due upon transfer of the servicing and transfer of all trailing documents.
The Company used the $15.0 million in proceeds from the MSR sale to pay off the MSR financing. (See Note 5.—Debt–
MSR Financings).
In July 2020, the Company sold the majority of its government insured MSRs for approximately $225 thousand,
receiving $163 thousand in proceeds upon sale, with the remaining due upon transfer of the servicing and transfer of all
trailing documents.
The following table summarizes the activity of MSRs for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
December 31,
2020

Balance at beginning of year
Additions from servicing retained loan sales
Reductions from bulk sales
Other
Changes in fair value (1)
Fair value of MSRs at end of period

$

$

41,470
2,094
(21,263)
—
(21,962)
339

December 31,
2019

$

$

64,728
2,491
—
22
(25,771)
41,470

(1) Changes in fair value are included within loss on mortgage servicing rights, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss.
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At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the UPB of the mortgage servicing portfolio was comprised of the
following:
December 31,
2020

Government insured
Conventional
Total loans serviced (1)

$

December 31,
2019

30,524
—
30,524

$

$
$

105,442
4,826,407
4,931,849

(1) The MSR Financing line expired in May 2020. No collateral was pledged as part of the MSR Financing at December 31, 2019.

The table below illustrates hypothetical changes in the fair value of MSRs, caused by assumed immediate changes
to key assumptions that are used to determine fair value. See Note 9.—Fair Value of Financial Instruments for a description
of the key assumptions used to determine the fair value of MSRs.
December 31,
2020

Mortgage Servicing Rights Sensitivity Analysis

Fair value of MSRs
Prepayment Speed:
Decrease in fair value from 10% adverse change
Decrease in fair value from 20% adverse change
Decrease in fair value from 30% adverse change
Discount Rate:
Decrease in fair value from 10% adverse change
Decrease in fair value from 20% adverse change
Decrease in fair value from 30% adverse change

$

December 31,
2019

339 $

41,470

(13)
(26)
(38)

(1,850)
(3,631)
(5,325)

(13)
(25)
(37)

(1,330)
(2,579)
(3,753)

Sensitivities are hypothetical changes in fair value and cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of changes
in assumptions to changes in fair value may not be linear. Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption is
calculated without changing any other assumption, whereas a change in one factor may result in changes to another.
Accordingly, no assurance can be given that actual results would be consistent with the results of these estimates. As a
result, actual future changes in MSR values may differ significantly from those displayed above.
Loss on mortgage servicing rights, net is comprised of the following for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019:
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2020

Change in fair value of mortgage servicing rights
(Loss) gain on sale of mortgage servicing rights
Loss on mortgage servicing rights, net

$
$

2019

(21,962)
(6,547)
(28,509)

$
$

Servicing fees, net is comprised of the following for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2020
2019

Contractual servicing fees
Late and ancillary fees
Subservicing and other costs
Servicing fees, net

$

$
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5,159
67
(1,623)
3,603

$

$

15,147
180
(2,384)
12,943

(25,771)
860
(24,911)
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Note 4.—Other Assets
Other assets consisted of the following:
December 31,
2020

Right of use asset (See Note 13)
Corporate-owned life insurance (See Note 13)
Derivative assets – lending (See Note 7)
Prepaid expenses
Accounts receivable, net
Other
Servicing advances
Premises and equipment, net
Accrued interest receivable
Loans eligible for repurchase from Ginnie Mae
Real estate owned – outside trusts
Total other assets

$

13,512
10,659
7,275
3,429
3,190
1,103
947
930
286
114
79
41,524

$

December 31,
2019

$

17,169
—
7,791
3,125
14,265
1,110
2,109
1,250
2,131
1,686
152
50,788

$

Accounts Receivable, net
Accounts receivable are primarily holdbacks from MSR sales, which are generally collected within six months of
the sale date, loan sales that have not settled, and fees earned for real estate services rendered, generally collected one
month in arrears. Accounts receivable are stated at their carrying value, net of $329 thousand and $280 thousand reserve
for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Servicing Advances
The Company is required to advance certain amounts to meet its contractual loan servicing requirements. The
Company advances principal, interest, property taxes and insurance for borrowers that have insufficient escrow accounts,
plus any other costs to preserve the properties. Also, the Company will advance funds to maintain, repair and market
foreclosed real estate properties. The Company is entitled to recover advances from the borrowers for reinstated and
performing loans or from proceeds of liquidated properties.
Loans Eligible for Repurchase from Ginnie Mae
The Company sells loans in Ginnie Mae guaranteed MBS by pooling eligible loans through a pool custodian and
assigning rights to the loans to Ginnie Mae. When these Ginnie Mae loans are initially pooled and securitized, the
Company meets the criteria for sale treatment and de-recognizes the loans. The terms of the Ginnie Mae MBS program
allow, but do not require, the Company to repurchase mortgage loans when the borrower has made no payments for three
consecutive months. When the Company has the unconditional right, as servicer, to repurchase Ginnie Mae pool loans it
has previously sold and are more than 90 days past due, and the repurchase will provide a “more than trivial benefit”, the
Company then re-recognizes the loans on its consolidated balance sheets in other assets, at their UPB and records a
corresponding liability in other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2019, loans eligible for
repurchase from GNMA totaled $1.7 million. As a result of the sale of GNMA servicing in July 2020, our loans eligible for
repurchase from GNMA decreased to $114 thousand at December 31, 2020. As part of the Company’s repurchase reserve,
the Company records a repurchase provision to provide for estimated losses from the sale or securitization of all mortgage
loans, including these loans.
Premises and Equipment, net
December 31,
2020

Premises and equipment
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Total premises and equipment, net

$
$
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6,230
(5,300)
930

2019

$
$

5,829
(4,579)
1,250
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The Company recognized $722 thousand and $721 thousand of depreciation expense within general,
administrative and other expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, for
the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Note 5.—Debt
The following table shows contractual future debt maturities as of December 31, 2020:

Total

Warehouse borrowings
Convertible notes
Long-term debt
Total debt obligations

$ 151,932
20,000
62,000
$ 233,932

Payments Due by Period
Less Than
One to
Three to
One Year
Three Years
Five Years

$ 151,932
—
—
$ 151,932

$

$

—
20,000
—
20,000

$

$

More Than
Five Years

—
—
—
—

$

$

—
—
62,000
62,000

Warehouse Borrowings
The Company, through its subsidiaries, enters into Master Repurchase Agreements with lenders providing
warehouse facilities. The warehouse facilities are used to fund, and are secured by, residential mortgage loans that are held
for sale. The warehouse and revolving lines of credit are repaid using proceeds from the sale of loans. The base interest
rates on the Company’s warehouse lines bear interest at 1-month LIBOR plus a margin or Note rate minus a margin. Some
of the lines carry additional fees in the form of annual facility fees charged on the total line amount, commitment fees
charged on the committed portion of the line and non-usage fees charged when monthly usage falls below a certain
utilization percentage. The Company’s warehouse lines are scheduled to expire in 2021 under one year terms and all lines
are subject to renewal based on an annual credit review conducted by the lender.
The base interest rates for all warehouse lines of credit are subject to increase based upon the characteristics of the
underlying loans collateralizing the lines of credit, including, but not limited to product type and number of days held for
sale. Certain of the warehouse line lenders require the Company, at all times, to maintain cash accounts with minimum
required balances. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, there was $1.3 million and $1.1 million, respectively, held in these
accounts which are recorded as a component of restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheets.
Under the terms of these warehouse lines, the Company is required to maintain various financial and other
covenants. At December 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants from its lenders.
The following table presents certain information on warehouse borrowings for the periods indicated:
Maximum
Borrowing
Capacity

Short-term borrowings:
Repurchase agreement 1
Repurchase agreement 2
Repurchase agreement 3
Repurchase agreement 4
Repurchase agreement 5
Repurchase agreement 6
Total warehouse
borrowings

Balance Outstanding at
December 31,
December 31,
2020
2019

$

50,000
200,000
300,000
—
—
—

$

49,963
51,310
50,659
—
—
—

$

72,971
119,838
72,666
25,953
250,722
159,413

$

550,000

$

151,932

$

701,563

F-19

Allowable
Advance
Rates (%)

90 - 98
100
100
—
—
—

Rate
Range

Maturity Date

1ML + 2.00 - 2.25%
1ML + 1.75%
Note Rate - 0.375%
—
—
—

November 24, 2021
August 27, 2021
June 22, 2021
May 29, 2020
May 29, 2020
June 25, 2020
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The following table presents certain information on warehouse borrowings for the periods indicated:
For the year ended
December 31,
2020
2019

Maximum outstanding balance during the year
Average balance outstanding for the year
UPB of underlying collateral (mortgage loans)
Weighted average interest rate for period

$

810,818 $
252,565
153,675
3.74 %

971,595
547,421
763,309
4.30 %

MSR Financings
In May 2018, IMC (Borrower) amended the Line of Credit Promissory Note (FHLMC and GNMA Financing)
originally entered into in August 2017, increasing the maximum borrowing capacity of the revolving line of credit to $60.0
million, increasing the borrowing capacity up to 60% of the fair market value of the pledged mortgage servicing rights and
reducing the interest rate per annum to one-month LIBOR plus 3.0%. As part of the May 2018 amendment, the obligations
under the Line of Credit were secured by FHLMC and GNMA pledged mortgage servicing rights (subject to an
acknowledgement agreement) and was guaranteed by IRES. In January 2020, the maturity of the line was extended to
March 31, 2020. In April 2020, the maturity of the line was extended to May 31, 2020. In May 2020, the line was repaid
with the proceeds from the MSR sale (as disclosed in Note 3.—Mortgage Servicing Rights) and the line expired.
The following table presents certain information on MSR Financings for the periods indicated:
For the year ended
December 31,
2020

Maximum outstanding balance during the year
Average balance outstanding for the year
Weighted average rate for period

$

15,000
$
2,943
3.91 %

2019

5,000
200
8.00 %

MSR Advance Financing
In April 2020, Ginnie Mae announced they revised and expanded their issuer assistance program to provide
financing to fund servicer advances through the Pass-Through Assistance Program (PTAP). The PTAP funds advanced by
Ginnie Mae bear interest at a fixed rate that will apply to a given months pass-through assistance and will be posted on
Ginnie Mae’s website each month. The maturity date was the earlier of the seven months from the month the request and
repayment agreement was approved, or July 30, 2021. In July 2020, the outstanding PTAP funds were repaid. At
December 31, 2020, the Company had no PTAP funds outstanding.
Convertible Notes
In May 2015, the Company issued $25.0 million Convertible Promissory Notes (Notes) to purchasers, some of
which are related parties. The Notes were originally due to mature on or before May 9, 2020 and accrued interest at a rate
of 7.5% per annum, to be paid quarterly.
Noteholders may convert all or a portion of the outstanding principal amount of the Notes into shares of the
Company’s common stock (Conversion Shares) at a rate of $21.50 per share, subject to adjustment for stock splits and
dividends (Conversion Price). The Company has the right to convert the entire outstanding principal of the Notes into
Conversion Shares at the Conversion Price if the market price per share of the common stock, as measured by the average
volume-weighted closing stock price per share of the common stock on the NYSE AMERICAN (or any other U.S. national
securities exchange then serving as the principal such exchange on which the shares of common stock are listed), reaches
the level of $30.10 for any twenty (20) trading days in any period of thirty (30) consecutive trading days after the Closing
Date (as defined in the Notes). Upon conversion of the Notes by the Company, the entire amount of accrued and unpaid
interest (and all other amounts owing) under the Notes are immediately due and payable. To the extent the Company pays
any cash dividends on its shares of common stock prior to conversion of the Notes, upon conversion of the Notes, the
noteholders will also receive such dividends on an as-converted basis of the Notes less the amount of interest paid by the
F-20

Table of Contents

Company prior to such dividend.
On April 15, 2020, the Company and the noteholders agreed to extend the outstanding Notes in the principal
amount of $25.0 million originally issued in May 2015, at the conclusion of the original note term (First Amendment). The
new Notes were issued with a six month term (November 9, 2020) and reduced the interest rate on such Notes to 7.0% per
annum. In connection with the issuance of the First Amendment, the Company issued to the noteholders of the Notes,
warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 212,649 shares of the Company’s common stock at a cash exercise price of
$2.97 per share. The relative fair value of the warrants were $242 thousand and recorded as debt discounts, which are
accreted over the term of the warrants (October 2020), using an effective interest rate of 8.9%. The warrants are
exercisable commencing on October 16, 2020 and expire on April 15, 2025. The First Amendment was accounted for as an
extinguishment.
On October 28, 2020, the Company and certain holders of its Notes due November 9, 2020 in the aggregate
principal amount of $25.0 million agreed to extend the maturity date of the Notes upon conclusion of the term on
November 9, 2020. The new notes have an 18-month term due May 9, 2022 and the Company decreased the aggregate
principal amount of the Notes to $20.0 million, following the pay-down of $5.0 million in principal of the Notes on
November 9, 2020 (Second Amendment). The interest rate on the Notes remains at 7.0% per annum. The Second
Amendment was accounted for as an extinguishment.
Long-term Debt
The Company carries its Long-term Debt (Junior Subordinated Notes) at estimated fair value as more fully
described in Note 9.—Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The following table shows the remaining principal balance and
fair value of Junior Subordinated Notes issued as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:
December 31,
2020
2019

Junior Subordinated Notes (1)
Fair value adjustment
Total Junior Subordinated Notes

$

62,000
(17,587)
$ 44,413

$

62,000
(16,566)
$ 45,434

(1) Stated maturity of March 2034; requires quarterly interest payments at a variable rate of 3-month LIBOR plus 3.75% per annum.
At December 31, 2020, the interest rate was 3.99%.
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Note 6.—Securitized Mortgage Trusts
Securitized Mortgage Trust Assets
Securitized mortgage trust assets are comprised of the following at December 31, 2020 and 2019:
December 31,
2020

Securitized mortgage collateral, at fair value
REO, at net realizable value (NRV)
Total securitized mortgage trust assets

$
$

2,100,175
3,094
2,103,269

December 31,
2019

$
$

2,628,064
6,682
2,634,746

Securitized Mortgage Collateral
Securitized mortgage collateral consisted of the following:
December 31,
2020

Mortgages secured by residential real estate
Mortgages secured by commercial real estate
Fair value adjustment
Total securitized mortgage collateral, at fair value

$

$

2,205,575
170,418
(275,818)
2,100,175

December 31,
2019

$ 2,649,997
210,536
(232,469)
$ 2,628,064

As of December 31, 2020, the Company was also a master servicer of mortgages for others of approximately
$216.3 million in UPB that were primarily collateralizing REMIC securitizations, compared to $268.1 million at
December 31, 2019. Related fiduciary funds are held in trust for investors in non-interest bearing accounts and are not
included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The Company may also be required to advance funds or cause loan
servicers to advance funds to cover principal and interest payments not received from borrowers depending on the status of
their mortgages.
Real Estate Owned
The Company’s REO consisted of the following:
December 31,
2020

REO
Impairment (1)
Ending balance
REO inside trusts
REO outside trusts
Total

$
$
$
$

10,140
(6,967)
3,173
3,094
79
3,173

December 31,
2019

$
$
$
$

21,195
(14,361)
6,834
6,682
152
6,834

(1) Impairment represents the cumulative write-downs of net realizable value subsequent to foreclosure.

Securitized Mortgage Trust Liabilities
Securitized mortgage trust liabilities, which are recorded at estimated fair market value as more fully described in
Note 9.—Fair Value of Financial Instruments, are comprised of the following at December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Securitized mortgage borrowings

F-22

December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

$ 2,086,557

$ 2,619,210
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Securitized Mortgage Borrowings – Non-recourse
Selected information on securitized mortgage borrowings for the periods indicated consisted of the following
(dollars in millions):
Securitized
mortgage
borrowings
outstanding as of
December 31,

Year of Issuance
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
Subtotal contractual principal balance (3)
Fair value adjustment (4)
Total securitized mortgage borrowings

Original
Issuance
Amount
$ 3,876.1
5,966.1
17,710.7
13,387.7
5,971.4
3,860.5

2020
3.4
19.1
287.3
1,404.6
1,860.3
1,012.5
4,587.2
(2,500.6)
$ 2,086.6
$

2019
3.9
26.8
354.3
1,581.7
2,018.0
1,121.1
5,105.8
(2,486.6)
$ 2,619.2
$

Range of Interest Rates (%)
Interest
Interest
Rate
Rate
Fixed
Margins over Margins after
Interest
One-Month
Contractual
Rates
LIBOR (1)
Call Date (2)
5.25 - 12.00
0.27 - 2.75
0.54 - 3.68
4.34 - 12.75
0.27 - 3.00
0.54 - 4.50
3.58 - 5.56
0.25 - 2.50
0.50 - 3.75
—
0.24 - 2.90
0.48 - 4.35
6.25
0.10 - 2.75
0.20 - 4.13
—
0.06 - 2.00
0.12 - 3.00

(1) One-month LIBOR was 0.14% as of December 31, 2020.
(2) Interest rate margins are generally adjusted when the unpaid principal balance is reduced to less than 10-20% of the original
issuance amount, or if certain other triggers are met.
(3) Represents the outstanding balance in accordance with trustee reporting.
(4) Fair value adjustment is inclusive of $2.2 billion in bond losses at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

As of December 31, 2020, expected principal reductions of the securitized mortgage borrowings, which is based
on contractual principal payments and expected prepayment and loss assumptions for securitized mortgage collateral, was
as follows (dollars in millions):

Securitized mortgage borrowings (1)

$

Total
4,587.2

Less Than
One Year
$
452.5

Payments Due by Period
One to
Three to
Three Years
Five Years
$
587.4
$
381.2

More Than
Five Years
$
3,166.1

(1) Represents the outstanding balance in accordance with trustee reporting.

Change in Fair Value of Net Trust Assets, including Trust REO Losses
Changes in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO losses are comprised of the following for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2020
2019

Change in fair value of net trust assets, excluding REO
Gains (losses) from REO
Change in fair value of net trust assets, including trust REO gains (losses)

$
$

(13,081)
7,393
(5,688)

$
$

(3,397)
(6,434)
(9,831)

Note 7.—Derivative Instruments
The mortgage lending operation enters into IRLCs with prospective borrowers to originate mortgage loans at a
specified interest rate and Hedging Instruments and forward delivery loan commitments to hedge the fair value changes
associated with changes in interest rates relating to its mortgage loan origination operations. The fair value of IRLCs,
Hedging Instruments and forward delivery loan commitments related to mortgage loan origination are included in other
assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2020, the estimated fair value of IRLCs was an
asset of $7.3 million while Hedging Instruments were a liability of $143 thousand. Forward delivery commitments had no
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fair value as they were marked within LHFS to the price of the trades. As of December 31, 2019, the estimated fair value
of IRLCs was an asset of $7.8 million while Hedging Instruments were a liability of $651 thousand.
The following table includes information for the derivative assets and liabilities, lending for the periods presented:
Total Gains (Losses)
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2020
2019

Notional Amount
December 31,
December 31,
2020
2019

Derivative – IRLC's (1)
Derivative – TBA MBS (2)
Derivative – Forward delivery loan commitment (3)

$

450,913
45,000
20,000

$

419,035
485,459
232,530

$

(516)
(10,531)
—

$

4,440
(5,595)
—

(1) Amounts included in gain on sale of loans, net within the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
loss.
(2) Amounts included in gain on sale of loans, net within the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
loss.
(3) As of December 31, 2020, $20.0 million of forward loan commitment remained unallocated and are recorded at fair value. As of
December 31, 2019, $232.5 million in mortgage loans had been allocated to forward delivery loan commitments and were recorded
at fair value within LHFS in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Note 8.—Redeemable Preferred Stock
At December 31, 2020, the Company has outstanding $69.3 million liquidation preference of Series B and
Series C Preferred Stock. The holders of each series of Preferred Stock, which are non-voting and redeemable at the option
of the Company, retain the right to a $25.00 per share liquidation preference in the event of a liquidation of the Company
and the right to receive dividends on the Preferred Stock if any such dividends are declared.
As disclosed within Note 13.—Commitments and Contingencies, on July 16, 2018, the court entered its
Judgement Order and Memorandum Opinion on the matter entitled Timm v. Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., a purported
class action on behalf of holders of the Company’s 9.375% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (Preferred B)
and 9.125% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (Preferred C). The court entered judgement in favor of the
Company on all claims related to the Preferred C holders. The judgment also declared (among other items disclosed in
Note 13) that two-thirds of the Preferred B holders were required to approve the 2009 amendments to the Preferred B
Articles Supplementary, which was not obtained, rendering the 2009 amendments to the Preferred B Articles
Supplementary invalid and leaving the 2004 Preferred B Articles Supplementary in effect. As a result of the Judgement
Order, all rights of the Preferred B holders under the 2004 Articles are deemed reinstated. Subject to an appeal, the
Company has cumulative undeclared dividends in arrears of approximately $17.5 million, or approximately $26.37 per
outstanding share of Preferred B, increasing the liquidation value to approximately $51.37 per share. Additionally, every
quarter the cumulative undeclared dividends in arrears will increase by $0.5859 per share, or approximately $390 thousand.
As the Company prevailed on all claims related to the Preferred C holders, based on the court’s ruling there are no
Preferred C dividends owed. The liquidation preference, inclusive of the Preferred B cumulative undeclared dividends in
arrears, is only payable upon voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company’s affairs.
Note 9.—Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The use of fair value to measure the Company’s financial instruments is fundamental to its consolidated financial
statements and is a critical accounting estimate because a substantial portion of its assets and liabilities are recorded at
estimated fair value.
FASB ASC 825 requires disclosure of the estimated fair value of certain financial instruments and the methods
and significant assumptions used to estimate such fair values. The Company uses exit price notion when measuring the
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fair values of financial instruments for disclosure purposes. The following table presents the estimated fair value of
financial instruments included in the consolidated financial statements as of the dates indicated:
Carrying
Amount
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Mortgage loans held-for-sale
Mortgage servicing rights
Derivative assets, lending, net (1)
Securitized mortgage collateral
Liabilities
Warehouse borrowings
Convertible notes
Long-term debt
Securitized mortgage borrowings
Derivative liabilities, lending, net (2)

December 31, 2020
Estimated Fair Value
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

Carrying
Amount

December 31, 2019
Estimated Fair Value
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

$

54,150
5,602
164,422
339
7,275
2,100,175

$ 54,150
5,602
—
—
—
—

$

—
—
164,422
—
—
—

$

—
—
—
339
7,275
2,100,175

$

24,666
12,466
782,143
41,470
7,791
2,628,064

$ 24,666
12,466
—
—
—
—

$

—
—
782,143
—
—
—

$

—
—
—
41,470
7,791
2,628,064

$

151,932
20,000
44,413
2,086,557
143

$

$ 151,932
—
—
—
143

$

—
20,000
44,413
2,086,557
—

$

701,563
24,996
45,434
2,619,210
651

$

$ 701,563
—
—
—
651

$

—
24,996
45,434
2,619,210
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

(1) Represents IRLCs and are included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
(2) Represents Hedging Instruments and are included in other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The fair value amounts above have been estimated by management using available market information and
appropriate valuation methodologies. Considerable judgment is required to interpret market data to develop the estimates of
fair value in both inactive and orderly markets. Accordingly, the estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of the
amounts that could be realized in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation
methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.
For the consolidated non-recourse securitizations, the fair value of the financial liabilities of the consolidated nonrecourse securitizations (securitized mortgage borrowings) is more observable than the fair value of the financial assets of
the consolidated non-recourse securitizations (securitized mortgage collateral). In accordance with ASU 2014-13, the
financial liabilities of the consolidated non-recourse securitizations are the more observable input and measured at fair
value and the financial assets are being measured in consolidation as: (1) the sum of the fair value of the securitized
mortgage borrowings and the fair value of the beneficial interests retained by the Company less (2) the carrying value of
any REO. The resulting amount is allocated to securitized mortgage collateral.
For securitized mortgage collateral and securitized mortgage borrowings, the underlying Alt-A (non-conforming)
residential and commercial loans and mortgage-backed securities market have experienced significant declines in market
activity, along with a lack of orderly transactions. The Company’s methodology to estimate fair value of these assets and
liabilities include the use of internal pricing techniques such as the net present value of future expected cash flows (with
observable market participant assumptions, where available) discounted at a rate of return based on the Company’s
estimates of market participant requirements. The significant assumptions utilized in these internal pricing techniques,
which are based on the characteristics of the underlying collateral, include estimated credit losses, estimated prepayment
speeds and appropriate discount rates.
Fair Value Hierarchy
The application of fair value measurements may be on a recurring or nonrecurring basis depending on the
accounting principles applicable to the specific asset or liability or whether management has elected to carry the item at its
estimated fair value.
FASB ASC 820-10-35 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those
techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while
unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs create the following fair value
hierarchy:
●

Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments or liabilities that an entity has
the ability to assess at measurement date.
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●

Level 2—Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar
instruments in markets that are not active; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for an asset or
liability, including interest rates and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals, prepayment
speeds, loss severities, credit risks and default rates; and market-corroborated inputs.

●

Level 3—Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant
value drivers are unobservable.

This hierarchy requires the Company to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when estimating fair value.
As a result of the lack of observable market data resulting from inactive markets, the Company has classified its
securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings, derivative assets (IRLCs), Notes and long-term debt as Level 3 fair value
measurements. Level 3 assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis were approximately 90% and 93%
and 77% and 79%, respectively, of total assets and total liabilities measured at estimated fair value at December 31, 2020
and 2019.
Recurring Fair Value Measurements
The Company assesses its financial instruments on a quarterly basis to determine the appropriate classification
within the fair value hierarchy, as defined by FASB ASC Topic 810. Transfers between fair value classifications occur
when there are changes in pricing observability levels. Transfers of financial instruments among the levels occur at the
beginning of the reporting period. There were no material transfers into Level 3 classified instruments during the year
ended December 31, 2020.
The following tables present the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at estimated fair value on a
recurring basis, including financial instruments for which the Company has elected the fair value option at
December 31, 2020 and 2019, based on the fair value hierarchy:
Recurring Fair Value Measurements
December 31, 2020
December 31, 2019
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Assets
Mortgage loans held-for-sale
Derivative assets, lending, net (1)
Mortgage servicing rights
Securitized mortgage collateral
Total assets at fair value
Liabilities
Securitized mortgage borrowings
Long-term debt
Derivative liabilities, lending, net (2)
Total liabilities at fair value

$

$
$
$

—
—
—
—
—

$ 164,422
—
—
—
$ 164,422

$

—
7,275
339
2,100,175
$ 2,107,789

$

—
—
—
—

$

$ 2,086,557
44,413
—
$ 2,130,970

$

$

—
—
143
143

$

$

—
—
—
—
—

$ 782,143
—
—
—
$ 782,143

$

—
—
—
—

$

$ 2,619,210
45,434
—
$ 2,664,644

$

—
—
651
651

—
7,791
41,470
2,628,064
$ 2,677,325

(1) At December 31, 2020, derivative assets, lending, net included $7.3 million in IRLCs and is included in other assets in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2019, derivative assets, lending, net included $7.8 million in IRLCs
and is included in other assets in accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
(2) At December 31, 2020 and 2019, derivative liabilities, lending, net are included in other liabilities in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.
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The following tables present reconciliation for all assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
Level 3 Recurring Fair Value Measurements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Fair value, December 31, 2019
Total (losses) gains included in earnings:
Interest income (1)
Interest expense (1)
Change in fair value
Change in instrument specific credit risk
Total (losses) gains included in earnings
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3
Purchases, issuances and settlements:
Purchases
Issuances
Settlements
Fair value, December 31, 2020
Unrealized (losses) gains still held (3)

Securitized
mortgage
borrowings
$ (2,619,210)

747
—
(92,562)

—
(65,421)
79,481

—
—
(21,962)

—
—
(516)

—
(850)
1,899

—
(91,815)
—

—
14,060
—

—
(21,962)
—

—
(516)
—

(28)(2)
1,021
—

—
—
(436,074)
$ 2,100,175
$ (275,818)

—
—
518,593
$ (2,086,557)
$ 2,500,674

Mortgage
servicing
rights
$
41,470

Interest
rate lock
commitments,
net
$
7,791

Securitized
mortgage
collateral
$ 2,628,064

$
$

—
2,094
(21,263)
339
339

$
$

—
—
—
7,275
7,275

$

$
$

Longterm
debt
(45,434)

—
—
—
(44,413)
17,587

(1) Amounts primarily represent accretion to recognize interest income and interest expense using effective yields based on estimated
fair values for trust assets and trust liabilities. Net interest income, including cash received and paid, was $8.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020. The difference between accretion of interest income and expense and the amounts of interest income and
expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss is primarily from contractual interest on
the securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings.
(2) Amount represents the change in instrument specific credit risk in other comprehensive loss in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss.
(3) Represents the amount of unrealized gains (losses) relating to assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 that are still held and
reflected in the fair values at December 31, 2020.
Level 3 Recurring Fair Value Measurements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

Fair value, December 31, 2018
Total gains (losses) included in earnings:
Interest income (1)
Interest expense (1)
Change in fair value
Change in instrument specific credit risk
Total gains (losses) included in earnings
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3
Purchases, issuances and settlements:
Purchases
Issuances
Settlements
Fair value, December 31, 2019
Unrealized (losses) gains still held (3)

Securitized
mortgage
collateral
$ 3,157,071

Securitized
mortgage
borrowings
$ (3,148,215)

11,279
—
52,499
—
63,778
—

—
(38,127)
(55,896)
—
(94,023)
—

—
—
(592,785)
$ 2,628,064
$ (232,469)

—
—
623,028
$ (2,619,210)
$ 2,486,615

Mortgage
servicing
rights
$
64,728

$
$

Interest
rate lock
commitments,
net
$
3,351

—
—
(25,771)
—
(25,771)
—

—
—
4,440
—
4,440
—

—
2,491
22
41,470
41,470

—
—
—
7,791
7,791

$
$

$

Longterm
debt
(44,856)
—
(425)
(1,429)
1,276 (2)
(578)
—

$
$

—
—
—
(45,434)
16,566

(1) Amounts primarily represent accretion to recognize interest income and interest expense using effective yields based on estimated
fair values for trust assets and trust liabilities. Net interest income, including cash received and paid, was $9.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2019. The difference between accretion of interest income and expense and the amounts of interest income and
expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss is primarily from contractual interest on
the securitized mortgage collateral and borrowings.
(2) Amount represents the change in instrument specific credit risk in other comprehensive loss in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss.
(3) Represents the amount of unrealized gains (losses) relating to assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 that were still held and
reflected in the fair values at December 31, 2019.
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The following table presents quantitative information about the valuation techniques and unobservable inputs
applied to Level 3 fair value measurements for financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring and nonrecurring basis at December 31, 2020.
Estimated
Fair Value

Financial Instrument
Assets and liabilities backed by real estate
Securitized mortgage collateral, and
Securitized mortgage borrowings

$

Other assets and liabilities
Mortgage servicing rights

2,100,175
(2,086,557)

$

339

Derivative assets - IRLCs, net
Long-term debt

7,275
(44,413)

Valuation
Technique

Unobservable
Input

Range of
Inputs

Weighted
Average

Discounted Cash Flow

Prepayment rates
Default rates
Loss severities
Discount rates

2.0 - 25.6
0.07 - 24.1
0.01 - 97.7
1.1 - 25.0

%
%
%
%

12.4
3.4
64.1
2.6

%
%
%
%

Discounted Cash Flow

Discount rates
Prepayment rates
Pull-through rates
Discount rates

12.5 - 15.0
9.1 - 27.5
21.6 - 99.9
8.3

%
%
%
%

12.8
12.3
69.0
8.3

%
%
%
%

Market pricing
Discounted Cash Flow

For assets and liabilities backed by real estate, a significant increase in discount rates, default rates or loss
severities would result in a significantly lower estimated fair value. The effect of changes in prepayment speeds would have
differing effects depending on the seniority or other characteristics of the instrument. For other assets and liabilities, a
significant increase in discount rates would result in a significantly lower estimated fair value. A significant increase or
decrease in pull-through rate assumptions would result in a significant increase or decrease, respectively, in the fair value of
IRLCs. The Company believes that the imprecision of an estimate could be significant.
The following tables present the changes in recurring fair value measurements included in net losses for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Securitized mortgage collateral
Securitized mortgage borrowings
Long-term debt
Mortgage servicing rights (2)
Mortgage loans held-for-sale
Derivative assets — IRLCs
Derivative liabilities — Hedging
Instruments
Total

Interest
Income (1)
$
747
—
—
—
—
—
$

—
747

Interest
Expense (1)
$
—
(65,421)
(850)
—
—
—
$

—
(66,271)

Recurring Fair Value Measurements
Changes in Fair Value Included in Net Loss
For the Year Ended December 31, 2020
Change in Fair Value of
Net Trust
Long-term
Other Income
Gain on Sale
Assets
Debt
and Expense
of Loans, net
$ (92,562) $
— $
— $
—
79,481
—
—
—
—
1,899
—
—
—
—
(21,962)
—
—
—
—
(15,955)
—
—
—
(516)
$

—
(13,081)(3) $

—
1,899

$

—
(21,962)

$

509
(15,962)

$

Total
(91,815)
14,060
1,049
(21,962)
(15,955)
(516)

509
$ (114,630)

(1) Amounts primarily represent accretion to recognize interest income and interest expense using effective yields based on estimated
fair values for trust assets and trust liabilities.
(2) Included in loss on mortgage servicing rights, net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
(3) For the year ended December 31, 2020, change in the fair value of trust assets, excluding REO was $13.1 million.

Securitized mortgage collateral
Securitized mortgage borrowings
Long-term debt
Mortgage servicing rights (2)
Mortgage loans held-for-sale
Derivative assets — IRLCs
Derivative liabilities — Hedging
Instruments
Total

Interest
Income (1)
$ 11,279
—
—
—
—
—
$

—
11,279

Interest
Expense (1)
$
—
(38,127)
(425)
—
—
—
$

—
(38,552)

Recurring Fair Value Measurements
Changes in Fair Value Included in Net Loss
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019
Change in Fair Value of
Net Trust
Long-term
Other Income
Gain on Sale
Assets
Debt
and Expense
of Loans, net
$
52,499
$
— $
— $
—
(55,896)
—
—
—
—
(1,429)
—
—
—
—
(25,771)
—
—
—
—
15,810
—
—
—
4,440
$

—
(3,397)(3) $
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—
(1,429)

$

—
(25,771)

$

32
20,282

$

$

Total
63,778
(94,023)
(1,854)
(25,771)
15,810
4,440
32
(37,588)
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(1) Amounts primarily represent accretion to recognize interest income and interest expense using effective yields based on estimated
fair values for trust assets and trust liabilities.
(2) Included in loss on mortgage servicing rights, net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
(3) For the year ended December 31, 2019, change in the fair value of trust assets, excluding REO was $3.4 million.

The following is a description of the measurement techniques for items recorded at estimated fair value on a
recurring basis.
Mortgage servicing rights—The Company elected to carry its mortgage servicing rights arising from its mortgage
loan origination operation at fair value. The fair value of mortgage servicing rights is based upon a discounted cash flow
model. The valuation model incorporates assumptions that market participants would use in estimating the fair value of
servicing. These assumptions include estimates of prepayment speeds, discount rate, cost to service, escrow account
earnings, contractual servicing fee income, prepayment and late fees, among other considerations. Mortgage servicing
rights are considered a Level 3 measurement at December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Mortgage loans held-for-sale—The Company elected to carry its mortgage LHFS originated or acquired from its
mortgage lending operation at fair value. Fair value is based on quoted market prices, where available, prices for other
traded mortgage loans with similar characteristics, and purchase commitments and bid information received from market
participants. Given the meaningful level of secondary market activity for mortgage loans, active pricing is available for
similar assets and accordingly, the Company classifies its mortgage LHFS as a Level 2 measurement at December 31, 2020
and 2019.
Securitized mortgage collateral—The Company elected to carry its securitized mortgage collateral at fair value.
These assets consist primarily of non-conforming mortgage loans securitized between 2002 and 2007. Fair value
measurements are based on the Company’s internal models used to compute the net present value of future expected cash
flows, with observable market participant assumptions, where available. The Company’s assumptions include its
expectations of inputs that other market participants would use in pricing these assets. These assumptions include
judgments about the underlying collateral, prepayment speeds, estimated future credit losses, forward interest rates,
investor yield requirements and certain other factors. As of December 31, 2020, securitized mortgage collateral had an
unpaid principal balance of $2.4 billion, compared to an estimated fair value on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets
of $2.1 billion. The aggregate unpaid principal balance exceeds the fair value by $0.3 billion at December 31, 2020. As of
December 31, 2020, the unpaid principal balance of loans 90 days or more past due was $0.4 billion compared to an
estimated fair value of $0.1 billion. The aggregate unpaid principal balances of loans 90 days or more past due exceed the
fair value by $0.3 billion at December 31, 2020. Securitized mortgage collateral is considered a Level 3 measurement at
December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Securitized mortgage borrowings—The Company elected to carry all of its securitized mortgage borrowings at
fair value. These borrowings consist of individual tranches of bonds issued by securitization trusts and are primarily backed
by non-conforming mortgage loans. Fair value measurements include the Company’s judgments about the underlying
collateral and assumptions such as prepayment speeds, estimated future credit losses, forward interest rates, investor yield
requirements and certain other factors. As of December 31, 2020, securitized mortgage borrowings had an outstanding
principal balance of $2.4 billion, net of $2.2 billion in bond losses, compared to an estimated fair value of $2.1 billion. The
aggregate outstanding principal balance exceeds the fair value by $0.3 billion at December 31, 2020. Securitized mortgage
borrowings are considered a Level 3 measurement at December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Long-term debt—The Company elected to carry its remaining long-term debt (consisting of junior subordinated
notes) at fair value. These securities are measured based upon an analysis prepared by management, which considered the
Company’s own credit risk, including settlements with trust preferred debt holders and discounted cash flow analysis. As of
December 31, 2020, long-term debt had an unpaid principal balance of $62.0 million compared to an estimated fair value
of $44.4 million. The aggregate unpaid principal balance exceeds the fair value by $17.6 million at December 31, 2020.
The long-term debt is considered a Level 3 measurement at December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Derivative assets and liabilities, Lending—The Company’s derivative assets and liabilities are carried at fair value
as required by GAAP and are accounted for as free standing derivatives. The derivatives include IRLCs with prospective
residential mortgage borrowers whereby the interest rate on the loan is determined prior to funding and the borrowers have
locked in that interest rate. These commitments are determined to be derivative instruments in accordance with GAAP. The
derivatives also include hedging instruments (typically TBA MBS and forward loan commitments) used to hedge the fair
value changes associated with changes in interest rates relating to its mortgage lending originations. The
F-29

Table of Contents

Company hedges the period from the interest rate lock (assuming a fall-out factor) to the date of the loan sale. The
estimated fair value of IRLCs are based on underlying loan types with similar characteristics using the TBA MBS market,
which is actively quoted and validated through external sources. The data inputs used in this valuation include, but are not
limited to, loan type, underlying loan amount, note rate, loan program, expected sale date of the loan, and current market
interest rates. These valuations are adjusted at the loan level to consider the servicing release premium and loan pricing
adjustments specific to each loan. For all IRLCs, the base value is then adjusted for the anticipated Pull-through Rate. The
anticipated Pull-through Rate is an unobservable input based on historical experience, which results in classification of
IRLCs as a Level 3 measurement at December 31, 2020 and 2019. The fair value of the Hedging Instruments is based on
the actively quoted TBA MBS market using observable inputs related to characteristics of the underlying MBS stratified by
product, coupon and settlement date. Therefore, the Hedging Instruments are classified as a Level 2 measurement at
December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements
The Company is required to measure certain assets and liabilities at estimated fair value from time to time. These
fair value measurements typically result from the application of specific accounting pronouncements under GAAP. The fair
value measurements are considered nonrecurring fair value measurements under FASB ASC 820-10.
The following table presents financial and non-financial assets and liabilities measured using nonrecurring fair
value measurements at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively:
Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements
December 31, 2020
December 31, 2019
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Level 1
Level 2

REO (1)
ROU asset

$

—
—

$

3,173
—

$

— $
13,512

—
—

$

6,834
—

Level 3

$

—
—

(1) Balance represents REO at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 which has been impaired subsequent to foreclosure.

The following table presents total losses on financial and non-financial assets and liabilities measured using
nonrecurring fair value measurements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively:
Total Gains (Losses) (1)
For the Year Ended December 31,
2020
2019

REO (2)

$

7,393

$

(6,434)

(1) Total gains (losses) reflect gains (losses) from all nonrecurring measurements during the period.
(2) For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded $7.4 million and ($6.4) million, respectively, of gains
(losses) related to changes in the NRV of REO. Gains represent recovery of the NRV attributable to an improvement in state
specific loss severities on properties held during the period which resulted in an increase to NRV. Losses represent impairment of
the NRV attributable to an increase in state specific loss severities on REO held during the period which resulted in a decrease to
NRV.

Real estate owned—REO consists of residential real estate acquired in satisfaction of loans. Upon foreclosure,
REO is adjusted to the estimated fair value of the residential real estate less estimated selling and holding costs, offset by
expected contractual mortgage insurance proceeds to be received, if any. Subsequently, REO is recorded at the lower of
carrying value or estimated fair value less costs to sell. REO balance representing REOs which have been impaired
subsequent to foreclosure are subject to nonrecurring fair value measurement and included in the nonrecurring fair value
measurements tables. Fair values of REO are generally based on observable market inputs, and considered Level 2
measurements at December 31, 2020 and 2019.
ROU asset—The Company performs reviews of its ROU assets for impairment when evidence exists that the
carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. During the first quarter of 2020, the Company recorded a $393 thousand
ROU asset impairment charge related to the consolidation of one floor of our corporate office. The impairment charge is
included in general, administrative and other expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
ROU asset was considered a Level 3 fair value measurement at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
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Note 10.—Reconciliation of Loss Per Common Share
The following table presents the computation of basic and diluted loss per common share, including the dilutive
effect of stock options, restricted stock awards (RSA’s), restricted stock units (RSU’s), deferred stock units (DSU’s), Notes
and cumulative redeemable preferred stock outstanding for the periods indicated, when dilutive:
For the Three Months Ended
December 31,
2020
2019

Numerator for basic loss per share:
Net loss
Numerator for diluted loss per share:
Net loss
Interest expense attributable to convertible notes (1)
Net loss plus interest expense attributable to convertible notes

$

(2,190)

$

(677)

$ (88,150)

$

(7,977)

$

(2,190)
—
(2,190)

$

(677)
—
(677)

$ (88,150)
—
$ (88,150)

$

(7,977)
—
(7,977)

$

Denominator for basic loss per share (2):
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding during the
year
Denominator for diluted loss per share (2):
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding during the
year
Net effect of dilutive convertible notes and warrants (1)
Net effect of dilutive stock options, DSU’s, RSA's and
RSU's (1)
Diluted weighted average common shares
Net loss per common share:
Basic
Diluted

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2020
2019

$
$

$

$

21,255

21,220

21,251

21,189

21,255
—

21,220
—

21,251
—

21,189
—

—
21,255

—
21,220

—
21,251

—
21,189

(0.10)
(0.10)

$
$

(0.03)
(0.03)

$
$

(4.15)
(4.15)

$
$

(0.38)
(0.38)

(1) Adjustments to diluted loss per share for the Notes for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, were excluded from the
calculation, as they were anti-dilutive.
(2) Share amounts presented in thousands.

The anti-dilutive stock options, RSA’s, RSU’s and DSU’s outstanding for the years ending December 31, 2020 and
2019 were 829 thousand and 1.1 million shares in the aggregate, respectively. Additionally, for the years ended December
2020 and 2019, there were 930 thousand and 1.2 million shares, respectively, attributable to the Notes that were antidilutive.
In addition to the potential dilutive effects of stock options, RSA’s, RSU’s, DSU’s and Notes listed above, see
Note 8.—Redeemable Preferred Stock, for a description of cumulative undeclared dividends in arrears which would also
become dilutive in the event the Company is not successful in its appeal of the original court ruling.
Note 11.—Income Taxes
The Company is subject to federal income taxes as a regular (Subchapter C) corporation and files a consolidated
U.S. federal income tax return.
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Income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
For the year ended December 31,
2020
2019

Current income taxes:
Federal
State
Total current income tax expense (benefit)
Deferred income taxes:
Federal
State
Total deferred income tax expense
Total income tax expense (benefit)

$

$

8
125
133
—
—
—
133

$

$

(362)
117
(245)
—
—
—
(245)

The Company recorded income tax expense (benefit) of $133 thousand and $(245) thousand for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The income tax expense of $133 thousand for the year ended
December 31, 2020 was primarily the result of state taxes from states where the Company does not have net operating loss
(NOL) carryforwards or state minimum taxes. The income tax benefit of $(245) thousand for the year ended
December 31, 2019 was primarily the result of tax benefits resulting from the intraperiod allocation rules that are applied
when there is a pre-tax loss from continuing operations and pre-tax income from other comprehensive earnings partially
offset by state taxes from states where the Company does not have net operating loss carryforwards or state minimum
taxes.
Deferred tax assets are recognized subject to management's judgment that realization is "more likely than not". A
valuation allowance is recognized for a deferred tax asset if, based on the weight of the available evidence, it is more likely
than not that some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. In making such judgments, significant weight is
given to evidence that can be objectively verified. As of each reporting date, the Company considers new evidence, both
positive and negative, that could impact management's view with regard to future realization of deferred tax assets.
Significant judgment is required in assessing future earnings trends, the availability of tax planning strategies, recent pretax
losses and the timing of reversals of temporary differences. The Company's evaluation is based on current tax laws as well
as management's expectation of future performance.
The Company's deferred tax assets are primarily the result of net operating losses and basis differences on
mortgage securities and goodwill. The Company has recorded a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets at
December 31, 2020 as it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The valuation allowance is
based on the management's assessment that it is more likely than not that certain deferred tax assets, primarily net operating
loss carryforwards, may not be realized in the foreseeable future due to objective negative evidence.
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Deferred tax assets are comprised of the following temporary differences between the financial statement carrying
value and the tax basis of assets:
For the year ended December 31,
2020
2019

Deferred tax assets:
Federal and state net operating losses
Mortgage securities
Depreciation and amortization
Capital loss carryover
Compensation and other accruals
Repurchase reserve
Total gross deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Fair value adjustments on long-term debt
Mortgage servicing rights
Corporate-owned life insurance
Total gross deferred tax liabilities
Valuation allowance
Total net deferred tax assets

$

$

173,652
54,624
26,752
171
3,060
2,200
260,459
(4,639)
(106)
(968)
(5,713)
(254,746)
—

$

163,676
49,927
29,127
169
3,535
2,765
249,199
(4,391)
(11,549)
—
(15,940)
(233,259)
—

$

The following is a reconciliation of income taxes to the expected statutory federal corporate income tax rates for
the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
For the year ended December 31,
2020
2019

Expected income tax expense
State tax expense, net of federal benefit
State rate change
Change in valuation allowance
Corporate-owned life insurance interest and premiums
Other
Total income tax expense (benefit)

$

$

(18,483)
99
(731)
19,016
170
62
133

$

$

(1,727)
106
(269)
1,425
—
220
(245)

At December 31, 2020, the Company had accumulated other comprehensive earnings of $24.8 million, which was
net of tax of $11.3 million.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had estimated NOL carryforwards of approximately $609.3 million.
Federal NOL carryforwards begin to expire in 2027. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had estimated California
NOL carryforwards of approximately $420.3 million, which begin to expire in 2028. The Company may not be able to
realize the maximum benefit due to the nature and tax entities that hold the NOL.
On October 23, 2019, the Company adopted a Tax Benefits Preservation Rights Agreement (Rights Plan) to help
preserve the value of certain deferred tax benefits, including those generated by net operating losses (collectively, Tax
Benefits). In general, the Company may “carry forward” net operating losses in certain circumstances to offset current and
future taxable income, which will reduce federal and state income tax liability, subject to certain requirements and
restrictions. The Company’s ability to use these Tax Benefits would be substantially limited and impaired if it were to
experience an “ownership change” for purposes of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
Code) and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder. Generally, the Company will experience an “ownership
change” if the percentage of the shares of Common Stock owned by one or more “five-percent shareholders” increases by
more than 50 percentage points over the lowest percentage of shares of Common Stock owned by such stockholder at any
time during the prior three year on a rolling basis. As such, the Rights Plan has a 4.99% “trigger” threshold that is intended
to act as a deterrent to any person or entity seeking to acquire 4.99% or more of the outstanding Common Stock without the
prior approval of the board of directors. The Rights Plan also has certain ancillary anti-takeover effects. The rights
accompany each share of common stock of the Company and are evidenced by ownership of common stock. The rights are
not exercisable except upon the occurrence of certain change of control events. Once triggered, the rights would entitle the
stockholders, other than a person qualifying as an “Acquiring Person” pursuant to the rights plan, to certain “flip in”,
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“flip over” and exchange rights. The rights issued under the Rights Plan may be redeemed by the board of directors at a
nominal redemption price of $0.001 per right, and the board of directors may amend the rights in any respect until the
rights are triggered. The Rights Plan was approved at the Company’s 2020 annual meeting of stockholders and will expire
on the three-year anniversary of its adoption.
The Company adopted ASU 2019-12 on a prospective basis on January 1, 2020. The most significant impact to
the Company included the removal of the exception to the incremental approach for intraperiod tax allocation when there is
a loss from continuing operations and income or a gain from other items (for example, discontinued operations or other
comprehensive earnings). The changes also add a requirement for an entity to reflect the effect of an enacted change in tax
laws or rates in the annual effective tax rate computation in the interim period that includes the enactment date. The
adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
The Company files numerous tax returns in various jurisdictions. While the Company is subject to examination by
various taxing authorities, the Company believes there are no unresolved issues or claims likely to be material to its
financial position. The Company classifies interest and penalties on taxes as provision for income taxes. As of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company has no material uncertain tax positions. The Company has state AMT credits
in the amount of $404 thousand as of December 31, 2020.
Note 12.—Segment Reporting
The Company has three primary reporting segments which include mortgage lending, real estate services and
long-term mortgage portfolio. Unallocated corporate and other administrative costs, including the costs associated with
being a public company, are presented in corporate and other.
The following table presents selected balance sheet data by reporting segment as of the dates indicated:
Balance Sheet Items as of
December 31, 2020:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Mortgage loans held-for-sale
Mortgage servicing rights
Trust assets
Other assets (1)
Total assets
Total liabilities

Mortgage
Lending
$
50,968
5,602
164,422
339
—
12,510
$
233,841
$
166,285

Real Estate
Services
$
501
—
—
—
—
2
$
503
$
—

Long-term
Portfolio
$
—
—
—
—
2,103,269
130
$ 2,103,399
$ 2,131,178

Corporate
and other
2,681
—
—
—
—
28,882
$
31,563
$
56,192

Balance Sheet Items as of
December 31, 2019:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Mortgage loans held-for-sale
Mortgage servicing rights
Trust assets
Other assets (1)
Total assets
Total liabilities

Mortgage
Lending
$
23,647
12,466
782,143
41,470
—
29,121
$
888,847

Real Estate
Services
$
4
—
—
—
—
2
$
6

Long-term
Portfolio
$
—
—
—
—
2,634,746
66
$ 2,634,812

Corporate
and other
$
1,015
—
—
—
—
21,599
$
22,614

$

$

$

$

723,965

—

(1) All segment asset balances exclude intercompany balances.
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2,664,946

53,131

Consolidated
54,150
5,602
164,422
339
2,103,269
41,524
$
2,369,306
$
2,353,655
$

Consolidated
24,666
12,466
782,143
41,470
2,634,746
50,788
$
3,546,279
$

$

3,442,042
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The following table presents selected statement of operations information by reporting segment for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
Statement of Operations Items for the
Year Ended December 31, 2020:

Gain on sale of loans, net
Servicing fees, net
Loss on mortgage servicing rights, net
Real estate services fees, net
Other revenue
Other operating expense
Other income (expense)
Net (loss) earnings before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net loss

Mortgage
Lending

$

$

$

$

—
—
—
1,312
—
(1,485)
—
(173)

Long-term
Portfolio

$

$

—
—
—
—
143
(633)
1,344
854

Corporate
and other

$

$

—
—
—
—
1,220
(18,286)
(2,362)
(19,428)

Consolidated

$

$

Statement of Operations Items for the
Year Ended December 31, 2019:

Gain on sale of loans, net
Servicing fees, net
Loss on mortgage servicing rights, net
Real estate services fees, net
Other revenue
Other operating expense
Other income (expense)
Net earnings (loss) before income tax expense
Income tax benefit
Net loss

14,004
3,603
(28,509)
—
135
(60,869)
2,366
(69,270)

Real Estate
Services

Mortgage
Lending

$

$

98,830
12,943
(24,911)
—
157
(79,536)
6,067
13,550

Real Estate
Services

$

$

—
—
—
3,287
—
(1,391)
—
1,896

Long-term
Portfolio

$

$

—
—
—
—
260
(531)
(6,189)
(6,460)

Corporate
and other

$

$

—
—
—
—
62
(15,462)
(1,808)
(17,208)

14,004
3,603
(28,509)
1,312
1,498
(81,273)
1,348
(88,017)
133
(88,150)

Consolidated

$

$
$

98,830
12,943
(24,911)
3,287
479
(96,920)
(1,930)
(8,222)
(245)
(7,977)

Note 13.—Commitments and Contingencies
Legal Proceedings
The Company is a defendant in or a party to a number of legal actions or proceedings that arise in the ordinary
course of business. In some of these actions and proceedings, claims for monetary damages are asserted against the
Company. In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of such legal actions and proceedings, the Company
generally cannot predict what the eventual outcome of the pending matters will be, what the timing of the ultimate
resolution of these matters will be, or what the eventual loss related to each pending matter may be, if any.
In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the Company establishes an accrued liability for litigation
when those matters present loss contingencies that are both probable and estimable. In any case, there may be exposure to
losses in excess of any such amounts whether accrued or not. Any estimated loss is subject to significant judgment and is
based upon currently available information, a variety of assumptions, and known and unknown uncertainties. The matters
underlying the estimated loss will change from time to time, and actual results may vary significantly from the current
estimate. Therefore, an estimate of possible loss represents what the Company believes to be an estimate of possible loss
only for certain matters meeting these criteria. It does not represent the Company’s maximum loss exposure.
Based on the Company’s current understanding of pending legal actions and proceedings, management does not
believe that judgments or settlements arising from pending or threatened legal matters, individually or in the aggregate, will
have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position, operating results or cash flows of the Company.
However, in light of the inherent uncertainties involved in these matters, some of which are beyond the Company’s control,
and the very large or indeterminate damages sought in some of these matters, an adverse outcome in one or more of these
matters could be material to the Company’s results of operations or cash flows for any particular reporting period.
The legal matters summarized below are ongoing and may have an effect on the Company’s business and future
financial condition and results of operations:
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On December 7, 2011, a purported class action was filed in the Circuit Court of Baltimore City entitled Timm v.
Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc., et al. alleging on behalf of holders of the Company’s 9.375% Series B Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred Stock (Preferred B) and 9.125% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock (Preferred C)
who did not tender their stock in connection with the Company’s 2009 completion of its Offer to Purchase and Consent
Solicitation that the Company failed to achieve the required consent of the Preferred B and C holders, the consents to
amend the Preferred stock were not effective because they were given on unissued stock (after redemption), the Company
tied the tender offer with a consent requirement that constituted an improper “vote buying” scheme, and that the tender
offer was a breach of a fiduciary duty. The action seeks the payment of two quarterly dividends for the Preferred B and C
holders, the unwinding of the consents and reinstatement of the cumulative dividend on the Preferred B and C stock, and
the election of two directors by the Preferred B and C holders. The action also seeks punitive damages and legal expenses.
On July 16, 2018, the Circuit Court entered a Judgement Order whereby it (1) declared and entered judgment in favor of all
defendants on all claims related to the Preferred C holders and all claims against all individual defendants thereby affirming
the validity of the 2009 amendments to the Preferred C Articles Supplementary; (2) declared its interpretation of the voting
provision language in the Preferred B Articles Supplementary to mean that consent of two-thirds of the Preferred B
stockholders was required to approve the 2009 amendments to the Preferred B Articles Supplementary, which consent was
not obtained, thus rendering the amendments invalid and leaving the 2004 Preferred B Articles Supplementary in effect; (3)
ordered the Company to hold a special election within sixty days for the Preferred B stockholders to elect two directors to
the Board of Directors pursuant to the 2004 Preferred B Articles Supplementary (which Directors will remain on the
Company’s Board of Directors until such time as all accumulated dividends on the Preferred B have been paid or set aside
for payment); and (4) declared that the Company is required to pay three quarters of dividends on the Preferred B stock
under the 2004 Preferred B Articles Supplementary (approximately, $1.2 million, but did not order the Company to make
any payment at this time). The Circuit Court declined to certify any class pending the outcome of appeals and certified its
Judgment Order for immediate appeal. On October 2, 2019, the Court of Special Appeals held oral argument for all appeals
in the matter. On February 5, 2020, the Court of Special Appeals requested that the parties provide a supplemental
memorandum explaining the appealability of the original Circuit Court opinion which the Company responded to on
February 21, 2020. On April 1, 2020, the Court of Special Appeals issued an opinion affirming the judgment in favor of
plaintiffs on the Series B voting rights arguing that the voting rights provision was not ambiguous. In response, the
Company filed a petition for a writ of certiorari to the Maryland Court of Appeals appealing the Court of Special Appeals
opinion. The Maryland Court of Appeals granted the writ of certiorari on July 13, 2020, agreeing to hear the Company’s
appeal. All parties submitted their briefs and oral argument was held on December 4, 2020. There is no set timeframe for
the court to issue its ruling.
On April 30, 2012, a purported class action was filed in California entitled Marentes v. Impac Mortgage Holdings,
Inc., alleging that certain loan modification activities of the Company constitute an unfair business practice, false
advertising and marketing, and that the fees charged are improper. The complaint seeks unspecified damages, restitution,
injunctive relief, attorney’s fees and prejudgment interest. On August 22, 2012, the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint
adding Impac Funding Corporation as a defendant and on October 2, 2012, the plaintiffs dismissed Impac Mortgage
Holdings, Inc., without prejudice. On January 11, 2019, the trial court determined that the plaintiffs were unable to prove
their case and ordered that judgment be entered in favor of the defendant. On April 19, 2019, the plaintiffs filed their Notice
of Appeal and the plaintiffs filed their opening brief on October 31, 2019. The Company filed its response on February 19,
2020. On September 11, 2020, the Court of Appeal of the State of California affirmed the trial court’s judgment in favor of
the Company. On October 21, 2020, the plaintiffs filed a Petition for Review with the Supreme Court of California. On
December 16, 2020, the Supreme Court of California denied Marentes’ petition.
On April 20, 2017, a purported class action was filed in the United States District Court, Central District of
California, entitled Nguyen v. Impac Mortgage Corp. dba CashCall Mortgage et al. The plaintiffs contend the defendants
did not pay purported class members overtime compensation or provide meal and rest breaks, as required by law. The
action seeks to invalidate any waiver signed by a purported class member of their right to bring a class action and seeks
damages, restitution, penalties, attorney’s fees, interest, and an injunction against unfair, deceptive, and unlawful activities.
On August 23, 2018, the court (1) granted the defendants motion to compel arbitration as to all claims, except for the
plaintiffs’ claims under California’s Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act (PAGA); (2) ordered the plaintiffs to submit
their claims (other than PAGA claims) to arbitration on an individual, non-class, non-collective, and non-representative
basis; (3) dismissed all class and collective claims with prejudice to the plaintiffs and without prejudice to putative class
members; and (4) stayed all claims that were compelled to arbitration, as well as the PAGA claims. Plaintiffs Jason Nguyen
and Tam Nguyen each submitted their respective demands for individual arbitration to the American Arbitration
Association. An arbitration hearing has not yet been set in the Jason Nguyen case. An arbitration hearing has been
scheduled for October 25, 2021 in the Tam Nguyen case.
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On September 18, 2018, a purported class action was filed in the Superior Court of California, Orange County,
entitled McNair v. Impac Mortgage Corp. dba CashCall Mortgage. The plaintiff contends the defendant did not pay the
plaintiff and purported class members overtime compensation, provide required meal and rest breaks, or provide accurate
wage statements. The action seeks damages, restitution, penalties, interest, attorney’s fees, and all other appropriate
injunctive, declaratory, and equitable relief. On March 8, 2019, a First Amended Complaint was filed, which added a claim
alleging PAGA violations. On March 12, 2019, the parties filed a stipulation with the court stating (1) the plaintiff’s
individual claims should be arbitrated pursuant to the parties’ arbitration agreement, (2) the class claims should be struck
from the First Amended Complaint, and (3) the plaintiff will proceed solely with regard to her PAGA claims. This case was
consolidated with the Batres v. Impac Mortgage Corp. dba CashCall Mortgage case discussed below with a rescheduled
trial date of July 12, 2021.
On December 27, 2018, a purported class action was filed in the Superior Court of California, Orange County,
entitled Batres v. Impac Mortgage Corp. dba CashCall Mortgage. The plaintiff contends the defendant did not pay the
plaintiff and purported class members overtime compensation, provide required meal and rest breaks, or provide accurate
wage statements. The action seeks damages, restitution, penalties, interest, attorney’s fees, and all other appropriate
injunctive, declaratory, and equitable relief. On March 14, 2019, the plaintiff filed an amended complaint alleging only
PAGA violations and seeking penalties, attorneys’ fees, and such other appropriate relief. This case was consolidated with
the McNair v. Impac Mortgage Corp. dba CashCall Mortgage discussed above with a rescheduled trial date of July 12,
2021.
On July 3, 2019, a representative action was filed in the Superior Court of California, Orange County, entitled
Law v. Impac Mortgage Corp. dba CashCall Mortgage under PAGA. The plaintiff contends the defendant did not pay its
employees overtime compensation, provide required meal and rest breaks, or provide accurate wage statements as required
by law. The action seeks penalties, attorneys’ fees, and such other appropriate relief. The Law action was deemed related to
the McNair action on August 19, 2019. On January 13, 2020, the Law action was stayed pending resolution of the McNair
action.
The Company is a party to other litigation and claims which are normal in the course of the Company’s
operations. While the results of such other litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company believes
the final outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.
The Company believes that it has meritorious defenses to the above claims and intends to defend these claims vigorously
and as such the Company believes the final outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on its financial
condition or results of operations. Nevertheless, litigation is uncertain and the Company may not prevail in the lawsuits. An
adverse judgment in any of these matters could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position and
results of operations.
Lease Commitments
The following table presents the operating lease balances within the consolidated balance sheets, weighted average
remaining lease term, and weighted average discount rates related to the Company’s operating leases as of December 31,
2020:

Lease Assets and Liabilities

Classification

December 31,
2020

Assets
Operating lease ROU assets

Other assets

$ 13,512

Liabilities
Operating lease liabilities

Other liabilities

$ 16,448

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years)
Weighted average discount rate

3.7
4.8 %
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The following table presents the maturities of the Company’s operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2020:
Year 2021
Year 2022
Year 2023
Year 2024
Total lease commitments
Less: imputed interest
Total lease liability

$

$
$

4,639
4,767
4,905
3,729
18,040
(1,592)
16,448

During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, cash paid for operating leases was $5.2 million and $4.7
million, respectively. Total operating lease expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $4.7 million and
$4.2 million, respectively. Operating lease expense includes short-term leases and sublease income, both of which are
immaterial.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized ROU asset impairment of $393 thousand
related to the consolidation of one floor of the Company’s corporate office, reducing the carrying value of the lease asset to
its estimated fair value. The impairment charge is included in general, administrative and other expense in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had no additional operating leases that had not yet commenced.
Repurchase Reserve
The provision for repurchases represents an estimate of losses to be incurred on the repurchase of loans or
indemnification of purchaser's losses related to loan sales. Certain sale contracts and GSE standards require the Company
to repurchase a loan or indemnify the purchaser or insurer for losses if a borrower fails to make initial loan payments or if
the accompanying mortgage loan fails to meet certain customary representations and warranties.
In the event of a breach of the representations and warranties, the Company may be required to either repurchase
the loan or indemnify the purchaser for losses it sustains on the loan. In addition, an investor may request that the Company
refund a portion of the premium paid on the sale of mortgage loans if a loan is prepaid within a certain amount of time from
the date of sale. The Company records a reserve for estimated losses associated with loan repurchases, purchaser
indemnification and premium refunds. The provision for repurchase losses is charged against gain on sale of loans, net in
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. A release of repurchase reserves is recorded when the
Company's assessment reveals that previously recorded reserves are no longer needed.
Loans sold to Ginnie Mae are insured by the FHA or are guaranteed by the VA. As servicer, the Company may
elect to repurchase delinquent loans in accordance with Ginnie Mae guidelines; however, the loans continue to be insured.
The Company may also indemnify the FHA and VA for losses related to loans not originated in accordance with their
guidelines.
A selling representation and warranty framework was introduced by the GSEs in 2013 and enhanced in 2014 that
helps address concerns of loan sellers with respect to loan repurchase risk. Under the framework, a GSE will not exercise
its remedies, including the issuance of repurchase requests, for breaches of certain selling representations and warranties if
a mortgage meets certain eligibility requirements. For loans sold to GSEs on or after January 1, 2013, repurchase risk for
Home Affordable Refinance Program (HARP) loans is lowered if the borrower stays current on the loan for 12 months and
representation and warranty risks are limited for non-HARP loans that stay current for 36 months.
The Company regularly evaluates the adequacy of repurchase reserves based on trends in repurchase and
indemnification requests, actual loss experience, settlement negotiation, estimated future loss exposure and other relevant
factors including economic conditions. The Company sold $3.3 billion and $4.1 billion of loans for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which are subject to repurchase representations and warranties. The Company
believes its reserve balances as of December 31, 2020 are sufficient to cover future loss exposure associated with
repurchase contingencies.
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The following table summarizes the repurchase reserve activity (included in other liabilities in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets) related to previously sold loans for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
December 31,
2020

Beginning balance
Provision for repurchases
Settlements
Total repurchase reserve

$

$

8,969
5,227
(7,142)
7,054

December 31,
2019

$

7,657
5,487
(4,175)
8,969

$

Corporate-owned Life Insurance Trusts
During the first quarter of 2020, there was a triggering event that caused the Company to reevaluate the
consolidation of certain corporate-owned life insurance trusts. As a result, the Company has consolidated life insurance
trusts for three former executive officers. The corporate-owned life insurance contracts are recorded at cash surrender
value, which is provided by a third party and held within trusts. At December 31, 2020, the cash surrender value of the
policies was $10.7 million and were recorded within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets. At December 31,
2020, the liability associated with the corporate-owned life insurance trusts was $12.6 million.

Corporate-owned life insurance trusts:
Corporate-owned life insurance cash surrender value
Corporate-owned life insurance liability
Corporate-owned life insurance shortfall (1)

$
$

Trust #1
4,924
5,803
(879)

$
$

At December 31, 2020
Trust #2
Trust #3
3,765
$
1,970
4,550
2,216
(785)
$
(246)

$
$

Total
10,659
12,569
(1,910)

________________________
(1)

$1.3 million of the total shortfall was recorded as a change in retained deficit at the time of the consolidation of the trusts. The additional
shortfall was recorded in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Concentration of Risk
The aggregate unpaid principal balance of loans in the Company’s long-term mortgage portfolio secured by
properties in California and Florida was $1.2 billion and $267.8 million, or 49% and 11%, respectively, at December 31,
2020.
The Company sells mortgage loans to various third-party investors. The largest four investors accounted for 77%
of the Company’s loan sales for the year ended December 31, 2020. No other investors accounted for more than 5% of the
loan sales for the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company also has geographic concentration risk because 86% of the
Company’s mortgage loan originations were from California.
Note 14.—Share Based Payments and Employee Benefit Plans
The Company maintains an equity-based incentive compensation plan, the terms of which are governed by the
2020 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2020 Incentive Plan). The 2020 Incentive Plan provides for the grant of stock appreciation
rights, RSU’s, DSU’s, performance shares and other stock and cash-based incentive awards. Employees, directors,
consultants or other persons providing services to the Company or its affiliates are eligible to receive awards pursuant to
the 2020 Incentive Plan. In connection with the adoption of the 2020 Incentive Plan, the Company’s 2010 Omnibus
Incentive Plan (Prior Plan), which was scheduled to expire in July 2020, was frozen for new grants. The 2010 Plan will
remain in place only for the issuance of shares of our common stock pursuant to equity compensation awards outstanding
under the 2010 Plan, which awards will continue to be governed by the terms of the 2010 Plan. As of December 31, 2020,
the aggregate number of shares reserved under the 2020 Incentive Plan and Prior plan, is 2,000,000 and 1,167,799 shares,
respectively, and there were 2,000,000 shares available for grant as stock options, RSU’s, DSU’s or other stock and cashbased incentive awards. The Company issues new shares of common stock to satisfy stock option exercises, RSU vesting,
DSU issuances and other stock-based incentive awards.
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The fair value of options granted, which is amortized to expense over the option service period, is estimated on the
date of grant with the following weighted average assumptions:

For the year ended December 31,
2020

Risk-free interest rate

2019

1.45%

Expected lives (in years)
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
Fair value per share

2.23 - 2.51%

4.94
61.21%
0.00%
$
3.13

4.74 - 5.06
56.14 - 56.57%
0.00%
$ 1.61 - 1.85

The following table summarizes activity, pricing and other information for the Company’s stock options for the
years presented below:

Options outstanding at the beginning of the year
Options granted
Options exercised
Options forfeited/cancelled
Options outstanding at the end of the year
Options exercisable at the end of the year

For the year ended December 31,
2020
2019
WeightedWeightedAverage
Average
Number of
Exercise
Number of
Exercise
Shares
Price
Shares
Price

914,470
30,000
(9,500)
(410,613)
524,357
327,366

$

$

8.10
5.34
4.84
7.35
8.58
11.46

1,001,469
592,500
(103,351)
(576,148)
914,470
328,933

$

$

13.16
3.66
3.34
13.20
8.10
14.36

The aggregate intrinsic value in the following table represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value, based on the
Company’s closing stock price of $3.04 and $5.26 per common share as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Aggregate intrinsic value represents the amount of proceeds the option holders would have received had all option holders
exercised their options and sold the stock as of that date.
As of December 31,
WeightedAverage
Remaining
Life
(Years)

Options outstanding at end of year
Options exercisable at end of year

6.77
5.96

2020
Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)

$
$

-

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Life
(Years)

7.78
5.55

2019
Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)

$
$

838
25

As of December 31, 2020, there was approximately $216 thousand of total unrecognized compensation cost
related to stock option compensation arrangements granted, net of estimated forfeitures. That cost is expected to be
recognized over the remaining weighted average period of 1.1 years.
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the aggregate grant-date fair value of stock options granted was
approximately $94 thousand and $1.1 million, respectively.
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, total stock-based compensation expense was $702 thousand
and $660 thousand, respectively.
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Additional information regarding stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2020 is as follows:

Exercise
Price
Range

$

$

3.22 - 3.74
3.75 - 5.38
5.39 - 9.85
9.86 - 17.39
17.40 - 20.49
20.50
3.22 - 20.50

Number
Outstanding

Stock Options Outstanding
WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Life in Years

93,001
200,000
27,582
92,524
57,250
54,000
524,357

7.88
8.16
5.01
5.25
5.55
4.56
6.77

$

$

Options Exercisable
WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

Number
Exercisable

3.59
3.75
7.01
12.11
17.40
20.50
8.58

32,676
66,667
24,249
92,524
57,250
54,000
327,366

$

3.59
3.75
6.62
12.11
17.40
20.50
11.46

$

In addition to the options granted, the Company has granted DSUs, which vest between one and three year
periods. The fair value of each DSU was measured on the date of grant using the grant date price of the Company’s stock.
In 2020, the Company granted 15,000 DSU’s. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the aggregate grant-date fair value of
DSU’s granted was $80 thousand.
The following table summarizes activity, pricing and other information for the Company’s DSU’s for the year
ended December 31, 2020:
WeightedAverage
Grant Date
Fair Value

Number of
Shares

DSU’s outstanding at the beginning of the year
DSU’s granted
DSU’s issued
DSU’s forfeited/cancelled
DSU’s outstanding at the end of the year

54,500
15,000
—
(15,000)
54,500

$

6.61
5.34
—
5.34
6.61

$

As of December 31, 2020, there was approximately $43 thousand of total unrecognized compensation cost related
to the DSU compensation arrangements granted under the plan. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted
average period of 1.2 years.
The following table summarizes activity, pricing and other information for the Company’s RSU’s for the ended
December 31, 2020:
WeightedAverage
Grant Date
Fair Value

Number of
Shares

RSU’s outstanding at beginning of the year
RSU’s granted
RSU’s issued
RSU’s forfeited/cancelled
RSU’s outstanding at end of the year

75,000
242,961
(8,334)
(42,406)
267,221

$

$

3.75
5.34
3.75
4.72
5.04

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the aggregate grant-date fair value of RSU’s granted was approximately
$1.3 million. As of December 31, 2020, there was approximately $904 thousand of total unrecognized compensation cost
related to the RSU compensation arrangements granted under the plan. This cost is expected to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 2.0 years.
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The following table summarizes activity, pricing and other information for the Company’s RSA’s for the year
ended December 31, 2020:
WeightedAverage
Grant Date
Fair Value

Number of
Shares

RSA’s outstanding at beginning of the year
RSA’s granted
RSA’s issued
RSA’s forfeited/cancelled
RSA’s outstanding at end of the year

35,069
—
—
(35,069)
—

$

$

3.57
—
—
3.57
—

As of December 31, 2020, there were no outstanding RSA’s as the shares were forfeited prior to the minimum
vesting requirement.
401(k) Plan
After meeting certain employment requirements, employees can participate in the Company’s 401(k) plan. Under
the 401(k) plan, employees may contribute up to 25% of their salaries, pursuant to certain restrictions. Effective January 1,
2020, the Company matches 50% of the first 6% of employee contributions. Additional contributions may be made at the
discretion of the board of directors. During the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded
compensation expense of approximately $1.0 million and $751 thousand for basic matching contributions, respectively.
There were no discretionary matching contributions recorded during the years ended December 31, 2020 or 2019.

Note 15.—Related Party Transactions
In May 2015, the Company issued the 2015 Convertible Notes to purchasers, some of which are related parties.
See Note 5.—Debt—Convertible Notes.

Note 16.—Subsequent Events
Subsequent events have been evaluated through the date of this filing.
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Exhibit 4.5
Description of Impac Mortgage’s (the “Company”) Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934
The following description summarizes the material terms and provisions of the common stock and the
preferred stock purchase rights that are registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. This description is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the provisions of our (the
“Corporation’s”) Articles of Incorporation, as amended (“Charter”), and Bylaws, as amended, (“bylaws”), each of
which is incorporated herein by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit is a
part, and the applicable provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law.
Authorized Capitalization
We have 210,000,000 shares of capital stock authorized under our Charter, consisting of 200,000,000 shares
of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, of which 2,500,000 have been
designated as Series A-1 junior participating preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Series A-1 Preferred Stock”),
2,000,000 have been designated as Series B 9.375% redeemable preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Series B
Preferred Stock”), and 5,500,000 have been designated as Series C 9.125% redeemable preferred stock, par value
$0.01 per share (“Series C Preferred Stock”).
Common Stock
Subject to the preferential rights of any other class or series of stock, including the preferred stock, and to the
provisions of the Charter regarding the restrictions on transfer of stock, holders of shares of our common stock are
entitled to receive dividends on such stock when, as and if authorized by our Board of Directors out of funds legally
available therefor and declared by us and to share ratably in the assets of the Company legally available for distribution
to our common stockholders in the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up after payment of or adequate
provision for all known debts and liabilities of the Company, including the preferential rights on dissolution of any
class or classes of preferred stock, including the Preferred Stock.
Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote, subject to the provisions of our Charter regarding
restrictions on transfer of stock, and will be fully paid and nonassessable upon issuance. Shares of common stock have
no preference, conversion, exchange, redemption, appraisal, sinking fund, preemptive or cumulative voting rights. Our
authorized stock may be increased and altered from time to time in the manner prescribed by Maryland law upon the
affirmative vote of stockholders entitled to cast at least a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Our
Charter authorizes our Board to reclassify any unissued shares of common stock in one or more classes or series of
stock, including preferred stock.
Preferred Stock
Each of the Series B Preferred Stock and the Series C Preferred Stock was governed by Articles
Supplementary, filed with and accepted for record by the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland
(the “SDAT”) on May 26, 2004 and November 18, 2004, respectively (the “Original Articles”). In 2009 our Board of
Directors, and the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock and the Series C Preferred Stock (voting together as a single
class) approved amendments to each of the Original Articles. Articles of Amendment were filed with and accepted for
record by the SDAT on June 29, 2009, for each series (the “Amended Articles”).
Under both the Original Articles and the Amended Articles, upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation,
dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Company, the holders of shares of Series B Preferred Stock and Series C
Preferred Stock then outstanding are entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Company, legally available for
distribution to its stockholders, a liquidation preference of $25.00 per share, before any distribution of assets is made to
holders of common stock or any series of preferred stock of the Company that ranks junior to the Series B Preferred
Stock and Series C Preferred Stock. The Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock have no stated maturity
and are not subject to any sinking fund or mandatory redemption. Neither the Series B Preferred Stock nor the Series C
Preferred Stock is convertible into or exchangeable for any property or securities of the Company and neither of such
series is registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Under the Original Articles, holders of Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock would have the
right to receive, when and as authorized by the Board of Directors, cumulative preferential cash dividends at a rate of
9.375% or 9.125%, respectively, of the $25.00 liquidation preference per annum payable on a quarterly basis, for all
past dividend periods and the then-current dividend period, before any dividends may be paid or other distributions
made on the Common Stock or other securities raking junior to or on parity with the Series B Preferred Stock and the
Series C Preferred Stock, including repurchases of Common Stock or other junior or parity securities (except by
conversion or exchange for capital stock ranking junior to the Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock).
In addition, under the Original Articles, whenever dividends are in arrears for six or more quarters, whether or not
consecutive, the holders of Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock will be entitled to call a special
meeting for the election of two additional directors, and holders of Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred
Stock would have the right to approve the issuance of any class or series of our preferred stock ranking senior to the
Series B Preferred Stock, amendments of any provisions of our Charter that would materially and adversely affect the
Series B Preferred Stock or Series C Preferred Stock, or a merger or similar transaction unless the Series B Preferred
Stock or Series C Preferred Stock remain outstanding and materially unchanged.
Under the Amended Articles, dividends on the Series B Preferred Stock and the Series C Preferred Stock are
noncumulative and the terms of the Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock allow us to declare and pay
dividends on shares of common stock or shares of any other class or series of our capital stock, with certain
exceptions, or redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire shares of any class or series of our capital stock, including
common stock and any other series of preferred stock, without paying or setting apart for payment any dividends on
shares of either series of preferred stock. Under the Amended Articles, holders of the Series B Preferred Stock and
Series C Preferred Stock do not have any voting rights, except for the right to approve certain amendments to our
Charter and any share exchange, reclassification or merger, unless the rights of the outstanding Series B Preferred
Stock and Series C Preferred Stock would be materially unchanged.
After the Amended Articles were declared to be effective, holders of Series B Preferred Stock and Series C
Preferred Stock filed a class action lawsuit in the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, Maryland seeking a determination
that the Amended Articles were not effective. The plaintiffs asserted several claims, including that the Original
Articles required separate voting by each series to approve the Amended Articles; they argued that, although twothirds of the combined outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock had approved the
Amended Articles, including more than two-thirds of the Series C Preferred Stock, fewer than two-thirds of the Series
B Preferred Stock had approved the Amended Articles, thereby allegedly invalidating the Amended Articles for the
Series B Preferred Stock.
The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of plaintiffs and against the Company on the claim that the
Series B Preferred Stock Amended Articles were invalid because fewer than two-thirds of the outstanding share of
Series B Preferred Stock had approved the amendments, and granted summary judgment in favor of the Company and
against the plaintiffs on all other claims. As such, the trial court declared that the Series B Preferred Stock Amended
Articles were not effective, leaving the Series B Preferred Stock Original Articles in continuous effect. The plaintiffs
and the Company cross-appealed the summary judgment rulings against them to the Maryland Court of Special
Appeals.
On April 1, 2020, the Maryland Court of Special Appeals issued an opinion affirming the judgment in favor
of plaintiffs on the Series B Preferred Stock voting rights, holding that the voting rights provision required two-third’s
consent of the outstanding shares of the Series B Preferred Stock for valid amendment of the Series B Preferred Stock
Amended Articles. The court based its opinion on different grounds that were inconsistent with the trial court’s
findings, but reached the same result. The Court otherwise affirmed judgment in favor of the Company on all other
claims, thereby affirming the validity of the Series C Preferred Stock Amended Articles.
The Company filed a petition for a writ of certiorari to the Maryland Court of Appeals appealing both the
rulings by the trial court and the Court of Special Appeals, which the Court of Appeals granted on July 13, 2020,
agreeing to hear the Company’s appeal. The plaintiffs did not seek review of the judgment of the Court of Special
Appeals on the remaining claims. The Court of Appeals heard oral arguments on December 4, 2020. The parties are
awaiting a decision as of the date of the filing of the Form 10-K to which this exhibit is a part.
If the Court of Appeals does not reverse the lower court rulings with respect to the Series B Preferred Stock

Amended Articles, the Series B Preferred Stock will remain governed by the Original Articles. This would mean,
among other things, that (a) holders would have the right to receive, when and as authorized by the Board of Directors,
or to have declared and set apart for payment, cumulative preferential cash dividends at a rate of 9.375% of the $25.00
liquidation preference per annum (equivalent to a fixed annual amount of $2.34375 per share) payable on a quarterly
basis, for all past dividend periods and the then-current dividend period, before any dividends may be paid on junior or
parity securities, including the Common Stock and any class or series of our preferred stock ranking on parity with the
Series B Preferred Stock, (b) whenever dividends are in arrears for six or more quarters, whether or not consecutive,
the holders of Series B Preferred Stock will be entitled to call a special meeting for the election of two additional
directors (which the trial court ordered but stayed pending the outcome of the appeal), and (c) holders of Series B
Preferred Stock would have the right to approve the issuance of any class or series of our preferred stock ranking
senior to the Series B Preferred Stock, amendments of any provisions of our Charter that would materially and
adversely affect the Series B Preferred Stock, or a merger or similar transaction unless the Series B Preferred Stock
remain outstanding and materially unchanged.
If the Court of Appeals reverses the judgments of both the Court of Special Appeals and the trial court, the
matter will be remanded to the trial court for further proceedings consistent with the decision. If the Court of Appeals
reverses only the judgment of the Court of Special Appeals and declines to reach a decision as to the trial court’s
judgment, the matter will be remanded to the Court of Special Appeals for further proceedings consistent with the
decision, likely including further review of the trial court’s decision.
Removal of Directors
Our Charter provides that a director may be removed from the Board of Directors only by the affirmative vote
of at least two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast in the election of directors.
Nominations and Stockholder Business.
Our Bylaws provide that nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors and the proposal of
business to be considered by the stockholders may be made at an annual meeting of stockholders (i) pursuant to our
notice of meeting, (ii) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors or (iii) by any stockholder who was a stockholder
of record at the time of giving of notice, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who complied with the notice
procedures set forth in the Bylaws.
For nominations or other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder, the
stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the secretary.
To be timely, a stockholder’s notice shall be delivered to the secretary at the principal executive offices of the
Corporation not less than 60 days nor more than 90 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual
meeting; provided, however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting is advanced by more than 30 days or
delayed by more than 60 days from such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so delivered
not earlier than the 90th day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the
60th day prior to such annual meeting or the tenth day following the day on which public announcement of the date of
such meeting is first made. Such stockholder’s notice shall set forth (i) as to each person whom the stockholder
proposes to nominate for election or reelection as a director all information relating to such person that is required to
be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for election of directors, or is otherwise required, in each case pursuant to
Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act (including such person’s written consent to being named in the proxy
statement as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected); (ii) as to any other business that the stockholder
proposes to bring before the meeting, a brief description of the business desired to be brought before the meeting, the
reasons for conducting such business at the meeting and any material interest in such business of such stockholder and
of the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made; and (iii) as to the stockholder giving the notice
and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination or proposal is made, (x) the name and address of such
stockholder, as they appear on our books, and of such beneficial owner and (y) the number of shares of each class of
stock of ours which are owned beneficially and of record by such stockholder and such beneficial owner.
Notwithstanding anything set forth above to the contrary, in the event that the number of directors to be

elected to the Board of Directors is increased and there is no public announcement naming all of the nominees for
director or specifying the size of the increased Board of Directors made by us at least 70 days prior to the first
anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting, a stockholder’s notice required by this Section 12(a) shall also be
considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for any new positions created by such increase, if it shall be
delivered to the secretary at our principal executive offices not later than the close of business on the tenth day
following the day on which such public announcement is first made by us.
Special Meetings of Stockholders
The president, chief executive officer; two-thirds (2/3) of the entire Board of Directors or a majority of the
Unaffiliated Directors (as defined in the Bylaws) may call special meetings of the stockholders. Special meetings of
stockholders may also be called by the secretary of the Corporation upon the written request of the holders of shares
entitled to cast not less than a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast at such meeting. Such request shall state the
purpose of such meeting and the matters proposed to be acted on at such meeting and must otherwise comply with the
provisions of the Bylaws.
Extraordinary Transactions
Under Maryland law, a Maryland corporation generally cannot dissolve, amend its charter, merge, sell all or
substantially all of its assets, convert, engage in a share exchange or engage in similar transactions outside the ordinary
course of business, unless approved by the affirmative vote of stockholders holding at least two thirds of the shares
entitled to vote on the matter. However, a Maryland corporation may provide in its charter for approval of these
matters by a lesser percentage, but not less than a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Our
Charter provides that these matters (except for amendments to the Charter provision relating to the removal of
directors, which must be approved by the affirmative vote of stockholders holding at least two-thirds of the shares
entitled to vote on the matter) may be approved by a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter.
Tax Benefits Preservation Rights Agreement
On October 23, 2019, the Board of the Company authorized and declared a dividend distribution of one right
(a “Right”) for each outstanding share of common stock of the Company to stockholders of record as of the close of
business on November 5, 2019 (the “Record Date”). Each Right entitles the registered holder to purchase from the
Company one one-thousandth of a share of Series A-1 Preferred Stock, of the Company at an exercise price of $45.00
per one one-thousandth of a Preferred Share, subject to adjustment (the “Purchase Price”). The complete terms of the
Rights are set forth in a Tax Benefits Preservation Rights Agreement, dated as of October 23, 2019, between American
Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC (the “Rights Agent”) and the Company (the “Rights Agreement”). The Final
Expiration Date (as defined in the Rights Agreement) is October 22, 2022.
By adopting the Rights Agreement, the Board is helping to preserve the value of certain deferred tax benefits,
including those generated by net operating losses (collectively, the “Tax Benefits”). In general, the Company may
“carry forward” net operating losses in certain circumstances to offset current and future taxable income, which will
reduce federal and state income tax liability, subject to certain requirements and restrictions. The Rights Agreement
also has certain ancillary anti-takeover effects.
The Tax Benefits can be valuable to the Company. However, the Company’s ability to use these Tax Benefits
would be substantially limited and impaired if it were to experience an “ownership change” for purposes of Section
382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and the Treasury Regulations promulgated
thereunder. Generally, the Company will experience an “ownership change” if the percentage of the shares of common
stock owned by one or more “five-percent shareholders” increases by more than 50 percentage points over the lowest
percentage of shares of common stock owned by such stockholder at any time during the prior three year on a rolling
basis. The Rights Agreement reduces the likelihood that changes in the Company’s investor base have the unintended
effect of limiting the Company’s use of its Tax Benefits. As such, the Rights Agreement has a 4.99% “trigger”
threshold that is intended to act as a deterrent to any person or entity seeking to acquire 4.99% or more of the
outstanding common stock without the prior approval of the Board. This would protect the Tax Benefits because
changes in ownership by a person owning less than 4.99% of the Company’s stock are not included in the calculation
of “ownership change” for purposes of Section 382 of the Code. The Board has established

procedures to consider requests to exempt certain acquisitions of the Company’s securities from the Rights Agreement
if the Board determines that doing so would not limit or impair the availability of the Tax Benefits or is otherwise in
the best interests of the Company.
Issuance and Transfer of Rights; Rights Certificates
The Board declared a dividend of one Right for each outstanding share of common stock. Until the
Distribution Date (as defined below):
●

the Rights will be evidenced by and trade with the certificates for shares of common stock (or, with
respect to any uncertificated shares of common stock registered in book entry form, by notation in
book entry), and no separate rights certificates will be distributed;

●

new common stock certificates issued after the Record Date will contain a legend incorporating the
Rights Agreement by reference (for uncertificated shares of common stock registered in book entry
form, this legend will be contained in a notation in book entry); and

●

the surrender for transfer of any certificates for shares of common stock (or the surrender for transfer
of any uncertificated common stock registered in book entry form) will also constitute the transfer of
the Rights associated with such common stock.

Distribution Date; Separation of Rights
Subject to certain exceptions specified in the Rights Agreement, the Rights will separate from the common
stock and become separately tradable and exercisable only upon the earlier of:
(i) ten business days (or such later day as the Board may determine) following a
public announcement that a person or group of affiliated or associated persons
(collectively, an “Acquiring Person”) has acquired beneficial ownership of 4.99%
or more of the outstanding common stock; or (ii) ten business days (or such later
day as the Board may determine) following the announcement of a tender offer or
exchange offer that would result in a person or group becoming an Acquiring
Person.
The date on which the Rights separate from the common stock and become exercisable is referred to as the
“Distribution Date.” As soon as practicable after the Distribution Date, the Company will mail Rights certificates to
the Company’s stockholders as of the close of business on the Distribution Date and the Rights will become
transferable apart from the common stock. Thereafter, such Rights certificates alone will represent the Rights.
The Rights Agreement includes a procedure whereby the Board will consider requests to exempt certain
acquisitions of common stock from the applicable ownership trigger if the Board determines that the requested
acquisition will not adversely impact in any material respect the time period in which the Company could use the Tax
Benefits or limit or impair the availability to the Company of the Tax Benefits, or is in the best interests of the
Company despite the fact it may adversely impact in a material respect the time period in which the Company could
use the Tax Benefits or limit or impair the availability of the Tax Benefits.
Until a Right is exercised, the holder of such Right will have no rights as a stockholder of the Company
(beyond those possessed as an existing stockholder), including, without limitation, the right to vote or to receive
dividends with respect to the Right.
The Rights Agreement provides that any person or entity who otherwise would be an Acquiring Person on the
date the Rights Agreement was adopted (each, an “Existing Holder”) will not be deemed to be an “Acquiring Person”
for purposes of the Rights Agreement unless such Existing Holder increases its beneficial ownership over such
Existing Holder’s lowest percentage of ownership of the common stock after the adoption of the Rights Agreement,
subject to specified exceptions.

Preferred Shares Purchasable Upon Exercise of Right
After the Distribution Date, each Right will entitle the holder to purchase, for $45.00 (the “Purchase Price”),
one one-thousandth of a Preferred Share having economic and other terms similar to that of one share of common
stock. This portion of a Preferred Share is intended to give the stockholder approximately the same dividend, voting
and liquidation rights as would one share of common stock, and should approximate the value of one share of common
stock.
More specifically, each one one-thousandth of a Preferred Share, if issued, will:
●

not be redeemable;

●

entitle holders to quarterly dividend payments of $0.00001 per share, or an amount equal to the
dividend paid on one share of common stock, whichever is greater;

●

entitle holders upon liquidation either to receive $1.00 per share or an amount equal to the payment
made on one share of common stock, whichever is greater;

●

have the same voting power as one share of common stock; and

●

entitle holders to a per share payment equal to the payment made on one share of common stock if
the common stock is exchanged via merger, consolidation or a similar transaction.

“Flip-in” Rights
At any time after a Distribution Date has occurred, each holder of a Right, other than the Acquiring Person,
will thereafter have the right to receive, upon paying the Purchase Price and in lieu of a number of one onethousandths of a share of Preferred Stock, common stock (or, in certain circumstances, cash or other of our securities)
having a market value equal to two times the Purchase Price of the Right. However, the Rights are not exercisable
following the occurrence of the foregoing event until such time as the Rights are no longer redeemable by the
Company, as further described below. Following the occurrence of an event set forth above, all Rights that are or,
under certain circumstances specified in the Rights Agreement, were beneficially owned by an Acquiring Person or
certain of its transferees will be null and void.
“Flip-over” Rights
In the event any person or group becomes an Acquiring Person and the Company merges into or engages in
certain other business combinations with an Acquiring Person, or 50% or more of the Company’s consolidated assets
or earning power are sold to an Acquiring Person, each holder of a Right (other than void Rights owned by an
Acquiring Person) will thereafter have the right to receive, upon payment of the Purchase Price, common stock of the
acquiring company that at the time of such transaction will have a market value equal to two times the Purchase Price
of the Right.
Exchange of Rights
At any time after a person becomes an Acquiring Person, in lieu of allowing the “flip-in” to occur, the Board
may exchange the Rights (other than void Rights owned by an Acquiring Person), in whole or in part, at an exchange
ratio of one share of the common stock (or, under certain circumstances, cash, property or other securities of the
Company, including fractions of a share of preferred stock) per Right (subject to adjustment). Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Board may not conduct such an exchange at any time any person (other than the Company or certain
entities affiliated with the Company) together with such person’s affiliates or associates becomes the beneficial owner
of 50% or more of the common stock.
Redemption of Rights

At any time prior to a Distribution Date, the Board may redeem the Rights in whole, but not in part, at a price
of $0.001 per Right and on such terms and conditions as the Board may establish. Immediately upon the action of the
Board ordering redemption of the Rights, the right to exercise the Rights will terminate and the only right of the
holders of Rights will be to receive the redemption price. The redemption price will be adjusted if the Company
undertakes a stock dividend or a stock split.
Expiration Date of the Rights
The Rights will expire on the earliest of:
●

October 22, 2022, unless extended;

●

the time at which the Rights are redeemed or exchanged under the Rights Agreement;

●

the final adjournment of the Company’s 2020 annual meeting of stockholders if stockholders fail to
approve the Rights Agreement with a majority of the votes cast by holders of shares of common
stock at the 2020 annual meeting of stockholders;

●

the repeal of Section 382 or any successor statute, if the Board determines that the Plan is no longer
necessary for the preservation of Tax Benefits;

●

the beginning of a taxable year with respect to which the Board determines that no Tax Benefits may
be carried forward; or

●

such time when the Board determines that a limitation on the use of Tax Benefits under Section 382
would no longer be material to the Company.

Amendment of Rights
The terms of the Rights may be amended by a resolution of the Board without the consent of the holders of
the Rights prior to the Distribution Date. Thereafter, the terms of the Rights and the Rights Agreement may be
amended without the consent of the holders of Rights in order to (i) cure any ambiguities, (ii) shorten or lengthen any
time period pursuant to the Rights Agreement or (iii) make changes that do not adversely affect the interests of holders
of the Rights.
Anti-Dilution Provisions
The Board may adjust the Purchase Price, the number of shares of Preferred Stock issuable and the number of
outstanding Rights to prevent dilution that may occur from a stock dividend, a stock split or a reclassification of the
Preferred Stock or common stock. With certain exceptions, no adjustments to the Purchase Price will be made until the
cumulative adjustments amount to at least 1% of the Purchase Price. No fractional shares of Preferred Stock will be
issued and, in lieu thereof, an adjustment in cash will be made based on the current market price of the Preferred
Stock.
Terms of the Preferred Stock
In connection with the Rights Agreement, the Board designated 2,500,000 shares of the Preferred Stock, as
set forth in the Articles Supplementary for Series A-1 Junior Participating Preferred Stock (the “Articles
Supplementary”) filed with the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland on September 4, 2013.
Limitation of Liability
The Maryland General Corporation Law permits the Charter of a Maryland corporation to include a provision
limiting the liability of its directors and officers to the corporation and its stockholders for money damages, except to
the extent that (1) it is proved that the person actually received an improper benefit or profit in

money, property or services or (2) a judgment or other final adjudication is entered in a proceeding based on a finding
that the person’s action, or failure to act, was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty and was material to the
cause of action adjudicated in the proceeding. The Charter provides for elimination of the personal liability of our
directors and officers to us or our stockholders for money damages to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law,
as amended from time to time.
Maryland Business Combination Statute
The Maryland General Corporation Law establishes special requirements for certain “business combinations”
between a Maryland corporation and “interested stockholders” unless exemptions are applicable. “Business
combinations” include a merger, consolidation, share exchange or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset
transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities. An interested stockholder is any person who beneficially
owns 10% or more of the voting power of the outstanding voting stock or is an affiliate or associate of the corporation
who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date on which interested stockholder status is determined, was
the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of the then-outstanding voting stock. Among other things, the
law prohibits any business combination between us and an interested stockholder or an affiliate of an interested
stockholder for a period of five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder became an
interested stockholder unless the Board approved in advance the transaction in which the person became an interested
stockholder. The Board may provide that its approval is subject to compliance with any terms and conditions
determined by the Board.
The business combination statute requires payment of a fair price to stockholders to be determined as set forth
in the statute or a supermajority stockholder approval of any transactions between us and an interested stockholder
after the end of the five-year period. This approval means that the transaction must be recommended by the Board and
approved by at least:
●

80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding voting shares; and

●

66 2/3% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding voting shares other than shares
held by the interested stockholder with whom or with whose affiliate the business combination is to
be effected or held by an affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder.

The business combination statute restricts the ability of third parties who acquire, or seek to acquire, control
of us to complete mergers and other business combinations without the approval of the Board even if such a
transaction would be beneficial to stockholder.
The Board has exempted any business combination with any person from the business combination statute, so
long as the Board first approves such business combination.
Maryland Control Share Acquisition Statute
The Maryland General Corporation Law provides that “control shares” of a Maryland corporation acquired in
a “control share acquisition” have no voting rights except to the extent approved by 66 2/3% of the votes entitled to be
cast on the matter. The acquiring person, officers, and directors who are also employees are not entitled to vote on the
matter. “Control shares” are shares of stock that, taken together with all other shares of stock owned by the acquiring
person or in respect of which the acquiring person is entitled to exercise or direct the exercise of voting power (except
solely by virtue of a revocable proxy), would entitle the acquiring person to exercise voting power in electing directors
in one of the following ranges: 10% or more but less than 33 1/3%; 33 1/3% or more but less than 50%; or 50% or
more. Control shares do not include shares of stock that the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of
having previously obtained stockholder approval. A “control share acquisition” means the acquisition of control
shares, subject to certain exceptions.
A person who has made (or proposes to make) a control share acquisition and who satisfies certain conditions
(including agreeing to pay the expenses of the meeting) may compel the Board to call a special meeting of
stockholders to be held within 50 days of the demand to consider the voting rights of the shares. If such a person

makes no request for a meeting, we have the option to present the question at any stockholders’ meeting.
If voting rights are not approved at a meeting of stockholders or if the acquiring person does not deliver an
acquiring person statement as required by the statute, then we may redeem any or all of the control shares (except
those for which voting rights have previously been approved) for fair value. We will determine the fair value of the
shares, without regard to the absence of voting rights, as of the date of either:
●

the last control share acquisition by the acquiring person; or

●

any meeting where stockholders considered and did not approve voting rights of the control shares.

If voting rights for control shares are approved at a stockholders’ meeting and the acquiring person becomes
entitled to vote a majority of the shares of stock entitled to vote, all other stockholders may exercise appraisal rights.
This means that stockholders would be able to require us to redeem shares of our stock from them for fair value. For
this purpose, the fair value may not be less than the highest price per share paid by the acquiring person in the control
share acquisition. Furthermore, certain limitations otherwise applicable to the exercise of appraisal rights would not
apply in the context of a control share acquisition.
The control share acquisition statute would not apply to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share
exchange if we were a party to the transaction or acquisitions of shares approved or exempted by the Charter or the
Bylaws.
The Bylaws contain a provision exempting from the control share acquisition statute any and all acquisitions
by any person of shares of our stock. There can be no assurance that the Board will not amend or eliminate this
provision in the future. The control share acquisition statute could have the effect of discouraging offers to acquire us
and of increasing the difficulty of consummating any such offers, even if our acquisition would be in our stockholders’
best interests.

Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT
Name of Subsidiary
Impac Funding Corporation

State of Incorporation
California

IMH Assets Corp.

California

Copperfield Capital Corporation.

Delaware

Integrated Real Estate Service Corporation (1)

Maryland

(1) IRES owns 100% of Impac Mortgage Corp., a California corporation formerly known as Excel Mortgage
Servicing, Inc.

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-169316, 333-185195,
333-193489, 333-213037, 333-220393, 333-227015, 333-235404, and 333-239842) and on Form S-3 (No. 333-235405) of
Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (the Company) of our reports dated March 12, 2021 with respect to the consolidated
balances sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, included in this Annual
Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2020.
/s/ BAKER TILLY US, LLP
Irvine, California
March 12, 2021

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, George A. Mangiaracina, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;

d.

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ GEORGE A. MANGIARACINA
George A. Mangiaracina
Chief Executive Officer
March 12, 2021

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Paul Licon, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;

d.

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ PAUL LICON
Paul Licon
Chief Financial Officer
March 12, 2021

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the annual report of Impac Mortgage Holdings, Inc. (the Company) on Form 10-K for the
period ending December 31, 2020 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the Report),
each of the undersigned, in the capacities and on the dates indicated below, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ GEORGE A. MANGIARACINA
George A. Mangiaracina
Chief Executive Officer
March 12, 2021
/s/ PAUL LICON
Paul Licon
Chief Financial Officer
March 12, 2021

